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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

We are an international biopharmaceutical comphayits focused in the field of regenerative medicWe are committed to the discovery and
development of best-in-class therapies designedtend and enhance the quality of human life ané lestablished a portfolio of therapeutic
product development programs to address signifisantet medical needs in multiple disease areasaM/developing our lead platform
product, MultiSten®? , a patented and proprietarggiheic stem cell product that has been evaluateda completed Phase | clinical trials
and is currently being evaluated in two ongoinggdeha clinical trials. Our current clinical develognt programs are focused on treating
inflammatory & immune disorders, neurological cdiwiis, cardiovascular disease, and other conditibhese represent major areas of clinical
need, as well as substantial commercial opporesiti

We believe MultiStem represents a breakthroughénfield of regenerative medicine and stem cellapg and could be used to treat a range of
disease indications. MultiStem is a patented ang@netary product that has demonstrated the alidignhance tissue repair and healing in
multiple ways, including reducing inflammatory dageaprotecting tissue that is at risk following &car ischemic injury, and promoting
formation of new blood vessels in regions of ischeimiury. The MultiStem cells appear to be respeaso their environment, homing to sites
of injury and active disease response and produmiogins that may provide benefit in acute or aica@onditions. In contrast to traditional
pharmaceutical products or biologics that are clgpabacting through a single biological mechanihaction, the MultiStem product can
enhance healing and tissue repair through muldigitnct mechanisms in parallel, by producing nplétitherapeutic factors and dynamically
responding to the needs of the body — resultiregnmore effective therapeutic response.

The MultiStem product is unique because, unlikeeptdpproaches to regenerative medicine, it candraufactured on a large scale, may be
administered in an “off-the-shelf” manner with nmivdl processing, can augment healing in multiplesr@ayd in ways that other cell therapy
approaches do not appear to be capable of). Additig the MultiStem product has demonstrated sistent safety profile in both preclinical
and clinical studies. Like drugs and biologics, piheduct is cleared from the body over time, eniranproduct safety relative to other types of
stem cell therapy. Even so, the therapeutic effefctieatment with MultiStem cells appear to beadhle.

We believe the therapeutic and commercial potefardMultiStem is very broad, applying to many aged significant unmet medical need. '
are pursuing opportunities in several potentialtivhillion dollar markets. While traditional pharmeuticals or biologic therapies typically may
be used to treat only a single disease or narrdedined set of related conditions, MultiStem appearhave far broader potential and could be
developed in different concentrations and witheti#ht delivery modalities to efficiently treat age of disease indications.

Working with an international network of leading@stigators and prominent research and clinicditin®ns, we have already evaluated the
use of MultiStem as a potential treatment for gyeaof disease indications. Working collaborativelyd through our own internal efforts, we
have explored the potential for MultiStem to beduseacute and chronic forms of cardiovascularaise neurological conditions,
inflammatory & immune disease, certain pulmonargditions, and other areas.

To date, we have successfully advanced MultiStesdymt candidates into five clinical stage prograeagh of which addresses a significant
area of medical need, and represents a large caciaherarket opportunity. MultiStem has been evaddah two completed clinical trials, one
exploring the potential to treat patients that hawffered a heart attack and the other evaluakiagbtential to provide supportive care and
reduce graft versus host disease, or GvHD, asagadther complications in patients being treatedefiakemia or related conditions. MultiStem
is also being evaluated in two additional ongoihigical programs in the inflammatory & immune diseaand neurological areas. In one study,
which is being conducted with our partner Pfizear. Jlor Pfizer, MultiStem is being administered #i@nts with inflammatory bowel disease
IBD. In another ongoing study, we are evaluatirgbtential to treat patients that have sufferadaiegical damage from a stroke. In addit

a leading clinical center in Europe, which is es@search collaborator, has recently receivedaattion to conduct an initial clinical trial
evaluating administration of MultiStem in patietitiat have received a solid organ transplant.
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In addition to our MultiStem programs, we have aapbur pharmaceutical discovery capabilities #ntify and develop novel pharmaceutic
to treat obesity, related metabolic conditions saghliabetes, and certain neurological indicatiand, small molecule compounds that may be
used to enhance the production or therapeutictéfiaess of MultiStem or related products, increseproduct’s biological potency for
certain indications and lead to second or thirdegation products in the regenerative medicine area.

We were incorporated in Delaware on October 2451@%h June 8, 2007, we merged with a wholly owndzsgliary of BTHC VI, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, and, on August 31, 2007, BNHAdnc. changed its name to Athersys, Inc.

Recent Developments

In March 2012, we completed a private placemeratrfiiing, generating net proceeds of approximatel§ 88llion through the issuance of
4,347,827 shares of common stock and five-yearamgsrto purchase 4,347,827 shares of common stitkclaw exercise price of $2.07 per
share. The securities were sold in multiples akedf combination of one share of common stock amaiant to purchase one share of
common stock at an offering price of $2.07 perdixembination.

In November 2011, we entered into a purchase agreewith Aspire Capital Fund, LLC, or Aspire Capitahich provides that Aspire Capital
is committed to purchase up to an aggregate o0%2@lion of shares of our common stock over a tyear term, subject to our election to sell
any such shares, and the terms and conditionsmkttherein. As part of the agreement, Aspire Gapnade an initial investment of $1.0
million in us through the purchase of 666,667 shafeour common stock at $1.50 per share, andwed&l66,667 additional shares as
compensation for its commitment. In 2012, we solddditional 200,000 shares to Aspire Capital advarage price of $1.85 per share.

Business Strategy

Our principal business objective is to discovexealep and commercialize novel therapeutic prodfaritslisease indications that represent
significant areas of clinical need and commercggartunity. The key elements of our strategy ardireed below.

« Efficiently conduct clinical development to estsblclinical proof of concept and biological activivith our lead produc
candidatesMultiStem represents a novel therapeutic modatityttie treatment of cardiovascular disease, negicdbconditions,
and inflammatory & immune system disorders, as a®lin other areas. MultiStem may be administdkeddther biologics,
intravenously, via catheter, or by intravenousdtig. The cells appear to be responsive to theiirenment, homing to sites of
injury and active disease response and produciotgips that may provide benefit in acute or chraminditions. Additionally,
MultiStem cell therapy may deliver therapeutic Hférterough multiple mechanisms of action, incluglireducing inflammatory
damage, protecting tissue that is at risk followaagite or ischemic injury, and promoting formatadmew blood vessels in regions
of ischemic injury. We are conducting clinical demment in a number of clinical studies with theeimt to establish proof of
concept and/or proof of biological activity in amber of important disease areas where the celpies would be expected to have
benefit — inflammatory & immune system dysfunctiomsurological conditions and cardiovascular dise@sur focus is on
conducting well-designed studies early in the chihdevelopment process to establish a robust fatiordfor subsequent
development, partnership and expansion into comghéany areas. Further, the quality of our reguiasabmissions and our
transparency with the U.S. Food and Drug Adminiiira or FDA, have resulted in a successful reguiapartnership that has
helped to advance our programs efficien

» Advance the development of the MultiStem therapeutdality and supporting capabilitieA key aspect of the MultiStem cells is
their substantial expansion capaatyvivorelative to other cell types. This enables largdesproduction of the MultiStem
products, which drives product consistency, spatjfiand cost of goods advantages over other lcetbpies. We plan to build on
this intrinsic biological advantage by further @pizing our current production approaches, furtheratoping new manufacturing
approaches including our bioreactor platform, aptineizing the plant to bedside supply chain to supfate stage development ¢
commercialization. Additionally, we will continue tefine our understanding of our producstivities and mechanisms of actiol
enable optimization of administration and dosing tmprepare the foundation for product enhancesnamtl next generation
opportunities
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« Enter into licensing or product ~development arrangements in certain areas, whit-licensing opportunities in n«-core areas
In addition to our internal development efforts,ieaportant part of our product development stratisgp work with collaborators
and partners to accelerate product developmenicesdur development costs, and broaden our comatieetion capabilities. We
have entered into licensing and productexelopment arrangements with qualified commepaatners to achieve these objecti
We anticipate that this strategy will help us te@lep a portfolio of high quality product developm@pportunities, enhance our
clinical development and commercialization capébsi and increase our ability to generate valamfour proprietary technologi
Over the past decade, we have entered into teafmbteensing arrangements and established produotreercialization and co-
development partnerships with companies such asR#ngiotech Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Angiotd&tistol-Myers Squibb,
Johnson & Johnson Research Development Institutiplmson & Johnson, Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, Indyyeth, and RTI
Biologics, Inc., or RTI. These partnerships gereratenue and provide capital that allows us t@ade certain programs further
development

» Efficiently explore new high potential therapewjuplications, leveraging thir-party research collaborations and our results from
related areasOur product candidates have shown promise in nieltisease areas, including in treating inflamma&immune
disorders, neurological conditions, cardiovascdlaease, and other areas. We are committed toraxplootential clinical
indications where our therapies may achieve bestass profile, and where we can address signifisamet medical needs. In
order to achieve this goal, over the past decadehave established collaborative research reldtipasith investigators from
many leading research and clinical institution®asithe United States and Europe, including theetded Clinic, University of
Minnesota, the Medical College of Georgia, the @nsity of Oregon Health Sciences Center, the Usityenof Texas Health
Science Center at Houston, and the Katholieke Usitegt Leuven, or KUL, and we have studied Mukitin a range of preclinic
models that reflect various types of human diseasejury in the cardiovascular, neurological, aminunological areas. These
collaborative relationships have enabled us to effettively explore where MultiStem may have tipenatic relevance, and how it
may be utilized to advance treatment over currbmical care. Additionally, we have shown that wandeverage clinical safety d:
and preclinical results from some programs to stpgurelerated clinical development efforts in otlweas, saving substantial
development time and resources compared to traditidrug development where generally each progsaseparately develope

» Continue to expand our intellectual property politioOur intellectual property is important to our bueses and we take significant
steps to protect its value. We have ongoing rebeamd development efforts, both through internéivaies and through
collaborative research activities with others, vahéém to develop new intellectual property and émais to file patent applications
that cover new applications of our existing teclgas or product candidates, including MultiSterd ather opportunities

Our Current Programs

By applying our proprietary cell therapy platformultiStem, we have established therapeutic prodagtlopment programs treating
inflammatory & immune disorders, neurological cditiis, cardiovascular disease, and other conditiboglate, we have advanced five
programs to the clinical development stage, incigdhe following:

* Inflammatory Bowel DiseaseMultiStem is being evaluated in an ongoing PHasénical study involving administration of
MultiStem to patients suffering from ulcerativeitis| the most common form of IBD. This study isr@mpconducted with our
partner, Pfizer. This trial began enrolling patgeim February 2011 and is expected to enroll apprately 130 patients. Enroliment
of this trial is expected to be completed late 012
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* Ischemic Stroke We recently initiated a Phase 1l clinical studyetvaluate the administration of MultiStem to patisethat
have suffered an ischemic stroke, an area of stgmif unmet clinical need. In preclinical studi@administration of a single dose of
MultiStem, even several days after a stroke, redilt significant and durable improvements. We eithluate the potential clinical
benefits of MultiStem in this ongoing double blindiacebo controlled trial being conducted at legditrtoke centers across the
United States. The study is expected to includea@mately 140 patients, and patient enrollment imégated late in 2011 and is
ongoing.

» Acute Myocardial Infarction We have evaluated the administration of MultiSiera Phase | clinical study to patients that
have suffered an acute myocardial infarction, orlAdore commonly referred to as a heart attacklulg 2010, we announced
preliminary results for this study, demonstratinigneorable safety profile and encouraging signsrmgfrovement in heart function
among patients that exhibited severely compromisedt function prior to treatment and who receitredtment after experiencing
a heart attack, and this study has been compléteekyear follow-up data suggested that the beabfierved was sustained over
time. We are currently planning for Phase I, whiets been discussed with the FDA. In light of #eent termination of our licen
and collaboration agreement with Angiotech lat20d 1, we are reviewing the study design, objectares expected timelines to
streamline the study where possible and to enqutimal alignment with our ongoing clinical developnt, business development
and financial objectives.

» Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant / GvHVe have completed a Phase | clinical study ofati@inistration of MultiSter
to patients suffering from leukemia or certain otbl®od-borne cancers in which patients undergo radiatienaipy and then recei
a hematopoietic stem cell, or HSC, transplant. Saatlents are at risk for serious complicationsluding GvHD, an imbalance of
immune system function caused by transplanted inenwetls that attack various tissues and organseipéatient. In 2011 and in
February 2012, we released preliminary data froenstiady, which demonstrated the safety of MultiSterttis indication and
suggested that MultiStem may have a beneficiateffereducing incidence and severity of GVHD, adlas other benefits. This
program has been assigned orphan drug designationtfie FDA. We intend to meet with the FDA in #pring of 2012 to discuss
potential options for additional clinical developmén this area.

We are also collaborating with a leading clinicahtzr in Europe that has recently obtained authtioz to initiate an institutional sponsored
clinical trial involving administration of MultiSta to liver transplant patients.

In addition to our current and anticipated clinidavelopment activities, we are engaged in prezdirdevelopment and evaluation of
MultiStem in other disease indications in the cavdscular, neurological, inflammatory & immune dier areas. We conduct such work both
through our own internal research efforts, andugtoa broad network of collaborations we have distad with investigators at leading
research institutions across the United Statesragdrope.

We are also working with our collaborator, RTIdevelop products for certain orthopedic applicationthe bone graft substitutes market
using our stem cell technologies.

We are also engaged in the development of novell smadecule therapies to treat obesity and otherdatons. Currently, we are focused on
development of potent, highly selective compoutds &ct through stimulation of a specific recejiathe brain that controls appetite, the
5HT2c serotonin receptor. We are conducting predirevaluation of novel compounds that we havestiped that exhibit outstanding
receptor selectivity and are working towards tHec®n of a clinical development candidate fosthrogram.

Regenerative Medicine Progran
MultiStem— A Novel Therapeutic Modality

We are developing a proprietary non-embryonic,galeeic stem cell product candidate, MultiStem, tiratelieve has potential utility for
treating a broad range of diseases and could halespread application in the field of clinical regeative medicine. Unlike traditional bone
marrow transplants or other stem cell therapiedtiBtiem may be manufactured on a large scale andomadministered without tissue
matching or the need for immune suppression, apawtp type O blood. Potential applications of N&tktm include the treatment of
cardiovascular disease, neurological disease oryignd conditions involving the immune system|uding autoimmune disease and other
conditions. We believe that MultiStem represerggaificant advancement in the field of stem dedirapy and could have broad clinical
application. We currently have open Investigatiddel Drug applications, or INDs, for the study ofiltiStem in distinct clinical indications,
and a collaborating institution recently obtainetharization in Europe to initiate a clinical pragn through an investigator sponsored clinical
trial application.
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MultiStem is a patented biologic product that iswfactured from human stem cells obtained fromtdaluhe marrow. The product consists of
a special class of human stem cells that haveltitiydo express a range of therapeutically retgvaroteins and other factors, as well as form
multiple cell types. Factors expressed by MultiSteawe the potential to deliver a therapeutic bemefeveral ways, such as the reduction of
inflammation, regulation of immune system functipmtection of damaged or injured tissue, the fdiromeof new blood vessels in regions of
ischemic injury and augmenting tissue repair aralihg in other ways. Like drugs, these cells magtoeed for an extended period of time (in
frozen form) and used off-the-shelf. Following adisiration, the cells have been shown to expredsptautherapeutically relevant proteins
and are subsequently cleared from the body ovex.tim

The therapeutic benefit of bone marrow transpl@médtas been recognized for decades, and its alinge has grown since Congress passed
the National Organ Transplant Act in 1984 and tlaidhal Marrow Donor Registry was established iBAHowever, widespread bone
marrow or stem cell transplantation has yet to bexa reality. Some of the limitations that havevpreed broader clinical application of bone
marrow or stem cell transplantation include theunegnent for tissue matching between donor angieai, the typical need for one donor for
each patient (a reflection of the inability to ergacells in a controlled and reproducible manrfegfjuent use of immune suppressive drugs to
avoid rejection or immune system complications,itiability to efficiently produce significant quati¢s of stem cells and a range of potential
safety issues.

A stem cell therapy that has the potential to asklthe challenges mentioned above could repredeetiithrough in the field of regenerative
medicine, since it could greatly expand the clihagaplication of stem cell therapy or other fornigegenerative medicine. In 2003, we
acquired technology originally developed at thevwdrsity of Minnesota related to a novel stem ¢bi, Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cell, or
MAPC, that may be isolated from adult bone marrewvall as other nonembryonic tissues. Over the gmstral years, we have further
developed this technology and the manufacturintpese cells for use in ongoing clinical trials. @urrent product platform is MultiStem.
During several years of preclinical work, MultiStéras demonstrated the potential to address matihedtindamental limitations observed
with traditional bone marrow or hematopoietic stegfl transplants.

We believe that MultiStem represents a potentiat-ieclass stem cell therapy because it exhibits eatheofollowing characteristics based
research and development to date:

» Broad plasticity and multiple potential mechanisoigiction.MultiStem cells have a demonstrated ability in asimodels to form
a range of cell types and also appear to be aldeliger therapeutic benefit through multiple maukes, such as producing factors
that protect tissues against damage and inflammai®well as enhancing or playing a direct roleeirascularization or tissue
regeneration

» Large scale productiorUnlike conventional stem cells, such as blood-foignor hematopoietic stem cells, MultiStem cells rhay
produced on a large scale, processed, and cryadigmniceserved, and then used clinically in a raid efficient manner. Material
obtained from a single donor may be used to protiucelreds of thousands or millions of individuates, representing a yield far
greater than other stem cells have been able iea

« “Off-the-shelf” utility. Unlike traditional bone marrow or hematopoieticsteell transplants that require extensive genetitching
between donor and recipient, MultiStem is admimédevithout tissue matching or the requiremenirfanune suppressive drugs.
MultiStem is administered as a cryogenically presdrallogeneic product, meaning that these cefisiat genetically matched
between donor and recipient. This feature, combimigld the ability to establish large MultiStem bankould make it practical for
clinicians to efficiently deliver stem cell therafiya large number of patien

» SafetyOther stem cell types, such as embryonic stem, azls pose serious safety risks, such as the famat ectopic tissue ¢
tumor-like growths. In contrast, MultiStem cellsvieaan outstanding safety profile that has been dedhpver several years of
preclinical study in a range of animal models yadety of investigators and that is supported imerging clinical date

7
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At each step of the MultiStem production procesfis@are analyzed according to pre-establishedr@ito ensure that a consistent, well
characterized product candidate is produced. @efi$rarvested from a pre-qualified donor and theuaeded to form a Master Cell Bank from
which we subsequently produce clinical grade malteln multiple animal models, MultiStem has bebown to be non-immunogenic, and is
administered without the genetic matching thaysdally required for conventional bone marrow tams cell transplantation.

MultiStem allows us to pursue multiple high valueranercial opportunities from a single product mati, because, based upon work that we
and independent collaborators have conducted begpdst several years, we believe that MultiStesitia potential to treat a range of distinct
disease indications, including ischemic injury aaddiovascular disease, certain neurological degasitoimmune disease, transplant support
(including in oncology patients and solid orgamsglant areas), and a range of orphan diseasetiadis. As a result, we believe we will be
able to leverage our foundation of safety and affjcdata to add clinical indications efficientlyadbling us to reduce development costs and
timelines substantially.

MultiStem for Treating Cardiovascular Disease, Inmabystem Disorders, and Neurological Conditi

Healthcare represents a significant part of theéaleconomy. In the United States, it represenpgdaximately 16% of all economic activity

of December 31, 2010, or about $2.34 trillion dallannually. However, the United States, along witiny other nations, is experiencing an
unprecedented demographic shift that is resulting $ignificantly expanded population of older induals. According to United States Census
data, in the next few years there will be a draciatirease in the number of individuals over the afy65, as this segment of the population
increases from 40.2 million individuals in 2010more than 72 million people in 2030, representingnarease of approximately 80%. The
aging of the population will create enormous firiahpressure on the healthcare system in the Udtates and other countries around the
world, resulting in significant clinical challengdsut also resulting in substantial commercial oppties.

Data from the National Center for Health Statisihews that as people get older, they are moreptibte to a variety of age related
conditions, including heart disease, stroke, cerfi@ims of cancer, diabetes, progressive neurcddglisorders, various chronic inflammatory
immune conditions, renal disease and a range efiths a consequence, as people get older thegd $aemore on healthcare — on average
they spend three to seven times more on healtlacemegally at age 65 than when they are young anithigeéccording to the Alliance for
Aging Research, 83% of healthcare spending is &sdcwith chronic conditions, and 62% of healtlecgpending is associated with multiple
chronic conditions. Traditional medical approachase failed to adequately address this problem.

Working with independent investigators at a nuntdfdeading institutions, such as the Cleveland i€ibniversity of Minnesota, the National
Institutes of Health, the Medical College of Gearghe University of Oregon Health Sciences Cesuter KUL, we have studied MultiStem ii
range of preclinical models that reflect variousety of human disease or injury in the cardiovascuokurological, and immunological areas
date, we have published research results illustgdtie potential benefits of MultiStem in a randéndications including myocardial infarctio
vascular disease, ischemic stroke, traumatic bngimny, or TBI, brain damage due to restricted ldlow in newborns, spinal cord injury, and
bone marrow transplant support/GvHD. In additior, vave explored and intend to further explore pistential application of MultiStem in t
treatment of a range of other conditions, includitiger forms of cardiovascular disease, neuroldgizaditions, and immune related disorders.

As stated above, we have consistently observedthliiStem is safe and effective in animal modéls.a result, we have advanced MultiStem
to clinical development stage in four clinical iodiions or disease areas: treatment of IBD (ihjti@lcused on ulcerative colitis); support in the
hematologic malignancy setting to reduce certamp@ations associated with traditional bone marmwSC transplantation; treatment for
stroke caused by a blockage of blood flow in therprand treatment of damage caused by myocardeiction.

We may expand to other clinical indication areaseasilts warrant and resources permit.

8
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Immunological Disorders— MultiStem for IBD and HSC Transplant Support

Inflammatory & immune disorders also represengaificant burden to society. There are over 80 gacxed autoimmune disorders, which are
conditions caused by an acute or chronic imbalémtige immune system. In these conditions, cellhefimmune system begin to attack
certain tissues or organs in the body, resultingssue damage and loss of function. Some inflararga& immune conditions are associated
with aging related conditions (e.g., rheumatoithidtis), but some are due to other causes thatheayenetic, environmental or a combination
of both (e.g., Type 1 diabetes, IBD). Still othenditions may reflect complications associated lthtreatment of other conditions (e.g.,
GvVHD, a frequent complication associated with frepteukemia or related blood-borne cancers). Edd¢hese conditions shares certain
biological characteristics, in that the immune sgsimbalance results from the inappropriate adtwadf certain populations of immune cells
results in significant tissue damage and destrnciibiis immune imbalance may result in a complescade of inflammation that can result in
pain, progressive tissue deterioration and logaraftion. While currently available immunomodulatarugs have proven to be effective for
many patients, they have failed to adequately additee needs of many other patients that suffem frdlammatory & immune disorders.

In multiple studies, MultiStem has shown potent inmomodulatory properties, including the abilityréaluce active inflammation through
various modes of action, and restore immune systdmlance. Accordingly, we believe that MultiSteould have broad application in the
area of treating immune system disorders, includergain autoimmune diseases and other conditinasiding GvHD, which is a frequent
immunological complication associated with bonenmaror HSC transplantation. In 2009, we entered atollaboration agreement with
Pfizer to develop and commercialize MultiStem tog treatment of IBD for the worldwide market. IB®a group of inflammatory and
autoimmune conditions that affect the colon andlsimizstine, typically resulting in severe abdomadipain, weight loss, vomiting and diarrh
The most common forms of the disease include uiiweraolitis and Crohn’s disease, which are estéddb affect nearly 2.4 million people in
the United States, five major European marketst@dinKingdom, Germany, France, Italy and Spain) daghn. Chronic IBD can be a severely
debilitating condition, and advanced cases mayireguirgery to remove the affected region of theddpand may also require temporary or
permanent colostomy or ileostomy. In many casagesy does not achieve a permanent cure, and pasaffer a return of the disease.
Enrollment commenced in February 2011 in our Phlagd@ical study being conducted with our partnefizer, to administer MultiStem to
patients suffering from ulcerative colitis.

Another area of focus is the use of MultiStem garative treatment for HSC/bone marrow transplasgdias therapy in hematologic
malignancy. For many types of cancer, such as haig&er other blood-borne cancers, treatment tylyiéavolves radiation therapy or
chemotherapy, alone or in combination. Such treatro@n substantially deplete the cells of the bland immune system, by reducing the
number of stem cells in the bone marrow from whiady arise. The more intense the radiation treatrmechemotherapy, the more severe the
resulting depletion is of the bone marrow, bloatj anmune system. Other tissues may also be affesteeh as cells in the digestive tract and
in the pulmonary system. The result may be seveeen&, immunodeficiency, substantial reductionigedtive capacity, and other problems
that may result in significant disability or death.

One strategy for treating the depletion of bonerovaiis to perform a peripheral blood stem cell s@ant or a bone marrow transplant. This
approach may augment the patient’s ability to foew blood and immune cells and provide a significamvival advantage. However, finding
a closely matched donor is frequently difficultemen impossible. Even when such a donor is founthdny cases there are immunological
complications, such as GvHD, which may result iroses disability or death.

Working with leading experts in the stem cell amch® marrow transplantation field, we have studiadti@tem in animal models of radiation
therapy and GvHD. In multiple animal models, Muléi® has been shown to be non-immunogenic, even ath@mistered without the genetic
matching that is typically required for conventibhane marrow or stem cell transplantation. Furthene, in animal model systems testing
immune reactivity of T-cells against unrelated dotssue, MultiStem has been shown to suppres$-tal-mediated immune responses that
are an important factor in causing GvHD. MultiSteeated animals also displayed a significant ineeda survival relative to controls. As a
result, we believe that the administration of Msém in conjunction with or following standard H&&nsplantation may have the potential to
reduce the incidence or severity of complicatioms mnay enhance gastrointestinal function, whidineigquently compromised as a result of
radiation treatment or chemotherapy.
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We completed a Phase | clinical trial examiningghéety and tolerability of a single dose or repketing of MultiStem product administered
intravenously to patients receiving a bone marroWwesnatopoietic stem cell transplant related tir tiheatment for hematologic malignancy.
The trial was an open label, multicenter trial tileblved leading experts in the field of bone roartransplantation. In February 2012, we
announced the top-line results from the trial. Vlsasved a consistent safety profile in both thglsiand multiple dose arms of the study, and
at all dose levels tested. Although the trial wasspecifically designed to demonstrate efficacg,also observed clinically meaningful
improvement in important clinical parameters refatio historical clinical experience, including vedd incidence and severity of acute GvHD,
improved relapse free survival, no graft failur@sgd enhanced engraftment rates relative to otmersfef treatment.

In September 2010, we announced that we had beategrorphan drug designation by the FDA for Muéti in the prevention of GvHD. We
intend to meet with the FDA in the spring of 20d2@view the results from the Phase | trial andulis plans for the next phase of clinical
development, which could include a Phase Il/llidstof MultiStem for GVHD prophylaxis and HSCT suppo

Neurological Diseas— MultiStem for Ischemic Stroke

Another focus of our regenerative medicine progisthe use of MultiStem for the treatment of neogidal injury as a result of acute or
chronic conditions. Neurological injury and diseasgresents an area of significant unmet medioad n@ major burden on the healthcare
system, and also represents a huge commercial topjitgr

Many neurological conditions require extensive loaign therapy, and many require extended hospatidiz and/or institutional care, creating
an enormous cost burden. Stroke represents amwaeza the clinical need is particularly significasince it represents a leading cause of death
and significant long term disability. Currentlyetie are approximately 800,000 individuals in thététhStates that suffer a stroke each year,
and more than two million stroke victims in the téwi States, Europe and Japan combined, and appmt@tyni5 million people globally. The
vast majority of these (approximately 85% — 90%&)iachemic strokes, that are caused by a blockiglead flow in the brain, that cuts of
oxygen and nutrients. The remainder of these amohdagic strokes, which occur when a blood velssedts and bleeding into the brain
ensues.

Studies show that in recent years there has beesmnaatic rise in ischemic strokes among young adu#., individuals in the 25 to 45 age
group), which is likely due to a combination ofimig rates of obesity and other factors. Unfortulyatsurrent therapeutic options for ischemic
stroke victims are limited, as the only availaltlerapy must be administered within several houte®bccurrence of the stroke. As a
consequence of this limited time window, only a Bmpercentage of stroke victims are treated with ¢lairrently available therapy — most
simply receive supportive or “palliative” care. Tlomg-term costs of stroke are substantial, witmyngatients requiring extended
hospitalization, extended physical therapy or réhation (for those patients that are capablertteng such programs), and many require
long-term institutional or family care. Similarlthere are other acute and progressive neurologicalitions that require substantial healthcare
resources, with limited existing treatment optitimst are only marginally clinically effective.

We have published research with independent caitding investigators that demonstrates that MudtiStonveys biological benefits in
preclinical models of ischemic stroke, as well H'eomodels of neurological damage and injury,udiig TBI, neonatal hypoxic ischemia (a
cause of neurological damage in infants), and $piora injury. We have also conducted preclinicakkvin other neurological areas, and have
been awarded grants to support work in areas ssitteaindications described above and for evalgatie potential of MultiStem to treat
Parkinson’s disease. Our research has shown thiéiStém conveys benefits through distinct mechasisimcluding reducing inflammatory
damage, protecting at risk tissue at the site jofynand through direct neurotrophic effects thiirhulate the recovery of damaged neurons. As
a result, we believe that MultiStem may have rebeeato multiple forms of neurological injury andeéase.

Our initial clinical focus in the neurological areevolves evaluating administration of MultiStemtteat ischemic stroke. Ischemic stroke is a
leading cause of death and disability globally, andounts for approximately 85% of all strokes.&¢@rogress toward the development of
safer and more effective treatments for ischemiaksthas been disappointing. Despite the factisichemic stroke is one of the leading causes
of death and disability in the United States, dffegmore than 700,000 new patients annually adngrth the United States Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention, or CDC, there kas little progress toward the development of inesits that improve the prognosis for
stroke victims. The only FDA-approved drug currgrtlailable for ischemic stroke is the anti-cladtiiactor, tPA. According to current clinical
guidelines, tPA must be administered to strokegpadi within several hours after the occurrencéefischemic stroke to remove the clot while
minimizing potential risks, such as bleeding irtte brain. Administration of tPA after three to fdwurs is not recommended, since it can
cause cerebral bleeding or even death. Givenithited therapeutic window, it is estimated thaslésan 5% of ischemic stroke victims
currently receive treatment with tPA.
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In preclinical studies conducted by investigatorsluding at both the University of Minnesota ahd Medical College of Georgia, significant
functional improvements have been observed in rizdiiat have undergone an experimentally indugedtest or that have incurred significant
neurological damage due to similar types of iscleegwients, such as a result of neonatal hypoxieisid, and then received treatment with
MultiStem. Published research has demonstratedathmatnistration of MultiStem even one week aftauggically induced stroke results in
substantial long-term therapeutic benefit, as exidd by the improvement of treated animals compaittdcontrols in a battery of tests
examining mobility, strength, fine motor skills,caather aspects of neurological functional improeamn

Based on the research we and our collaboratorsdaaucted, we believe MultiStem conveys signiftdaenefits through several mechanis
including reduction of inflammation and immune gystmodulation in the ischemic area, and the prioteend rescue of damaged or injured
cells, including neuronal tissue. Research regulisented at the 2011 American Heart Associatitermiational Stroke Conference by
collaborators from the University of Texas Healttiehce Center at Houston demonstrated that admatiet of MultiStem 24 hours following
a stroke reduced inflammatory damage in the bnathrasulted in significant functional improvemesmd that some of these results were
achieved by reducing the inflammatory response atiresnfrom the spleen. These results confirm thaltigtem treatment is well tolerated,
does not require immunosuppression, and resuéisdbust and durable therapeutic benefit even valdemnistered up to one week after the
initial stroke event.

In 2008, we completed additional preclinical safgtiydies and submitted an IND for this applicatibhe FDA authorized the IND and the
proposed clinical study. However, following autlzation, we generated additional preclinical daté @mical data from our other studies that
demonstrates the consistent safety profile of Ntéim, as well as supporting preclinical efficactadhat demonstrates how MultiStem can
provide multiple therapeutic benefits in the strakel CNS area. Accordingly, we chose not to irétihis trial, but modified the design of this
study, including increasing the trial size, so thatcan evaluate clinical safety and efficacy mare robust manner.

In November 2011, we announced the initiation dfgret enrolment for a 140 patient Phase Il clinical exploring the administration of
MultiStem to patients that have suffered an iscleestrioke. In this trial, MultiStem is administer2d to 36 hours after a stroke has occurred. If
shown to be safe and effective, this would repreaesignificant extension of the treatment wind@lative to existing standard of care and
could provide an important new therapeutic optianstroke patients. We believe that the potentatket for a new therapy to treat stroke
could be more than $15 billion annually.

We are also interested in the application of Muéti® for other neurological indications that représgeas of significant unmet medical need,
such as TBI, which represents the leading causésability among children and young adults, andaaing cause of death. Approximately
1.7 million cases of TBI are seen in the United&taach year, nearly half a million cases of whiehchildren age 0 to 14 years old. The C
estimates that more than three million individusse a long-term or lifelong need for help to perfactivities of daily living as a result of a
TBI. The annual direct and indirect costs for TB# approximately $60 billion a year, accordinghe National Institute of Neurological
Disorders and Stroke, which is part of the Natidnatitutes of Health. In preclinical studies of TBdministration of MultiStem dramatically
reduced the extent of damage caused by a TBI, amdqted accelerated healing of the blood-brainiéarr

We are also conducting preclinical work explorihg tpplication of MultiStem toward in other neugit@l indications. In June 2010, we
announced that we and collaborators at the Cente3tEm Cell and Regenerative Medicine and CasdaifeReserve University were awar
$1.0 million through the Ohio Third Frontier Biomeal Program to support preclinical and translaaesearch into the treatment of spinal
cord injury, or SCI with MultiStem. In addition, Movember 2010, we announced that we have beerdadar$140,000 grant from the
Michael J. Fox Foundation for Parkinson’s Rese#ocidvance research and development of MultiSteenpastential treatment for Parkinson’s
disease. The research funded by the grant is iatetadconfirm and extend previous observationsroigg the efficacy of MultiStem in rodent
models of Parkinson’s disease, with the goal oékrating the potential clinical application of sieecells for patients who suffer from the
disease. In October 2011, we announced the awaythof funding of up to $640,000 to investigate gh&ential for MultiStem to treat chronic
progressive Multiple Sclerosis, based on initiglules in preclinical models. Early in 2012, we ammced grant funding aggregating $3.6
million to further advance our MultiStem progranmsiacell therapy platform, including further devetognt of MultiStem for the treatment of
TBI and further development of our cell therapynfiotations and manufacturing capabilities.
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Cardiovascular Disease— Evaluating MultiStem for Treating Damage from a HebAttack

Cardiovascular disease is an area of significanicell need that is expected to expand signifigaintithe years ahead. Despite treatment
advances in recent years, cardiovascular diseasging the leading cause of death, and represeatsfdhe leading causes of disability around
the world. In the United States, approximately 5,280 patients suffer a heart attack each yearapptbximately 5.7 million individuals in ti
United States are currently suffering from heaittifa. Another eight million suffer from peripherailterial disease, which is associated with
significant morbidity and mortality. According tegjections published recently by the American Héesociation in February 2011 in the
journal Circulation, aggregate costs for treating heart disease ibthited States are expected to soar in the comgagsy In 2010, annual

direct costs for treating cardiovascular disease 273 billion, but by 2030 these are expectandoe than triple, to a projected $818 billion
per year. This increase will occur primarily asault of the aging population, and may not fullffeet the impact of the dramatic escalation in
obesity rates that has occurred for both adultscaildren in recent years, which could further eethate the long-term challenges and increase
costs associated with cardiovascular disease drd oconditions.

In a Phase | clinical trial, we have explored tlse of MultiStem as a treatment for damage cause&tiMily Myocardial infarction is one of the
leading causes of death and disability in the UWh&&ates. Myocardial infarction is caused by ttezkhge of one or more arteries that supply
blood to the heart. Such blockages can be causedxédmple, by the rupture of an atherosclerotiqpé deposit. According to the American
Heart Association 2010 Statistical Update, theresvegproximately 935,000 cases of myocardial iti@ncthat occurred in the United States
2006 and approximately 8.5 million individuals tig in the United States that had previously sufferdeart attack. In addition, there were
more than 831,000 deaths that occurred from vaffimunss of cardiovascular disease, including 567 @@diduals that died as a result of a
myocardial infarction or congestive heart failukevariety of risk factors are associated with aevated risk of myocardial infarction or
atherosclerosis, including age, high blood presammking, sedentary lifestyle and genetics. Wadeances in the diagnosis, prevention and
treatment of heart disease have had a positivediniteere is clearly room for improvement — myogakéhfarction remains a leading cause of
death and disability in the United States and #¢ of the world.

MultiStem has been studied in validated animal nedEAMI, including at both the Cleveland Cliniadthe University of Minnesota.
Investigators demonstrated that the administradfcallogeneic MultiStem into the hearts of animddsnaged by experimentally induced heart
attacks resulted in significant functional improvehin cardiac output and other functional paramsstempared with animals that received
placebo or no treatment. Furthermore, the admatistr of immunosuppressive drug was not requiretipaovided no additional benefit in this
study, and supports the concept of using MultiSésnan allogeneic product.

Working with a contract research organization, wmpleted additional preclinical studies in estdt#i pig models of AMI using catheter
delivery and examining various factors such agdiie and method of MultiStem administration, dasgging, and timing of treatment. In
2008, we initiated a multicenter, open-label PHadmical trial in this indication, and the stué/now completed. In July 2010, we announced
the preliminary results from this trial, which sheavthat MultiStem was well tolerated at all dosesle and exhibited a favorable safety profile.
In addition, patients that received treatment WithtiStem exhibited meaningful improvements in dawscular function, including left
ventricular ejection fraction, wall motion scorasd other parameters. These results were recauttlisped inCirculation Researcin

November 2011

12



Table of Contents

Pharmaceutical Program:
Novel 5HT2c agonists for the treatment of obegity eelated condition

Obesity is a substantial contributing factor tmage of diseases that represent the major causiestif and disability in the developed world
today. Individuals that are clinically obese halevated rates of cardiovascular disease, stroktgingypes of cancer and diabetes. According
to the CDC, the incidence of obesity in the Unidtes has increased at an epidemic rate duringeste20 years. CDC now estimates that
66% of all Americans are overweight, including mtran 30% that are considered clinically obese.ddreentage of young people who are
overweight has more than tripled since 1980. Thasealso been a dramatic rise in the rate of gbsEurope and Asia. Despite the
magnitude of this problem, current approachesiticell obesity are largely ineffective, and we aveare of relatively few new therapeutic
approaches in clinical development.

We are developing novel pharmaceutical treatmemtsliesity, which are compounds designed to astibyulating a key receptor in the brain
that regulates appetite and food intake — the S5HE&2eptor. The role of this receptor in regulafiogd intake is well understood in both
animal models and humans. In 1996, Wyeth launched@nti-obesity drug Red®x (dexfenfluramine), a-apacific serotonin receptor agonist
that was used with the stimulant phentermine inralination commonly known as fen-phen. This dieigdtombination gained rapid and
widespread acceptance in the clinical marketplacdeveas shown to be highly effective at regulatipgetite, reducing food intake, and causing
significant weight loss. Unfortunately, in addititmstimulating the 5HT2c receptor, Redux also stated the 5HT2b receptor that is found in
the heart. The activation of 5SHT2b by Redux isdedid to have caused significant cardiovascularlpno®in a number of patients and, as a
result, Redux was withdrawn from the market in 19871996, doctors wrote 18 million monthly pregtions for drugs constituting the fen-
phen combination. In that same year, these drugsrgted sales of greater than $400 million, seramg benchmark for the substantial market
opportunity for an effective drug to treat clinicddesity.

Since the withdrawal of Redux from the market, selMgroups have published research and clinical thett implicate stimulation of the 5HT
receptor as the underlying cause of the cardiovaspuwoblems. These findings suggest that highlgcsize compounds that stimulate the
5HT2c receptor, but that do not appreciably stireuthe 5SHT2b receptor, could be developed that tamithe desired appetite suppressive
effects without the cardiovascular toxicity. Recelittical data supports this hypothesis and algmsests that the S5SHT2c agonists may also
cause a statistically significant reduction in #&meount of sugar in the blood, as measured by faslimod glucose and HbAlc levels, which are
both clinically relevant measures for patients etiffy from diabetes.

We initiated a drug development program focusedreating potent and selective compounds that stiteuhe 5SHT2c receptor, but that avoid
the 5HT2b receptor and other receptors, such a28HJDur specific goal has been to develop an oaaliyinistered pill that reduces appetite
by stimulating the SHT2c receptor, but that doesstimulate the 5HT2b receptor, the 5SHT2a recemoather receptors that could cause
adverse side effects. Based on extensive prediistigdies that we have conducted with compoundswieehave generated, we have
demonstrated the ability to develop compoundsahahighly potent and selective for the 5HT2c réme@nd that lack activity at either 5SHT
or 5SHT2b. We believe that this achievement reprssasignificant advance in the field, and thatghtency and selectivity profile displayed
compounds we are developing will result in subssdlgitbetter efficacy and a cleaner safety andredddity profile in clinical trials, as well as a
more convenient dosing schedule than other 5SHT2oiagprograms. We are conducting preclinical eatidun of novel compounds that we
have developed that exhibit outstanding receptecteity and are working toward the selection afliaical development candidate for this
program. We may elect to enter into a partnerghgdivance the development of this program.

Other Small Molecule Programs & Key Technologies

In addition to our other programs, we believe thate are significant opportunities for synergywssn our small molecule programs
capabilities and our MultiStem technology. Speaillic, we believe that substantial opportunitiessefor identifying small molecule
modulators of therapeutically relevant biologicetivty exhibited by MultiStem or other stem cefpes. We believe that applying our
capabilities in both areas could lead to next gatiean product development opportunities, includimgre potent stem cell based therapies that
have been optimized for use in specific indicatoeas.
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In addition to our current product development pangs, we developed our patented RAGE technologypttteides us with the ability to
produce human cell lines that express specifidpgiocally well validated drug targets without retgi upon cloned and isolated gene sequences
While our RAGE technology is not a therapeutic praidit is a commercial technology that we havecsssfully applied for the benefit of our
partners and that we have also used for our ovemriat drug development programs. Modern drug sangeapproaches typically require the
physical isolation and structural modification o@ne of interest, an approach referred to as genég, in order to create a cell line that
expresses a drug target of interest. Researchsrsh@a use the genetically modified cell line teritify pharmaceutical compounds that inhibit
or stimulate the target of interest. The RAGE tedbgy enables us to turn on or amplify the exp@ssif a drug target without having to
physically clone or isolate the gene. In effecg tchnology works through the random insertiotinyf, proprietary genetic switches that
randomly turn genes on without requiring their pbabisolation, or any advance knowledge of thelncure. This technology provides us w
broad freedom to work with targets that may be mtiee unavailable as a result of intellectual propeestrictions on the use of specific cloi
and isolated genes. Over the past several yearsaweproduced cell lines that express drug taigetgange of disease areas such as
metabolic disease, infectious disease, oncologdi@aascular disease, inflammation, and centralmes system disorders. Many of these were
produced for drug development programs at majormhaeeutical companies that we have collaborateld, witch as Bristol-Myers Squibb, and
some have been produced for our internal drug dewegnt programs.

Collaborations and Partnerships
Pfizer

Late in 2009, we entered into a collaboration ageg with Pfizer to develop and commercialize Matiéim for the treatment of IBD for the
worldwide market. Under the terms of the agreemeatreceived a non-refundable up-front cash paymoe$6.0 million from Pfizer and will
receive research funding and support during thit@irphase of the collaboration. In addition, we also eligible to receive milestone payments
of up to $105 million upon the successful achieveinoé certain development, regulatory and commémitestones, though there can be no
assurance that we will achieve these milestoneknarsignificant milestone payments were receivedfdecember 31, 2011. We are
responsible for manufacturing and Pfizer pays usrfanufacturing product for clinical developmentiaommercialization purposes. Pfizer
responsibility for development, regulatory and coencrelization and will pay us tiered royalties onondwide commercial sales of MultiStem
IBD products. Alternatively, in lieu of royaltie®id certain commercialization milestones, we maygtdl® codevelop with Pfizer and the part
will share development and commercialization expsrand profits/losses on an agreed basis begianiRbase 11l clinical development.

The Pfizer collaboration does not have a spedfimination date, but will terminate upon the lasexpire royalty term, unless terminated
earlier by either party. Either party can termintite agreement for an uncured material breach fautiePfizer is permitted to terminate the
agreement upon advance written notice to us if wgtesn certain turnover levels for employees waglom the program, if our license with the
University of Minnesota is terminated, if we exgerge a specified change of control event, or isate discretion. We can terminate the
agreement if a certain milestone event has notroediby a defined period of time, or if we reasdpddelieve that Pfizer has failed to satisfy
obligations to progress the development of the ranog Following termination of the agreement byalklicenses granted to Pfizer to develop
and commercialize MultiStem for IBD will terminatether than certain more limited research licenaed,ownership of regulatory and clinical
data will revert to us. Following termination okthgreement by Pfizer, the licenses granted t@Pfi#ll remain in effect according to their
terms, unless the termination is due to our breaetployee turnover or termination of the licensthwiniversity of Minnesota, in which case
payments to us will be reduced from what was otisrywayable. Also, if Pfizer terminates in its sdigcretion, then Pfizer retains its
obligation to fund our research and developmentscas set forth in the agreement.

RTI

In 2010, we entered into an agreement with RTleeetbp and commercialize MAPC technoldggsed biologic implants for certain orthope
applications in the bone graft substitutes maldater the terms of our RTI agreement, we recei@ illion of guaranteed license fee
payments and are entitled to an additional $2.0anibf license fee payments contingent on futwents. We are also eligible to receive an
additional $35.5 million in cash payments upondbecessful achievement of certain development amthtercial milestones, though there
be no assurance that we will achieve any milestddese of these milestone payments have been extaly of December 31, 2011. In
addition, we will receive tiered royalties on wariide commercial sales of implants using our tecbgigls. We are currently working with RTI
to develop products for these applications.
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Angiotech

In November 2011, we reached an agreement withdkegh to terminate the collaboration agreementliardse between the parties, reflec
a change in Angiotech’s business and financiateggsa As a result of the termination, we regaineshership of all rights for developing our
stem cell technologies and products for cardioviasalisease indications, including AMI, congestigart failure, chronic ischemia, and
peripheral vascular disease, and Angiotech no lohgg any license rights or options with respeduotechnologies and products. Angiotech
made its final cost-sharing payment in 2011 in emtion with collaboration activities and has naliier obligations to us. Though the
termination will affect our future costs of devetopnt for ongoing cardiovascular programs, such$ A significantly improves our ability

to explore cardiovascular and more comprehensillabmrative development and commercialization ageaments with other pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and medical products companies. érctise of a new AMI collaboration, Angiotech will entitled to a future payment from us
equal to a percentage of cash license fee paymentsceive within the first six months from a thjpdrty related to such AMI collaboration,
and is not entitled to other downstream paymentsh ss milestone payments, royalties or any psbfaring payments. The future payment, if
any, will be either (i) 25% of thirgrarty license fees if an AMI collaboration is editgtied prior to the initiation of enrollment in &d&se 1| AMI
clinical trial and within 12 months of the termiitat agreement, (ii) 15% of third-party license féfean AMI collaboration is established after
the initiation of enrollment in a Phase Il AMI dloal trial, but before we have spent $5.0 milliantbe clinical trial, and within 24 months of
the termination agreement, or (iii) 10% of thirdiydicense fees up to a maximum of $5.0 milliorAtagiotech if an AMI collaboration is
established after the initiation of enrollment iRlaase Il AMI clinical trial, and after we have sp85.0 million on the clinical trial, and within
36 months of the termination agreement.

Bristol-Myers Squibb

In 2000, we entered into a collaboration with Brigtlyers Squibb to provide cell lines expressinglwalidated drug targets produced using
our RAGE technology for compound screening and kbgveent. This initial collaboration was expande@@92 and again in 2006, and was in
its final phase as amended in 2009. Bristol-Myapsilsb uses the cell lines in its internal drug depment programs and, in exchange, we
receive license fee and milestone payments andwidintitled to receive royalties on the sale gf@oproved products. Depending on the use
of a cell line by Bristol-Myers Squibb and the pregs of drug development programs benefiting froenuse of such a cell line, we may
receive as much as approximately $5.5 million @dirlme in additional license fees and milestoagpents, though we cannot assure you that
any further milestones will be achieved or thatwitt receive any additional milestone payments2008, Bristol-Myers Squibb successfully
advanced into Phase Il clinical development a darglidate discovered using a target provided byheseby triggering a clinical developme
milestone payment to us.

Since the beginning of the collaboration, we hanvigled 27 cell lines to Bristol-Myers Squibb undee collaboration. Additionally, as of
December 31, 2011, we have received an aggregaterdarof $1.7 million in milestone payments and $@illion in license fees from Bristol-
Myers Squibb under the collaboration. We remaiitledtto receive license fees for targets delivareBristol-Myers Squibb, as well as
milestone payments and royalties on compounds dpedlby Bristol-Myers Squibb using our technology.

The Bristol-Myers Squibb collaboration does notéavspecific termination date, but will terminateem Bristol-Myers Squibb no longer has
an obligation to pay us royalties, which obligatgenerally continues until the later of the expinatof the Bristol-Myers Squibb patent
covering an approved product and ten years aftanuercial sales of that product began. Though weed®ristolMyers Squibb to file for an
be issued patents for products developed undexdiieboration, we are not aware of any patentsidda Bristol-Myers Squibb covering any
potential products related to the collaboratioreitfier party breaches its material obligations faild to cure that breach within 60 days after
notice from the non-breaching party, the non-breagcparty may terminate the collaboration.
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Competition

We face significant competition with respect to #agious dimensions of our business. With regarolutoefforts to develop MultiStem as a
novel stem cell therapy, currently, there are alpemof companies that are actively developing stethproducts, which encompass a range of
different cell types, including embryonic stem selimbilical cord stem cells, aduerived stem cells and processed bone marrow deceits

Osiris Therapeutics, Inc., or Osiris, is currerghgaged in Phase Il and Phase Il clinical trial®iving Prochymal, an allogeneic stem cell
product based on mesenchymal stem cells, or M®@sate obtained from healthy consenting donord aae administered without tissue
matching. However, in contrast to MultiStem, MSQspthy limited expansion potential and biologickgticity. In November 2008, Osiris
announced a partnership in which Genzyme acquiegdldpment rights to Prochymal for certain markettside the United States and Canada
in exchange for $130 million in license fees, ui$1025 billion in clinical and sales milestonesd aayalties. Osiris retains commercial
development rights to Prochymal for the United &atnd Canada.

Mesoblast Limited, or Mesoblast, is currently ergghin clinical trials evaluating the safety andaf€y of Revascor, an allogeneic stem cell
product based on mesenchymal stem cell precursarsite obtained from healthy consenting donorsséltells also appear to display limited
expansion potential and biological plasticity. lad@mber 2010, Mesoblast announced a partnerstipGeiphalon, Inc., or Cephalon, in which
Cephalon paid an upfront license fee of $130 milliand agreed to invest an additional $220 miliroaquity for a 19.9% stake in Mesoblast.
In addition, total regulatory milestone payments/fesoblast could reach $1.7 billion, assuming thatagreement results in commercial
treatments for conditions including congestive hélure, AMI, Parkinson’s disease and Alzheimatisease.

Other public companies are developing stem-reldtechpies, including Aastrom Biosciences, Stemddakt., Johnson & Johnson, Celgene
Corporation, or Celgene, Advanced Cell Technoldgy,, CRYO-CELL International, Inc., Pluristem Theeutics Inc., or Pluristem, and
Cytori Therapeutics, Inc., or Cytori. In additigrjvate companies, such as Gamida Cell Ltd., Pluf@orporation, NeoStem, Inc., Tigenix NV
and others, are also developing cell therapy rélpteducts or capabilities. Given the magnitudéhefpotential opportunity for stem cell
therapy, we expect competition in this area torisify in the coming years.

We also face competition in our efforts to devetompounds for the treatment of obesity. There isetitly one approved therapeutic product
on the market for obesity, Xenical (also known &g Avhich is marketed by F. Hoffman-La Roche, Ltdr Roche. Potential side effects
associated with taking Xenical / Alli include craimg, intestinal discomfort, flatulence, diarrheagddeakage of oily stool. Another obesity
drug, Meridia, was approved for clinical use andkated by Abbott Pharmaceuticals, but was recemitliydrawn from the market due to
concerns regarding increased risk of cardiovasditaase and stroke among patients taking the drug.

There are many other companies attempting to dpvewel treatments for obesity, and a wide ranggppfoaches are being taken. Some of
these companies include large, multinational phasutical companies such as Bristol-Myers Squiblr,ddé& Co., Inc., Roche, Sanofi U.S.,
or Sanofi, GlaxoSmithKline plc, or GlaxoSmithKlingli Lilly and Company and others. There are alsawety of biotechnology companies
developing treatments for obesity, including Aré&fearmaceuticals, Inc., or Arena Pharmaceuticaksxi@en Therapeutics, Inc., Vivus, Inc.,
Vivus, Neurosearch, Amgen Inc., or Amgen, Regen®oarmaceuticals, Inc., Nastech Pharmaceutical @omlizyme plc, Amylin
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Neurocrine Biosciences, Bitionogi & Co., Ltd., Metabolic Pharmaceuticaislted, Kyorin Pharmaceutical Co., Lt
and others. In February 2012, a panel of the FIxAmenended that Qnexa, Vivus’ obesity product, lamtpd marketing approval for the
treatment of obesity in adults based on a favorbetesfit-risk profile. It is likely that, given thmagnitude of the market opportunity, many
companies will continue to focus on the obesityaend that competition will remain high. If we atecessful at developing a 5SHT2c agonist
as a safe and effective treatment for obesitg, likely that other companies will attempt to deyesafer and more effective compounds in the
same class, or will attempt to combine therapiesnirffort to establish a safer and more effedtieeapeutic product.

We believe our most significant competitors aréyfultegrated pharmaceutical companies and biot@olgy companies that have substantially
greater financial, technical, sales, marketing, lamhan resources than we do. These companies roegesliin obtaining regulatory approval
for competitive products more rapidly than we candur products. In addition, our competitors mayelop technologies and products that are
cheaper, safer or more effective than those begwgldped by us or that would render our technolaggolete. Furthermore, some of these
companies may feel threatened by our activitiesadtainpt to delay or impede our efforts to devedapproducts or apply our technologies.
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Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent applicationgepts, trademarks, and contractual provisions ategt our proprietary rights. We believe
that to have a competitive advantage, we must dpveahd maintain the proprietary aspects of ourrteldyies. Currently, we require our
officers, employees, consultants, contractors, fanturers, outside scientific collaborators andnsmoed researchers, and other advisors to
execute confidentiality agreements in connectiath Wieir employment, consulting, or advisory relaghips with us, where appropriate. We
also require our employees, consultants, and advigsbo we expect to work on our products to agoegidclose and assign to us all inventions
conceived during the work day, developed usingpsaperty, or which relate to our business. We aulyehave an aggregate of 124 patents for
our technologies.

We have a broad patent estate with claims diredatedmpositions, methods of production, and mettloddse of certain non-embryonic stem
cells and related technologies. We acquired owigidthpart of our stem cell technology and intetled property as a result of our 2003
acquisition of a holding company, which held thghts to the technology originally discovered attheversity of Minnesota. We also have an
exclusive license to additional MAPC-related invens (or in other words, improvements) developedhayUniversity of Minnesota through
May 2009, and, under a collaborative research ageaewith KUL, we have an exclusive license to MARated inventions developed at
KUL using the MAPC technology or intellectual profyeor that result from sponsored research fundedsh We also own and license
additional intellectual property develop by us atiders. Our broad intellectual property portfolamsists of more than 70 issued patents (of
which 9 are United States patents) and more th@rglobal patent applications around our stem eelmnology and MultiStem product
platform. This includes six United States patemid 44 international patents that apply to MAPC eeldted products, such as MultiStem. The
current intellectual property estate, which incogtes additional filings and may broaden over tinoyld provide coverage for our stem cell
product candidates, manufacturing processes anubaedf use through as late as 2030. Furthermorextended period of market exclusivity
may apply for certain products (e.g., exclusivigripds for orphan drug designation or biologics).

We have established a broad intellectual propestifglio related to our functional genomics techages and small molecule product
candidates. We have a broad patent estate witgldirected to compositions, methods of making,rarthods of using our small molecule
drug candidates. We have five United States patardSour patent applications with broad claimgclied to selective 5SHT2c agonists
discovered at Athersys that currently provide patewerage through as late as 2029. From our Hisid3 program, we have five United
States patents and four patent applications withdclaims directed to compounds discovered atrAyisefrom two distinct chemical series
that currently provide patent coverage throughates s 2028. In addition, we currently have 37adsuatents (sixteen United States patent:
21 international patents) and four patent applicetirelating to compositions and methods for th&BAechnology that currently provide
patent coverage through as late as 2019, and thriged States patents and eight patent applicatielating to human proteins and candidate
drug targets that we identified through the appiicaof RAGE and our other technologies that cuttyeprovide patent coverage through as
as 2022. The RAGE technology was developed by @m Harrington and other Athersys scientists irdkyrin the mid-1990s.

We believe that we have broad freedom to use andrecially develop our technologies and productadates. However, if successful, a
patent infringement suit brought against us magears or any of our collaborators or licenseeddp sr delay developing, manufacturing, or
selling potential products that are claimed toiitge a third party’s intellectual property, unlélsat party grants us rights to use its intellectual
property. In such cases, we may be required tdrobt&nses to patents or proprietary rights ofeo$ito continue to commercialize our
products. However, we may not be able to obtainlaeyses required under any patents or proprigtghts of third parties on acceptable
terms, or at all. Even if we were able to obtaghts to the third party’s intellectual propertyesle rights may be non-exclusive, thereby giving
our competitors access to the same intellectugdepty. Ultimately, we may be unable to commercabpme of our potential products or may
have to cease some of our business operationseasilof patent infringement claims, which couddarely harm our business.
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Research and Development

Our research and development costs, which congistaly of costs associated with external clinitrél costs, preclinical study fees,
manufacturing costs, salaries and related persausés, legal expenses resulting from intelleghuaperty application processes, and
laboratory supply and reagent costs, were $18.8omih 2011, $14.8 million in 2010 and $11.9 nahiin 2009.

Government Regulation

Any products we may develop and our research anelolement activities are subject to stringent gowent regulation in the United States
the FDA and, in many instances, by correspondingidoa and state regulatory agencies. The EuropedonlJor EU, has vested centralized
authority in the European Medicines Agency and Cdttes on Proprietary Medicinal Products to standa&rdeview and approval across EU
member nations.

These regulatory agencies enforce comprehensittgesaregulations and guidelines governing thg dievelopment process. This process
involves several steps. Initially, a company musierate preclinical data to show safety before murasting may be initiated. In the United
States, a drug company must submit an IND to tha& pior to securing authorization for human testimge IND must contain adequate data
on product candidate chemistry, toxicology and ineliam and, where appropriate, animal researcinget support initial safety.

A Clinical Trial Agreement, or CTA, is the Europeaquivalent of the IND. CTA requirements are isshgeach competent authority within
the European Union and are enacted by local lag<darectives.

Any of our product candidates will require regutgtapproval and compliance with regulations madé&Jhited States and foreign government
agencies prior to commercialization in such coestriThe process of obtaining FDA or foreign regulatigency approval has historically been
extremely costly and time consuming. The FDA retaiaamong other things, the development, testivamufacture, safety, efficacy, record
keeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertisgrgmotion, sale, and distribution of biologics aralv drugs.

The standard process required by the FDA befotganpaceutical agent may be marketed in the UnitatéSincludes:
» preclinical tests in animals that demonstrate ageable likelihood of safety and effectivenessumhn patients

» submission to the FDA of an IND, which must becaffective before clinical trials in humans can coemre. If Phase | clinici
trials are to be conducted initially outside theiteleh States, a different regulatory filing is remuai, depending on the location of the
trial;

» adequate and well controlled human clinical trtalestablish the safety and efficacy of the drugiologic in the intended disease
indication;

» for drugs, submission of a New Drug ApplicationNiDA, or a Biologic License Application, or BLA, thi the FDA; anc
* FDA approval of the NDA or BLA before any commetdale or shipment of the dru

Preclinical studies can take several years to cetapand there is no guarantee that an IND basédose studies will become effective to
permit clinical trials to begin. The clinical degpiment phase generally takes five to seven yeatsnger, to complete (i.e., from the initiation
of Phase | through completion of Phase Il studiafier successful completion of clinical trials fa new drug or biologic product, FDA
approval of the NDA or BLA must be obtained. Thisgess requires substantial time and effort angetiseno assurance that the FDA will
accept the NDA or BLA for filing and, even if filethat the FDA will grant approval. In the pask fDA’s approval of an NDA or BLA has
taken, on average, one to two years, but in sostarices may take substantially longer. If questiegarding safety or efficacy arise,
additional studies may be required, followed bgsubmission of the NDA or BLA. Review and appravian NDA or BLA can take up to
several years.
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In addition to obtaining FDA approval for each puot each drug manufacturing facility must be ircipe and approved by the FDA. All
manufacturing establishments are subject to ingpecby the FDA and by other federal, state, asdllagencies, and must comply with good
manufacturing practices, or GMP, requirements. Weaat currently have any GMP manufacturing captidj and will rely on contract
manufacturers to produce material for any clintdals that we may conduct.

We must also obtain regulatory approval in othemtdes in which we intend to market any drug. Téguirements governing conduct of
clinical trials, product licensing, pricing, andméursement vary widely from country to country. ABpproval does not ensure regulatory
approval in other countries. The current approvatess varies from country to country, and the typent in gaining approval varies from that
required for FDA approval. In some countries, take rice of the drug must also be approved. Thangr review period often begins after
market approval is granted. Even if a foreign raturly authority approves a drug product, it mayapgrove satisfactory prices for the prod

In addition to regulations enforced by the FDA, ave also subject to regulation under the OccupatiSafety and Health Act, the
Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic SubstanCestrol Act, the Resource Conservation and Recofetyand other present and potential
future federal, state, or local regulations. Osesrch and development involves the controlledbfibazardous materials, chemicals, biolog
materials, and various radioactive compounds. Aigitowe believe that our safety procedures for hagdind disposing of such materials
currently comply in all material respects with gtandards prescribed by state and federal regosatibe risk of accidental contamination or
injury from these materials cannot be completeiyiglated. In the event of such an accident, wedbel held liable for any damages that re
and any such liability could exceed our availalesources.

Employees

We believe that our success will be based on, amtmgy things, the quality of our clinical prograroar ability to invent and develop superior
and innovative technologies and products, and bilityato attract and retain capable managementahdr personnel. We have assembled a
high quality team of scientists, clinical developrmanagers, and executives with significant exgpee in the biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries.

As of December 31, 2011, we employed 48 employE®syith Ph.D. degrees. In addition to our employ®esalso use the service and support
of outside consultants and advisors. None of oleyees is represented by a union, and we beligedionships with our employees are g¢

Available Information

We use the Investors section of our web site, wihersys.com, as a channel for routine distributibmportant information, including news
releases, analyst presentations and financialrmdition. We post filings as soon as reasonably gt after they are electronically filed w

or furnished to, the SEC, including our annual,regrly, and current reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q &8#K; our proxy statements; and any
amendments to those reports or statements. All gastings and filings are available on the Investmction of our web site free of charge. In
addition, this web site allows investors and oth&rested persons to sign up to automaticallyivece-mail alerts when we post news releases
and financial information on our web site. The SE€&b maintains a web site, www.sec.gov, that castegports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding issthettsfile electronically with the SEC. The contentany web site referred to in this annual
report on Form 10-K is not incorporated by refeeeimto this annual report unless expressly noted.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The statements in this section, as well as statenumscribed elsewhere in this annual report, ottier SEC filings, describe risks that could
materially and adversely affect our business, fifercondition and results of operations, whichldalso cause the trading price of our equity
securities to decline. These risks are not the osks that we face. Our business, financial caodiand results of operations could also be
affected by additional factors that are not prdgeartown to us or that we currently consider tafnenaterial to our operations.

Risks Related To Our Business and Our Industry

We have incurred losses since inception and we expe incur significant net losses in the foresedalfuture and may never become
profitable.

Since our inception in 1995, we have incurred digant losses and negative cash flows from opematiVe incurred net losses of $15 million
in 2009, $11 million in 2010 and $14 million in 2D1As of December 31, 2011, we had an accumulaéditdof $219 million, and anticipate
incurring additional losses for at least the nextesal years. We expect to spend significant ressuover the next several years to enhance ou
technologies and to fund research and developnfentrgpipeline of potential products. To date, sahsally all of Athersys’ revenue has been
derived from corporate collaborations, license agrents and government grants. In order to achiexégbility, we must develop products

and technologies that can be commercialized by tisrough future collaborations. Our ability to geate revenues and become profitable will
depend on our ability, alone or with potential ablbrators, to timely, efficiently and successfaiymplete the development of our product
candidates. We have never earned revenue fromgellproduct and we may never do so, as none gfroduct candidates have been
approved for sale, since they are currently be#sget yet in humans and animal studies. We cassateyou that we will ever earn revenu
that we will ever become profitable. If we sustimisses over an extended period of time, we maynbble to continue our business.

We will need substantial additional funding to ddep our products and for our future operations. e are unable to obtain the funds
necessary to do so, we may be required to delajedzack or eliminate our product development aittes or may be unable to continue our
business.

The development of our product candidates will nega commitment of substantial funds to conduetdbstly and time-consuming research,
which may include preclinical and clinical testimgcessary to obtain regulatory approvals and ingoroducts to market. Net cash used in
our operations was $5 million in 2009, $11 millior2010 and $14 million in 2011.

At December 31, 2011, we had $12.8 million of castsh equivalent and investments, and we will reedadtantially more to advance our
product candidates through development. Furthermegewill need to add additional capital to fund operations through the completion of
our current clinical trials. Our future capital teggments will depend on many factors, including:

» our ability to raise capital to fund our operatip

» the progress and costs of our research and develtgmmograms, including our ability to develop eurrent portfolio of therapeut
products, or discover and develop new ol

« our ability, or our partners ability and willingreggo advance partnered products or programs,hensigeed in which they are
advanced

» the cost of prosecuting, defending and enforcingmtaclaims and other intellectual property rigl

» the progress, scope, costs, and results of oulimcet and clinical testing of any current or futupharmaceutical or MultiStem-
related products

» the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatapprovals

» the cost of manufacturing our product candide

* expenses related to complying with GMP of theraippqurbduct candidate:

» costs of financing the purchases of additionaltehequipment and development technolog
» competing technological and market developme
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» our ability to establish and maintain collaboratarel other arrangements with third parties to assisringing our products t
market and the cost of such arrangeme

» the amount and timing of payments or equity investta that we receive from collaborators or chamges terminations of futur
or existing collaboration and licensing arrangeraemtd the timing and amount of expenses we incsupporting these
collaborations and license agreeme

» costs associated with the integration of any nearagmon, including costs relating to future mergamd acquisitions with compan
that have complementary capabiliti

* expenses related to the establishment of salemarkkting capabilities for products awaiting ap@dasr products that have be
approved

» the level of our sales and marketing expenses
» our ability to introduce and sell new produr

The extent to which we utilize our existing equptyrchase agreement with Aspire Capital as a safritending will depend on a number of
factors, including the prevailing market price of @ommon stock, the volume of trading in our comrstock and the extent to which we are
able to secure funds from other sources. The nuoiftgrares that we may sell to Aspire Capital urtderpurchase agreement on any giver
and during the term of the agreement is limiteddifidnally, we and Aspire Capital may not effecyaales of shares of our common stock
under the purchase agreement during the continuzfrene event of default or at a purchase pricees$ than $1.45. Even if we are able to
access the full $20.0 million under the purchase@gent, we will still need additional capital tdly implement our business, operating and
development plans. In March 2012, in connectiohie private placement financing, we agreed ngetbany shares of common stock,
including to Aspire Capital, until the earlier &t 1801 day after the closing date or theh30 dayr #fie resale registration statement covering
the resale of the shares sold in the financingdaded effective.

We have secured capital historically from graneraswes, collaboration proceeds, and debt and egffiésings. We will need to secure
substantial additional capital to fund our futupemtions. We cannot be certain that additionaitabyill be available on acceptable terms ¢
all. In recent years, it has been difficult for qumies to raise capital due to a variety of fagtatsich may or may not continue. To the extent
we raise additional capital through the sale ofitycgecurities, the ownership position of our exigtstockholders could be substantially
diluted. If additional funds are raised through itsiance of preferred stock or debt securitiesdtsecurities are likely to have rights,
preferences and privileges senior to our commorksteluctuating interest rates could also increébsecosts of any debt financing we may
obtain.

Failure to successfully address ongoing liquidgguirements will have a material adverse effeabumbusiness. If we are unable to obtain
additional capital on acceptable terms when neadednay be required to take actions that harm asiness and our ability to achieve cash
flow in the future, including possibly the surrendé our rights to some technologies or productarpmities, delaying our clinical trials or
curtailing or ceasing operations.

We are heavily dependent on the successful devetaggrand commercialization of MultiStem products, @if we encounter delays or
difficulties in the development of this product cdidate, our business could be harmed.

Our success is heavily dependent upon the suctelesfelopment of MultiStem products for certainedises and conditions involving acute or
ischemic injury or immune system dysfunction. Ousibess could be materially harmed if we encoudiféiculties in the development of this
product candidate, such as:

» delays in the ability to manufacture the produaguimntities or in a form that is suitable for aeguired preclinical studies or
clinical trials;

» delays in the design, enrollment, implementationampletion of required preclinical studies anaickl trials;
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* an inability to follow our current development ségy for obtaining regulatory approval from the Fbécause of changes in 1
regulatory approval proces

» less than desired or complete lack of efficacyadety in preclinical studies or clinical trials;d
» intellectual property constraints that preventnasnf making, using, or commercializing the produntdidate
The results seen in animal testing of our productrdidates may not be replicated in humans.

This annual report discusses the safety and effisaen in preclinical testing of our lead prodwntdidates, including MultiStem, in animals,
but we may not see positive results when our gtheduct candidates undergo clinical testing in hosria the future. Preclinical studies and
Phase | clinical trials are not primarily designedest the efficacy of a product candidate in hasydéut rather to:

» test shorterm safety and tolerability
» study the absorption, distribution, metabolism atichination of the product candida

» study the biochemical and physiological effectthef product candidate and the mechanisms of thrgalttion and the relationsh
between drug levels and effect; ¢

» understand the product candic's side effects at various doses and sched

Success in preclinical studies or completed clirtitals does not ensure that later studies olstriacluding continuing non-clinical studies and
large-scale clinical trials, will be successful waes it necessarily predict future results. The o&failure in drug development is quite high,
and many companies in the biotechnology and pharatmal industries have suffered significant sekisdn advanced clinical trials, even after
promising results in earlier trials. Product carmdés may fail to show desired safety and efficadgiger and more diverse patient populations
in later stage clinical trials, despite having pemsed through early stage trials. Negative orrinksive results from any of our ongoing
preclinical studies or clinical trials could resitdelays, modifications, or abandonment of onganfuture clinical trials and the termination
of our development of a product candidate. Addaibn even if we are able to successfully compjstetal Phase 11l clinical trials, the FDA
still may not approve our product candidates.

Our product candidates are in an early stage of depment and we currently have no therapeutic prathiapproved for sale. If we are
unable to develop, obtain regulatory approval or rkat any of our product candidates, our financiabodition will be negatively affected,
and we may have to curtail or cease our operations.

We are in the early stage of product development,vee are dependent on the application of our w@olgies to discover or develop therape
product candidates. We currently do not sell anyr@yed therapeutic products and do not expectye hay products commercially available
for several years, if at all. You must evaluatenuiight of the uncertainties and complexities affieg an early stage biotechnology company.
Our product candidates require additional reseanchdevelopment, preclinical testing, clinical itggtand regulatory review and/or approvals
or clearances before marketing. To date, no omet&knowledge has commercialized any therapeutidysts using our technologies and we
might never commercialize any product using ouhmetogies and strategy. In addition, we may notsad in developing new product
candidates as an alternative to our existing plstff product candidates. If our current produahdidates are delayed or fail, or we fail to
successfully develop and commercialize new prodantlidates, our financial condition may be negétieffected, and we may have to curtail
or cease our operations.
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We may not successfully maintain our existing cdilarative and licensing arrangements, or establisewnones, which could adversely affi
our ability to develop and commercialize our prodwandidates.

A key element of our business strategy is to coreiakze some of our product candidates throughataltations with other companies. Our
strategy includes establishing collaborations &&hking agreements with one or more pharmaceuticabchnology or device companies,
preferably after we have advanced product candidateugh the initial stages of clinical developméfowever, we may not be able to
establish or maintain such licensing and collabonaarrangements necessary to develop and comrieeaiaur product candidates. Even if we
are able to maintain or establish licensing oratmkation arrangements, these arrangements maerat favorable terms and may contain
provisions that will restrict our ability to develptest and market our product candidates. Anyifaito maintain or establish licensing or
collaboration arrangements on favorable terms cadicersely affect our business prospects, finaoiatlition or ability to develop and
commercialize our product candidates.

Our agreements with our collaborators and licensggshave provisions that give rise to disputesurdigg the rights and obligations of the
parties. These and other possible disagreemenid lemd to termination of the agreement or delaysollaborative research, development,
supply, or commercialization of certain productdidates, or could require or result in litigationasbitration. Moreover, disagreements could
arise with our collaborators over rights to intetleal property or our rights to share in any offilteire revenues of products developed by our
collaborators. These kinds of disagreements caddltin costly and timeensuming litigation. Any such conflicts with ouwliaborators coul
reduce our ability to obtain future collaboratigreements and could have a negative impact onetatianship with existing collaborators.

Currently, our material collaborations and licegsamrangements are our collaboration with Pfizeteeelop and commercialize MultiStem for
the treatment of IBD, and our collaboration withIR3 develop and commercialize MAPC technology-lbasielogic implants for certain
orthopedic applications in the bone graft substguharket, and our license with the University afifsota pursuant to which we license
certain aspects of the MultiStem technology. Thesangements do not have specific termination ¢laaéiser, each arrangement terminates
upon the occurrence of certain events.

If our collaborators do not devote sufficient timend resources to successfully carry out their catted duties or meet expected deadlir
we may not be able to advance our product candidatea timely manner or at all.

Our success depends on the performance by oubodditors of their responsibilities under our cablediion arrangements. Some potential
collaborators may not perform their obligationgitimely fashion or in a manner satisfactory toTygically, we cannot control the amount of
resources or time our collaborators may devotautqpoograms or potential products that may be dges in collaboration with us. We are
currently involved in multiple research and devetemt collaborations with academic and researcitutisins. These collaborators frequently
depend on outside sources of funding to conducbomplete research and development, such as gnaatser awards. In addition, our
academic collaborators may depend on graduatergjdaedical students, or research assistantaduct certain work, and such individuals
may not be fully trained or experienced in certieas, or they may elect to discontinue their pipgdtion in a particular research program,
creating an inability to complete ongoing reseanch timely and efficient manner. As a result afdgh uncertainties, we are unable to control
the precise timing and execution of any experim#ras may be conducted.

Additionally, our current or future corporate ctitaators will retain the ability to pursue othesearch, product development or commercial
opportunities that may be directly competitive watlr programs. If these collaborators elect torfife or pursue other programs in lieu of
ours, we may not be able to advance product der@apprograms in an efficient or effective manifeat all. If a collaborator is pursuing a
competitive program and encounters unexpecteddinhar capability limitations, they may be motigdtto reduce the priority placed on our
programs or delay certain activities related tofnagrams or be unwilling to properly fund theiash of the development expenses for our
programs. Any of these developments could harmpoegiuct and technology development efforts, whiahld seriously harm our business.
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Even if we or our collaborators receive regulatoapproval for our products, those products may nebercommercially successft

Even if we develop pharmaceuticals or MultiStenated products that obtain the necessary regulafmpyoval, and we have access to the
necessary manufacturing, sales, marketing andhdiitn capabilities that we need, our success midpéo a significant degree upon the
commercial success of those products. If theseyatedail to achieve or subsequently maintain miaakeeptance or commercial viability, our
business would be significantly harmed becausduture royalty revenue or other revenue would bgetielent upon sales of these products.
Many factors may affect the market acceptance anthtercial success of any potential products thatnag discover, including:

» health concerns, whether actual or perceived, favanable publicity regarding our obesity druggnstcell products or those of our
competitors

» the timing of market entry as compared to competifiroducts
» the rate of adoption of products by our collaboraeind other companies in the indus

» any product labeling that may be required by théFD other United States or foreign regulatory ages for our products or
competing or comparable produc

» convenience and ease of administrat

*  pricing;

» perceived efficacy and side effec

* marketing;

« availability of alternative treatment

» levels of reimbursement and insurance coverage
» activities by our competitor:

We may experience delays in clinical trials and teégtory approval relating to our products that calidversely affect our financial results
and our commercial prospects for our pharmaceutical stem cell products.

In addition to the regulatory requirements for pbarmaceutical programs, we will also require ratprly approvals for each distinct
application of our stem cell product. In each casewill be required to conduct clinical trialsdemonstrate safety and efficacy of MultiStem,
or various products that incorporate or use Mudtist For product candidates that advance to clinésiing, we cannot be certain that we or a
collaborator will successfully complete the clifit@als necessary to receive regulatory produgtrayals. This process is lengthy and
expensive.

We intend to seek approval for our product canéisl@trough the FDA approval process. To obtainleagry approvals, we must, among ot
requirements, complete clinical trials showing thiat products are safe and effective for a pawicindication. Under the approval process, we
must submit clinical and non-clinical data to destoate the medication is safe and effective. Famgle, we must be able to provide data and
information, which may include extended pharmacglagxicology, reproductive toxicology, bioavailéity and genotoxicity studies to
establish suitability for Phase Il or large scafase Il clinical trials.

All of our product candidates are at an early staggevelopment. As these programs enter and psedheough early stage clinical
development, or complete additional non-clinicatiteg, an indication of a lack of safety or lackefficacy may result in the early termination
of an ongoing trial, or may cause us or any ofaliaborators to forego further development of gipalar product candidate or program. The
FDA or other regulatory agencies may require extendinical trials or other testing prior to grarg approval, which could be costly and time
consuming to conduct. Any of these developmentsldvbinder, and potentially prohibit, our ability tmmmercialize our product candidates.
We cannot assure you that clinical trials will acf demonstrate that our products are safe orteféec
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Additionally, we may not be able to find acceptafieients or may experience delays in enrollingepés for our currently planned or any
future clinical trials. The FDA or we may suspend olinical trials at any time if either believdsat we are exposing the subjects participating
in the trials to unacceptable health risks. The FdAnstitutional review boards and/or institutibb@safety committees at the medical
institutions and healthcare facilities where wekseesponsor clinical trials may not permit a tti@lproceed or may suspend any trial
indefinitely if they find deficiencies in the conchuwof the trials.

Product development costs to us and our poterglihorators will increase if we have delays irtitesor approvals or if we need to perform
more or larger clinical trials than planned. Ween{to continue to rely on third-party clinical estigators at medical institutions and
healthcare facilities to conduct our clinical tsigand, as a result, we may face additional degefigintors outside our control. Significant delays
may adversely affect our financial results anddteamercial prospects for our product candidatesdataly our ability to become profitable.

If our pharmaceutical product candidates do not sigssfully complete the clinical trial process, wélwot be able to partner or marke
them. Even successful clinical trials may not resin a partnering transaction or a marketable prodtiand may not be entirely indicative of
a product’s safety or efficacy.

Many factors, known and unknown, can adverselycaffénical trials and the ability to evaluate aguct’s efficacy. During the course of
treatment, patients can die or suffer other advevsats for reasons that may or may not be retatéte proposed product being tested. Even if
unrelated to our product, certain events can nbeekrss adversely impact our clinical trials. Agsutt, our ability to ultimately develop and
market the products and obtain revenues would suffe

Even promising results in preclinical studies amdal clinical trials do not ensure successfululesin later clinical trials, which test broader
human use of our products. Many companies in alusiry have suffered significant setbacks in adedndinical trials, despite promising
results in earlier trials. Even successful clinicils may not result in a marketable producteiraicative of the efficacy or safety of a
product. Many factors or variables could affecttbsults of clinical trials and cause them to appeare promising than they may otherwise
Product candidates that successfully completecaliritials could ultimately be found to be unsaféneffective. In addition, our ability to
complete clinical trials depends on many factorsluding obtaining adequate clinical supplies aaditg a sufficient rate of patient
recruitment. For example, patient recruitmentfisraction of many factors, including:

» the size of the patient populatic

» the proximity of patients to clinical site

» the eligibility criteria for the trial

» the perceptions of investigators and patients diggrsafety; ant
» the availability of other treatment optiol

Even if we obtain regulatory approval of any of oproduct candidates, the approved products may digext to pos-approval studies and
will remain subject to ongoing regulatory requiremss. If we fail to comply, or if concerns are iddfied in subsequent studies, our approval
could be withdrawn and our product sales could hesgended.

If we are successful at obtaining regulatory aparéer MultiStem or any of our other product caratiek, regulatory agencies in the United
States and other countries where a product witiddé may require extensive additional clinicallgiar post-approval clinical studies that are
expensive and time consuming to conduct. In pddictherapeutic products administered for thettneat of persistent or chronic conditions,
such as obesity, are likely to require extensiVi@feup studies and close monitoring of patienteafegulatory approval has been granted, for
any signs of adverse effects that occur over a pmrgd of time. These studies may be expensivdiarelconsuming to conduct and may
reveal side effects or other harmful effects iriqras that use our therapeutic products after #ieyon the market, which may result in the
limitation or withdrawal of our drugs from the matkAlternatively, we may not be able to conduatsadditional trials, which might force us
to abandon our efforts to develop or commerciatizeain product candidates. Even if post-approttalies are not requested or required, after
our products are approved and on the market, thagbt be safety issues that emerge over time #uatire a change in product labeling or that
require withdrawal of the product from the markeijch would cause our revenue to decline.
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Additionally, any products that we may successfdiywelop will be subject to ongoing regulatory regunents after they are approved. These
requirements will govern the manufacturing, packggmarketing, distribution, and use of our produtftwe fail to comply with such
regulatory requirements, approval for our produety be withdrawn, and product sales may be suspeide may not be able to regain
compliance, or we may only be able to regain coamglé after a lengthy delay, significant expensst,fevenues and damage to our reputation.

We may rely on third parties to manufacture our Mitem product candidate.

Our current business strategy relies on third esutth manufacture our MultiStem product candidatescordance with good manufacturing
practices established by the FDA, or similar rejoies in other countries. These third parties matydeliver sufficient quantities of our
MultiStem product candidates, manufacture MultiSgoduct candidates in accordance with specifioatior comply with applicable
government regulations. Additionally, if the maratfaed products fail to perform as specified, ousibess and reputation could be severely
impacted.

We expect to enter into additional manufacturingeagents for the production of product materidlany manufacturing agreement is
terminated or any third party collaborator experesa significant problem that could result in Eager interruption in the supply of product
materials to us, there are very few contract mastufars who currently have the capability to pragloar MultiStem product on acceptable
terms, or on a timely and cost-effective basis.dAtenot assure you that manufacturers on whom welaplend will be able to successfully
produce our MultiStem product on acceptable teonsn a timely or cost-effective basis. We canrssuge you that manufacturers will be able
to manufacture our products in accordance withppaduct specifications or will meet FDA or othequ@dements. We must have sufficient and
acceptable quantities of our product materialsotedact our clinical trials and ultimately to marketr product candidates, if and when such
products have been approved by the FDA for margetirwe are unable to obtain sufficient and acablet quantities of our product material,
we may be required to delay the clinical testindg ararketing of our products.

If we do not comply with applicable regulatory reigaments in the manufacture and distribution of oyproduct candidates, we may inci
penalties that may inhibit our ability to commerdiae our products and adversely affect our reven

Our failure or the failure of our potential collabtors or third party manufacturers to comply vétiplicable FDA or other regulatory
requirements including manufacturing, quality cohttabeling, safety surveillance, promoting anparing may result in criminal prosecution,
civil penalties, recall or seizure of our produttsal or partial suspension of production or garction, as well as other regulatory action
against our product candidates or us. Discovegrefiously unknown problems with a product, suppleanufacturer or facility may result in
restrictions on the sale of our products, includingithdrawal of such products from the market. ®beurrence of any of these events would
negatively impact our business and results of djpers

If we are unable to create and maintain sales, matikg and distribution capabilities or enter intogaeements with third parties to perfori
those functions, we will not be able to commerctaiour product candidates.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distrifruttapabilities. Therefore, to commercialize owdorct candidates, if and when such
products have been approved and are ready for tregkeve expect to collaborate with third partiegperform these functions. We will either
need to share the value generated from the saeyoproducts and/or pay a fee to the contract safgmization. If we establish any such
relationships, we will be dependent upon the cdjpialsi of our collaborators or contract serviceiders to effectively market, sell, and
distribute our product. If they are ineffectivesalling and distributing our product, or if theyodse to emphasize other products over ours, we
may not achieve the level of product sales revethesve would like. If conflicts arise, we may r able to resolve them easily or
effectively, and we may suffer financially as auleslf we cannot rely on the sales, marketing disdribution capabilities of our collaborators
or of contract service providers, we may be foricedstablish our own capabilities. We have no eepee in developing, training or managing
a sales force and will incur substantial additiomgdenses if we decide to market any of our fupmoglucts directly. Developing a marketing
and sales force is also time consuming and coulydaunch of our future products. In addition, widl compete with many companies that
currently have extensive and wélinded marketing and sales operations. Our mauetiu sales efforts may be unable to compete ssfcdiy.
against these companies.
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If we are unable to attract and retain key personm@ad advisors, it may adversely affect our abilttyobtain financing, pursue
collaborations or develop our product candidates.

We are highly dependent on our executive officetd/@n Bokkelen, Ph.D., our Chief Executive Officas well as other executive and
scientific officers, including William Lehmann, J,IM.B.A., President and Chief Operating Officeohd Harrington, Ph.D., Chief Scientific
Officer and Executive Vice President, Robert De&sD., Executive Vice President, Regenerative Bladi and Laura Campbell, CPA, Vice
President of Finance, as well as other personnel.

These individuals are integral to the developmentiategration of our technologies and to our pmes@d future scientific collaborations,
including managing the complex research processgshe product development and potential commézeiddn processes. Given their
leadership, extensive technical, scientific andficial expertise and management and operationatiexge, these individuals would be
difficult to replace. Consequently, the loss ofvéms of one or more of these named individualdccoesult in product development delays or
the failure of our collaborations with current datlre collaborators, which, in turn, may hurt atlity to develop and commercialize prodt
and generate revenues.

Our future success depends on our ability to ditratain and motivate highly qualified managenemd scientific, development and
commercial personnel and advisors. If we are unibégtract and retain key personnel and advisonsay negatively affect our ability to
successfully develop, test and commercialize oodyet candidates.

Our ability to compete in the biopharmaceutical maat may decline if we are not successful in adealatprotecting our proprietary
technologies.

Our success depends in part on our ability to ak#ad maintain intellectual property that protemis technologies and our pharmaceutical
products. Patent positions may be highly uncedaih may involve complex legal and factual questior@uding the ability to establish
patentability of compounds and methods for usimgrttior which we seek patent protection. We cannadipt the breadth of claims that will
ultimately be allowed in our patent applicatiorigny, including those we have in-licensed or thieet to which we may enforce these claims
against our competitors. We have filed multiplegpatapplications that seek to protect the compositf matter and method of use related to
our small molecule programs. In addition, we amspcuting numerous distinct patent families dirg¢tecomposition, methods of production,
and methods of use of MultiStem and related teayies. If we are unsuccessful in obtaining and ta&iing these patents related to products
and technologies, we may ultimately be unable taroercialize products that we are developing or elagt to develop in the future.

The degree of future protection for our proprietaghts is therefore highly uncertain and we carassiure you that:

* we were the first to file patent applications oirteent the subject matter claimed in patent apgilbms relating to the technologies
or product candidates upon which we rt

» others will not independently develop similar adeatative technologies or duplicate any of our tetbgies;

» others did not publicly disclose our claimed tedbgy before we conceived the subject matter inaluideany of our patent
applications

« any of our pending or future patent applicationk sesult in issued patent
« any of our patent applications will not result imerferences or disputes with third parties regeygiriority of invention

* any patents that may be issued to us, our collédmsrar our licensors will provide a basis for coermially viable products or will
provide us with any competitive advantages or gl be challenged by third partie

» we will develop additional proprietary technologibat are patentabl
» the patents of others will not have an adverseceéfa our ability to do business;

* new proprietary technologies from third partiegluding existing licensors, will be available figdnsing to us on reasonable
commercial terms, if at al
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In addition, patent law outside the United Stasegricertain and in many countries intellectual proplaws are undergoing review and
revision. The laws of some countries do not pratetetlectual property rights to the same extend@mestic laws. It may be necessary or u
for us to participate in opposition proceedingsiébermine the validity of our competitors’ pateotso defend the validity of any of our or our
licensor’s future patents, which could result ibstantial costs and would divert our efforts artdraton from other aspects of our business.
With respect to certain of our inventions, we hdeeided not to pursue patent protection outsidéJtiited States, both because we do not
believe it is cost effective and because of comfiiddity concerns. Accordingly, our internation@napetitors could develop and receive foreign
patent protection for gene sequences and functarngshich we are seeking United States patent ptime, enabling them to sell products that
we have developed.

Technologies licensed to us by others, or in-lieeit®chnologies, are important to our business.sthpe of our rights under our licenses may
be subject to dispute by our licensors or thirdipar Our rights to use these technologies andéctige the inventions claimed in the licensed
patents are subject to our licensors abiding bytehas of those licenses and not terminating tHarparticular, we depend on certain
technologies relating to our MultiStem technoloigghsed from the University of Minnesota, and grentination of this license could result in
our loss of some of the rights that enable usitzeithis technology, and our ability to developgucts based on MultiStem could be seriously
hampered.

In addition, we may in the future acquire rightsatiditional technologies by licensing such rightsrf existing licensors or from third parties.
Such in-licenses may be costly. Also, we geneddiyot control the patent prosecution, maintenam@nforcement of in-licensed
technologies. Accordingly, we are unable to exerti® same degree of control over this intellegwaperty as we do over our internally
developed technologies. Moreover, some of our anadimstitution licensors, collaborators and sdi@madvisors have rights to publish data
and information to which we have rights. If we cahmaintain the confidentiality of our technologaesd other confidential information in
connection with our collaborations, our abilitydmtect our proprietary information or obtain pdtprotection in the future may be impaired,
which could have a significant adverse effect onlusiness, financial condition and results of afiens.

We may not have adequate protection for our unpathproprietary information, which could adverseffect our competitive position.

In addition to patents, we will substantially rely trade secrets, know-how, continuing technoldgitgvations and licensing opportunities to
develop and maintain our competitive position. Hegre others may independently develop substantiglyivalent proprietary information a
techniques or otherwise gain access to our tractetseor disclose our technology. To protect cadérsecrets, we may enter into confidenti
agreements with employees, consultants and polteotlaborators. However, these agreements maypmatide meaningful protection of our
trade secrets or adequate remedies in the evemaofthorized use or disclosure of such informatidkewise, our trade secrets or know-how
may become known through other means or be indepgiyddiscovered by our competitors. Any of thegergs could prevent us from
developing or commercializing our product candidate

Disputes concerning the infringement or misapprogation of our proprietary rights or the proprietaryights of others could be tim
consuming and extremely costly and could delay oesearch and development efforts.

Our commercial success, if any, will be signifidgitarmed if we infringe the patent rights of thpdrties or if we breach any license or other
agreements that we have entered into with regaoditéechnology or business.

We are aware of other companies and academicutistis that have been performing research in thasaof adult derived stem cells. In
particular, other companies and academic institstivave announced that they have identified nongoniir stem cells isolated from bone
marrow or other tissues that have the ability tonfa range of cell types, or display the propeftploripotency. To the extent any of these
companies or academic institutions currently havebtain in the future, broad patent claims, spatents could block our ability to use vari
aspects of our discovery and development processngght prevent us from developing or commerciatignewly discovered applications of
our MultiStem technology, or otherwise conducting business. In addition, it is possible that sah#he pharmaceutical product candidates
we are developing may not be patentable or maybered by intellectual property of third parties.
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We are not currently a party to any litigation girierence, opposition, protest, reexamination graher potentially adverse governmental, ex
parte or inter-party proceeding with regard to patent or trademark positions. However, the lifersces and other technology industries are
characterized by extensive litigation regardingeptt and other intellectual property rights. Maifgy $ciences and other technology companies
have employed intellectual property litigation asay to gain a competitive advantage. If we becomelved in litigation, interference
proceedings, oppositions, reexamination, protestiuer potentially adverse intellectual propertgqaedings as a result of alleged infringement
by us of the rights of others or as a result obityf of invention disputes with third parties, weght have to spend significant amounts of
money, time and effort defending our position aredmay not be successful. In addition, any clainetirgy to the infringement of third-party
proprietary rights or proprietary determinationg® if not meritorious, could result in costly gjsition, lengthy governmental proceedings,
divert management’s attention and resources, ainegs to enter into royalty or license agreemémds are not advantageous to us. If we do
not have the financial resources to support stigfation or appeals, we may forfeit or lose cermammercial rights. Even if we have the
financial resources to continue such litigatiorappeals, we may lose. In the event that we losemaiebe forced to pay very substantial
damages; we may have to obtain costly licensegjgttiich may not be available to us on acceptartag, if at all; or we may be prohibited
from selling products that are found to infringe fhatent rights of others.

Should any person have filed patent applicationsbtained patents that claim inventions also clditme us, we may have to participate in an
interference proceeding declared by the relevatgnpaegulatory agency to determine priority oféntion and, thus, the right to a patent for
these inventions in the United States. Such a piing could result in substantial cost to us e¥#nei outcome is favorable. Even if successful
on priority grounds, an interference action maylhtes loss of claims based on patentability groaingised in the interference action. Litigat
interference proceedings or other proceedings ativielt management’s time and efforts. Even unssafoéclaims could result in significant
legal fees and other expenses, diversion of managesitime and disruption in our business. Uncatias resulting from initiation and
continuation of any patent proceeding or relatggdtion could harm our ability to compete and cblihve a significant adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openat

An adverse ruling arising out of any intellectuedyerty dispute, including an adverse decisiorodhe priority of our inventions, could
undercut or invalidate our intellectual propertysipion. An adverse ruling could also subject usigmificant liability for damages, including
possible treble damages, prevent us from usingit#obies or developing products, or require usdgatiate licenses to disputed rights from
third parties. Although patent and intellectualgedy disputes in the technology area are oftettesiethrough licensing or similar
arrangements, costs associated with these arramgemay be substantial and could include license &nd ongoing royalties. Furthermore,
necessary licenses may not be available to ustiesdory terms, if at all. Failure to obtain ednse in such a case could have a significant
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

Many potential competitors, including those who Fagreater resources and experience than we do, teyelop products or technologi
that make ours obsolete or noncompetitive.

We face significant competition with respect to purduct candidates. With regard to our effortdéwelop MultiStem as a novel stem cell
therapy, currently, there are a number of compahiisare actively developing stem cell productsiclv encompass a range of different cell
types, including embryonic stem cells, adult-dediggem cells, and processed bone marrow derivésl €alr future success will depend on our
ability to maintain a competitive position with pest to technological advances. Technological dgraknts by others may result in our
MultiStem product platform and technologies, aslhaglour pharmaceutical formulations, becoming t#iso

We are subject to significant competition from phaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic compamieademic and research institutions,
government or other publicly funded agencies thatparsuing or may pursue the development of theertip products and technologies that are
substantially similar to our proposed therapeutadpcts and technologies, or that otherwise addhesmdications we are pursuing. Our most
significant competitors include major pharmaceutixanpanies such as Pfizer, Roche, Johnson & JohiS&mofi and GlaxoSmithKline, as
well as smaller biotechnology or biopharmaceutizahpanies such as Celgene, Osiris, Aastrom, Stdim I@e., Cytori, Mesoblast, Pluristem,
Arena Pharmaceuticals, and Vivus. Most of our cutremd potential competitors have substantiallatgeresearch and development
capabilities and financial, scientific, regulatonyanufacturing, marketing, sales, human resouesesgexperience than we do. Many of our
competitors have several therapeutic productstitreg already been developed, approved and sucltgssfinmercialized, or are in the proc

of obtaining regulatory approval for their therapeproducts in the United States and internatilgnal
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Many of these companies have substantially greatgital resources, research and development resoand experience, manufacturing
capabilities, regulatory expertise, sales and niergegesources, established relationships with gomes products companies and production
facilities.

Universities and public and private research instihs are also potential competitors. While thegmnizations primarily have educational
objectives, they may develop proprietary techn@sgelated to stem cells or secure patent protetiiat we may need for the development of
our technologies and products. We may attemptémie these proprietary technologies, but thesadis may not be available to us on
acceptable terms, if at all. Our competitors, eitilene or with their collaborative partners, mageeed in developing technologies or products
that are more effective, safer, more affordablmore easily commercialized than ours, and our coitopg may obtain intellectual property
protection or commercialize products sooner thamaeDevelopments by others may render our proclmtlidates or our technologies
obsolete.

Our current product discovery and development bollators are not prohibited from entering into eesk and development collaboration
agreements with third parties in any product fi€dr failure to compete effectively would have gnéficant adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We will use hazardous and biological materials inrdbusiness. Any claims relating to improper hanagj, storage or disposal of these
materials could be time consuming and costly.

Our products and processes will involve the colgdbstorage, use and disposal of certain hazaralodidiological materials and waste
products. We and our suppliers and other collabosatre subject to federal, state and local reguisigoverning the use, manufacture, stor
handling and disposal of materials and waste prsd&ven if we and these suppliers and collabasatomply with the standards prescribed by
law and regulation, the risk of accidental contaatiom or injury from hazardous materials cannottmpletely eliminated. In the event of an
accident, we could be held liable for any damabatresult, and any liability could exceed the tgrar fall outside the coverage of any
insurance we may obtain and exceed our financs&@ukees. We may not be able to maintain insurancecoeptable terms, or at all. We may
incur significant costs to comply with current atdre environmental laws and regulations.

If we acquire products, technologies or other buesses, we will incur a variety of costs, may havegration difficulties and may
experience numerous other risks that could adveysaffect our business.

To remain competitive, we may decide to acquirdtamdl businesses, products and technologies. Weistly have no commitments or
agreements with respect to, and are not activeligisg, any material acquisitions. We have limitegdexience in identifying acquisition targe
successfully acquiring them and integrating theta our current infrastructure. We may not be ablsuccessfully integrate any businesses,
products, technologies or personnel that we mightie in the future without a significant expendi of operating, financial and management
resources, if at all. In addition, future acqu@its could require significant capital infusions aodld involve many risks, including, but not
limited to the following:

* we may have to issue convertible debt or equityistes to complete an acquisition, which wouldutdl our stockholders and could
adversely affect the market price of our commouglst

e an acquisition may negatively impact our resultsdrations because it may require us to incuelarg-time charges to earning
amortize or write down amounts related to goodarnill other intangible assets, or incur or assumstantial debt or liabilities, or it
may cause adverse tax consequences, substantiati@deion or deferred compensation chart

* we may encounter difficulties in assimilating antegrating the business, technologies, productsppeel or operations of
companies that we acquil
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« certain acquisitions may disrupt our relationshithvexisting collaborators who are competitivehie ticquired busines

* acquisitions may require significant capital infuss and the acquired businesses, products or tleghie® may not genera
sufficient revenue to offset acquisition cos

* an acquisition may disrupt our ongoing businesgirtliresources, increase our expenses and distrachanagemen
* acquisitions may involve the entry into a geograpibusiness market in which we have little opnior experience; an
» key personnel of an acquired company may decidéonwbrk for us

Any of the foregoing risks could have a significadiverse effect on our business, financial condlitind results of operations.

To the extent we enter markets outside of the Uditates, our business will be subject to politicadonomic, legal and social risks in those
markets, which could adversely affect our business.

There are significant regulatory and legal barriensiarkets outside the United States that we mwustcome to the extent we enter or attempt
to enter markets in countries other than the Urfades. We will be subject to the burden of cormglyvith a wide variety of national and
local laws, including multiple and possibly oventémg and conflicting laws. We also may experieniéicdlties adapting to new cultures,
business customs and legal systems. Any salespardtmns outside the United States would be stubjpguolitical, economic and social
uncertainties including, among others:

» changes and limits in import and export contr

* increases in custom duties and tari

» changes in currency exchange ra

» economic and political instability

» changes in government regulations and le

» absence in some jurisdictions of effective lawprmtect our intellectual property rights; a

» currency transfer and other restrictions and reguila that may limit our ability to sell certainqaiucts or repatriate profits to the
United States

Any changes related to these and other factorsialersely affect our business to the extent vier enarkets outside the United States.

Foreign governments often impose strict price cavlr on approved products, which may adversely dffaar future profitability in those
countries, and the re-importation of drugs to thenied States from foreign countries that impose ggicontrols may adversely affect our
future profitability.

Frequently foreign governments impose strict pciagtrols on newly approved therapeutic productadfobtain regulatory approval to sell
products in foreign countries, we may be unableltiin a price that provides an adequate finametakn on our investment. Furthermore,
legislation in the United States may permit re-imi@tion of drugs from foreign countries into theitéd States, including re-importation from
foreign countries where the drugs are sold at Iqwiges than in the United States due to foreigregument-mandated price controls. Such a
practice, especially if it is conducted on a widesgl basis, may significantly reduce our poteftdigited States revenues from any drugs that
we are able to develop.
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If we elect not to sell our products in foreign cotries that impose government mandated price cotgreecause we decide it
uneconomical to do so, a foreign government or pateffice may attempt to terminate our intellectuptoperty rights in that country,
enabling competitors to make and sell our products.

In some cases we may choose not to sell a prodacfareign country because it is uneconomicaldea@ under a system of government-
imposed price controls, or because it could seydireit our profitability in the United States otler markets. In such cases, a foreign
government or patent office may terminate any letéhal property rights we may obtain with respgedhat product. Such a termination could
enable competitors to produce and sell our proututttat market. Furthermore, such products mayxperted into the United States through
legislation that authorizes the importation of drdiggm outside the United States. In such an evemtnay have to reduce our prices, or we
may be unable to compete with low-cost providerswfdrugs, and we could be financially harmed eesalt.

We may encounter difficulties managing our growtivhich could adversely affect our business.

At various times we have experienced periods afirgmpwth in our employee numbers as a resultddaanatic increase in activity in
technology programs, genomics programs, collabgragsearch programs, discovery programs, and sifageerations. At other times, we
have had to reduce staff in order to bring our esps in line with our financial resources. Our sssowill also depend on the ability of our
officers and key employees to continue to improweaperational capabilities and our managementin&ion and financial control systems,
and to expand, train and manage our work force.

We may be sued for product liability, which couldersely affect our business.

Because our business strategy involves the develnpand sale by either us or our collaboratoroaimercial products, we may be sued for
product liability. We may be held liable if any plect we develop and commercialize, or any productcollaborators commercialize that
incorporates any of our technology, causes injurg éound otherwise unsuitable during productitgstmanufacturing, marketing, sale or
consumer use. In addition, the safety studies wst perform and the regulatory approvals requirecbtmmercialize our pharmaceutical
products, will not protect us from any such liahili

We carry product liability insurance that incluaeserage for human clinical trials. Currently, vaery a $5 million per event, $5 million
annual aggregate coverage for both our produdisitiapolicy and our clinical trials protection. 8Valso intend to seek product liability
insurance for any approved products that we magldpwor acquire. However, in the event there aoelpet liability claims against us, our
insurance may be insufficient to cover the expaeigefending against such claims, or may be insigffit to pay or settle such claims.
Furthermore, we may be unable to obtain adequatdupt liability insurance coverage for commercales of any of our approved products. If
such insurance is insufficient to protect us, @suits of operations will suffer. If any produaHility claim is made against us, our reputation
and future sales will be damaged, even if we halegaate insurance coverage.

The availability, manner, and amount of reimbursemtefor our product candidates from government andvate payers are uncertain, and
our inability to obtain adequate reimbursement fany products could severely limit our product sales

We expect that many of the patients who seek treattmvith any of our products that are approvediarketing will be eligible for Medicare
benefits. Other patients may be covered by prikiatdth plans. If we are unable to obtain or regiaquate levels of reimbursement from
Medicare or from private health plans, our abiliysell our products will be severely limited. Téygplication of existing Medicare regulations
and interpretive coverage and payment determinatomewly approved products is uncertain and thegelations and interpretive
determinations are subject to change. The Mediegscription Drug Improvement and Modernization,Actacted in December 2003,
provides for a change in reimbursement methodotbgyreduces the Medicare reimbursement rates &oryrdrugs, which may adversely
affect reimbursement for any products we may dguditedicare regulations and interpretive deterniimeatalso may determine who may be
reimbursed for certain services, and may limitgbel of patients our product candidates are beeglbped to serve.
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Federal, state and foreign governments contingedpose legislation designed to contain or redwzgth care costs. Legislation and
regulations affecting the pricing of products liker potential products may change further or beptatbbefore any of our potential products
approved for marketing. Cost control initiativesdiyvernments or third-party payers could decreasgtice that we receive for any one or all
of our potential products or increase patient amasce to a level that make our products underldpreent become unaffordable. In addition,
government and private health plans persistentylehge the price and cost-effectiveness of thermaperoducts. Accordingly, these third
parties may ultimately not consider any or all of products under development to be cost effectidréch could result in products not being
covered under their health plans or covered onyylatver price. Any of these initiatives or devetggnts could prevent us from successfully
marketing and selling any of our products thategmeroved for commercialization.

Public perception of ethical and social issues somnding the use of adu-derived stem cell technology may limit or discogeathe use of
our technologies, which may reduce the demand for therapeutic products and technologies and redumg revenues.

Our success will depend in part upon our abilitdéeelop therapeutic products incorporating oralisced through our adult-derived stem cell
technology. For social, ethical, or other reasgosernmental authorities in the United States ahdracountries may call for limits on, or
regulation of the use of, aduerived stem cell technologies. Although we douss the more controversial stem cells derived feombryos o
fetuses, claims that adult-derived stem cell tetdigies are ineffective, unethical or pose a datgéne environment may influence public
attitudes. The subject of stem cell technologiegeneral has received negative publicity and apsélic debate in the United States and
some other countries. Ethical and other concernatadur adultderived stem cell technology could materially hhet market acceptance of «
therapeutic products and technologies, resultirdjriminished sales and use of any products we deetalllevelop using adult-derived stem
cells.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal offices are located at 3201 Carndgienue in Cleveland, Ohio. We currently lease apipnately 45,000 square feet of space for
our corporate offices and laboratories, with stEtéie-art laboratory space. The lease began i9 20@ currently expires in March 2013, and
we expect to extend the lease option periods. éntris $267,000 per year and our rental rate hlashenged since the lease inception in 2000.
Also, we currently lease office and laboratory spfr our Belgian subsidiary. The lease currentlyires on December 31, 2012, and we have
an option to renew annually through December 20h4.annual rent in Belgium is subject to adjustradyatsed on an inflationary index. Our
annual rent in Belgium was $93,000 in 2011.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may become subject to varlegal proceedings that are incidental to the @ndirtonduct of our business. Currently,
there are no such proceedings.

ITEM 3A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information under this Item is furnished pursuta Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of RegulatiorKS-

There exists no arrangement or understanding batemeg executive officer and any other person pursteawhich such executive officer was
elected. Each executive officer serves until hie@rsuccessor is elected and qualified.

The following sets forth the name, age, currenttipmsand principal occupation and employment dgtine past five years of our executive
officers.

Gil Van Bokkelen, Ph.D.
Age: 51

Dr. Van Bokkelelhas served as our Chief Executive Officer and @maiir since August 2000. Dr. Van Bokkelen co-found#uersys in
October 1995 and served as Chief Executive Officet Director since Athersys’ founding. Prior to M2306, he also served as Athersys’
President. Dr. Van Bokkelen is the current Chairrobtihe Alliance for Regenerative Medicine, a Wasion D.C. based consortium of
companies, patient advocacy groups, disease foondaand clinical and research institutions tlrat@mmitted to the advancement of the
field of regenerative medicine. He is also the @han of the Board of Governors for the National t8efor Regenerative Medicine, and has
served on a number of other boards, including tleteBhnology Industry Organization’s ECS board ioéctors (from 2001 to 2004, and from
2008 to present). He received his Ph.D. in Genética Stanford University, his B.A. in Economiceifin the University of California at
Berkeley, and his B.A. in Molecular Biology fromettuniversity of California at Berkeley.

William (BJ) Lehmann, Jr., J.D.
Age: 46

Mr. Lehmanrhas served as our President and Chief Operatiriggdfince June 2006. Mr. Lehmann joined AthersySeéptember 2001 and
was Athersys’ Executive Vice President of Corpoidérelopment and Finance from August 2002 untikeJ2006, when he became Athersys’
President and Chief Operating Officer. From 1992001, Mr. Lehmann was with McKinsey & Company,.|ran international management
consulting firm, where he worked extensively witwntechnology and service-based businesses inrth's Business Building practice. Prior
to joining McKinsey, he worked at Wilson, SonsiBipodrich & Rosati, a Silicon Valley law firm, andvked with First Chicago Corporation,
a financial institution. Mr. Lehmann received hiB.Jfrom Stanford University, his M.B.A. from theniversity of Chicago, and his B.A. from
the University of Notre Dame.
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John J. Harrington, Ph.D.
Age: 44

Dr. Harrington has served as our Chief Scientific Officer, Exemii¥ice President and Director since our foundibig.Harrington co-founded
Athersys in October 1995. Dr. Harrington led thgelepment of the RAGE technology as well as itsliapfion for gene discovery, drug
discovery and commercial protein production appiices. He is a listed inventor on over 20 issueganding United States patents, has
authored numerous scientific publications, andrhasived numerous awards for his work, includingp@amed one of the top international
young scientists by MIT Technology Review in 20D2. Harrington has overseen the therapeutic prodereélopment programs at Ather:
since their inception, and during his career, rediso held positions at Amgen and Scripps Clidereceived his B.A. in Biochemistry and
Cell Biology from the University of California aia8 Diego and his Ph.D. in Cancer Biology from StashfUniversity.

Robert J. Deans, Ph.D.
Age: 60

Dr. Deanshas served as our Executive Vice President sint&.20r. Deans has led Athersys’ regenerative medimsearch and development
activities since February 2003, initially as Vicesident of Regenerative Medicine, until he was edu®enior Vice President of Regenerative
Medicine in June 2006, and Executive Vice Presidledune 2011. Dr. Deans is highly regarded ascperéin stem cell therapeutics, with o
fifteen years of experience in this field. From 206 2003, Dr. Deans worked for eadiage biotechnology companies. Dr. Deans was fay
the Vice President of Research at Osiris, a bigteldyy company, from 1998 to 2001 and Director e§&arch and Development with the
Immunotherapy Division of Baxter International, Ina global healthcare company, from 1992 to 1888Deans was also previously on
faculty at USC Medical School in Los Angeles, betwd 981 and 1998, in the departments of Microbipkgd Neurology at the Norris
Comprehensive Cancer Center. Dr. Deans was angnadierate at MIT, received his Ph.D. at the Uniwgrsf Michigan, and did his post-
doctoral work at UCLA in Los Angeles.

Laura K. Campbell, CPA
Age: 48

Ms. Campbelhas served as our Vice President of Finance sinee 2006. Ms. Campbell joined Athersys in Janu&88las Controller and h
served as Vice President of Finance since June. B8 to joining Athersys, she was at Ernst & ¥igl_LP, a public accounting firm, for 11
years, in the firr's audit practice. During her tenure with Ernst &ong LLP, Ms. Campbell specialized in entreprer@srvices and the
biotechnology industry sector and participatedeimesal initial public offerings. Ms. Campbell réeed her B.S., with distinction, in Business
Administration from The Ohio State University.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capitathdaunder the symbol “ATHX.” Set forth below atesthigh and low sale prices for
our common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market fog periods indicated.

High Low

Year ended December 31, 201.:

First Quartel $ 3.0 $ 2.3t
Second Quarte $ 3.1C $ 2.5C
Third Quartel $ 28t $ 1.0C
Fourth Quarte $ 24z $ 1.1z
Year ended December 31, 201!

First Quarte! $ 4.4C $ 2.32
Second Quarte $ 36 $ 2.5¢
Third Quartel $ 358 $ 2.34
Fourth Quarte $ 3.1¢ $ 2.4z

Holders

As of February 29, 2012, the number of holderseobrd was approximately 653. Shares of common gtadkare held by financial institutions
as nominees for beneficial owners are depositedgatticipant accounts at DTC, and are considerdstheld of record by Cede & Co., as one
stockholder.

Dividend Policy

We would have to rely upon dividends and other payis from our wholly owned subsidiary, ABT Holdi@@mpany, to generate the funds
necessary to make dividend payments, if any, orcoommon stock. ABT Holding Company, however, isalggdistinct from us and has no
obligation to pay amounts to us. The ability of AB/®lding Company to make dividend and other paysiémus is subject to, among other
things, the availability of funds and applicablatstlaws. However, there are no restrictions ssajjoaernment regulations or material
contractual arrangements that restrict the alolithBT Holding Company to make dividend and othayments to us. We did not pay cash
dividends on our common stock during the past thesgs. We do not anticipate that we will pay aiwdé&nds on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. Rather, we anticipate that leetain earnings, if any, for use in the devetmmt of our business
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datg
Revenues

Contract revenu

Grant revenu
Total revenue
Costs and expense

Research and developmt

General and administrati\

Depreciatior

Loss from operation

Other (expense) incom

Other (expense) income, r

Interest incom

Interest expens

Accretion of premium on convertible de
Net loss
Preferred stock dividenc
Deemed dividend resulting from induced conversiboamvertible

preferred stocl

Net loss attributable to common stockholder:

Basic and diluted net loss per common share attritable to
common stockholders:
Net loss per share

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic antedl

Consolidated Balance Sheet Datz
Cash and cash equivalel
Available-for-sale securities, sh-tem
Working capital

Available-for-sale securities, lor-term
Total asset

Warrant liability

Total stockholder equity

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
$ 9,01t $ 6,685 $ 1,07¢ $ 1,88( $ 1,43¢
1,32¢ 2,25¢ 1,08( 1,22t 1,827
10,34« 8,93¢ 2,15¢ 3,10t 3,26(
18,93( 14,77¢ 11,92( 16,50( 15,817
4,91¢ 5,381 5,621 5,47¢ 7,97¢
27¢ 284 233 21€ 28¢
(13,780 (11,517 (15,615 (19,097 (20,815
(51) (69) (126) 48 2,017
85 208 37t 1,14¢ 1,591
— — — (94) (1,267)
— — — — (45€)
$ (13,740 $ (11,37) $ (15366 $ (17,99) $ (18,926
— — — — (65¢)
— — — — (4,800)
$ (13,740 $  (11,37) $ (15360 $ (17,99) $  (24,38Y)
$ (0.59 $ (0.60) $ (0.81) $ (0.95) $ (2.26)
23,239,01 18,929,74 18,928,37 18,927,98 10,811,11

December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
$ 8,78t $ 2,10t $ 11,167 $ 12,55: $ 13,24¢
3,99¢ 13,07¢ 10,13¢ 15,46( 22,47
6,98¢ 9,10¢ 16,29: 26,78¢ 32,84¢
— — 5,08( 3,601 13,85(
15,70: 19,10¢ 28,33: 33,87 52,22¢
98: — — — —
7,29¢ 9,00t 18,957 31,56: 47,63
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and arialigsconjunction with “Item 8. Financial Statememind Supplementary Data” included
below in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Overview and Recent Developments

We are an international biopharmaceutical comphayit focused in the field of regenerative medicWe have established a portfolio of
therapeutic product development programs to addigs#ficant unmet medical needs in multiple ar&s: current clinical development
programs are focused on treating inflammatory & itmendisorders, neurological conditions, cardioviesalisease, and other conditions. We
are developing our lead platform product, MultiStenpatented and proprietary allogeneic stem cetlyct that has been evaluated in two
completed Phase | clinical trials and is currebiyng evaluated in ongoing Phase Il clinical triflée are also applying our pharmaceutical
discovery capabilities to identify and develop dmadlecule compounds with potential applicationgnigications such as obesity, related
metabolic conditions and certain neurological ctiads, and for the modulation of stem cells or tedlaapplications in the regenerative
medicine area.

Current Programs

By applying our proprietary MultiStem cell therapgoduct, we have established therapeutic produetldpment programs treating
inflammatory & immune disorders, neurological cdimtis, cardiovascular disease, and other conditiboglate, we have advanced five
programs to the clinical development stage, incigdhe following:

* Inflammatory Bowel DiseaseMultiStem is being evaluated in an ongoing PHasénical study involving administration of
MultiStem to patients suffering from ulcerativeitis| the most common form of IBD. This study igrimeconducted with our partner,
Pfizer. This trial began enrolling patients in Redoy 2011 and is expected to enroll approximat8ly fatients. Enrollment of this trial is
expected to be completed late in 2012.

* Ischemic Stroke We recently initiated a Phase Il clinical studyetvaluate the administration of MultiStem to paiti$ethat have
suffered an ischemic stroke, an area of significammbet clinical need. In preclinical studies, adstiation of a single dose of MultiStem,
even several days after a stroke, resulted infiignit and durable improvements. We will evalu&ie potential clinical benefits of
MultiStem in this ongoing double blind, placebo trotied trial being conducted at leading stroketeenacross the United States. The
study is expected to include approximately 140gvei$i, and patient enrollment was initiated lat2dfil and is ongoing.

 Acute Myocardial Infarction We have evaluated the administration of MultiSiara Phase | clinical study to patients that have
suffered an AMI. In July 2010, we announced pretiamy results for this study, demonstrating a fabteaafety profile and encouraging
signs of improvement in heart function among pasi¢hat exhibited severely compromised heart femggirior to treatment and who
received treatment after experiencing a heartlatiad this study has been completed. One-yeanialip data suggested that the benefit
observed was sustained over time. We are currplgtning for Phase I, which has been discussel tié¢ FDA. In light of the recent
termination of our license and collaboration agreenhwith Angiotech late in 2011, we are reviewihg study design, objectives and
expected timelines to streamline the study whessipte and to ensure optimal alignment with ouracamg clinical development, busine
development and financial objectives.

» Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant / GviHl/e have completed a Phase | clinical study oftlministration of MultiStem to
patients suffering from leukemia or certain othkeolk-borne cancers in which patients undergo remtiaherapy and then receive a
hematopoietic stem cell transplant. Such patiersarisk for serious complications, including G¥Han imbalance of immune system
function caused by transplanted immune cells thiatk various tissues and organs in the patier20lil and in February 2012, we
released preliminary data from the study, which destrated the safety of MultiStem in this indicatend suggested that MultiStem may
have a beneficial effect in reducing incidence sexerity of GVHD, as well as other benefits. Thisgvam has been assigned orphan
designation from the FDA. We intend to meet wite BEDA, in the spring of 2012 to discuss potenttians for additional clinical
development in this area.
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We are also collaborating with a leading transptaotp at the University of Regensburg in Germdra has recently obtained authorizatiol
initiate an institutional sponsored clinical tredploring the administration of MultiStem in patierfiollowing a liver transplant.

In addition to our current and anticipated clinidalelopment activities, we are engaged in prezdirdevelopment and evaluation of
MultiStem in other disease indications in the cawveiscular, neurological, inflammatory & immune dader areas. We conduct such work both
through our own internal research efforts and tghoa broad network of collaborations we have eistadd with investigators at leading
research institutions across the United StatesraBdrope.

We are also working with our collaborator, RTldevelop products for certain orthopedic applicaionthe bone graft substitutes market
using our stem cell technologies.

We are also engaged in the development of novell sna¢ecule therapies to treat obesity and otherdions. Currently, we are focused on
development of potent, highly selective compouihds &ct through stimulation of a specific recefathe brain, the S5SHT2c serotonin receptor.
We are conducting preclinical evaluation of nov@hpounds that we have developed that exhibit culigtg receptor selectivity and are
working towards the selection of a clinical devetemt candidate for this program. We may elect tereinto a partnership to advance the
development of this program.

Financial

We have incurred losses since inception of operatio 1995 and had an accumulated deficit of $2illlomat December 31, 2011. Our losses
have resulted principally from costs incurred ise&ch and development, clinical and preclinicatpct development, acquisition and
licensing costs, and general and administrativésassociated with our operations. We have usefirthecing proceeds from private equity
and debt offerings and other sources of capitdeteelop our technologies, to discover and devéiepaipeutic product candidates, develop
business collaborations and to acquire certaimigogies and assets.

In March 2012, we completed a private placemenegiing net proceeds of approximately $8.0 milliorough the issuance of 4,347,827
shares of common stock and five-year warrants tohase 4,347,827 shares of common stock with arciereprice of $2.07 per share. The
securities were sold in multiples of a fixed congtian of one share of common stock and a warraptitohase one share of common stock at
an offering price of $2.07 per fixed combinatiom.connection with this offering, our former lendersre entitled to a milestone payment in the
amount of $0.9 million, of which 75% was settledbiigh the issuance of our common stock at $1.94lpere to the former lenders at our
election.

In November 2011, we entered into a purchase agreewith Aspire Capital, which provides that Asp@apital is committed to purchase up
to an aggregate of $20.0 million of shares of ammon stock over a two-year term, subject to oect@n to sell any such shares, and the
terms and conditions set forth therein. Under tineipase agreement, we have the right to sell shsubgect to certain volume limitations and a
minimum floor price, at a modest discount to thevaiiling market price. As part of the agreemenpifesCapital made an initial investment of
$1.0 million in us through the purchase of 666,66&res of our common stock at $1.50 per sharereaived 266,667 additional shares as
compensation for its commitment. In connection s initial investment, our former lenders wenditbed to a milestone payment in the
amount of $100,000, of which $25,000 was paid shaand $75,000 was paid through the issuance af@mumon stock to the former lenders
at our election at $1.50 per share in November 2012012, we sold an additional 200,000 sharesspuire Capital at an average price of $:
per share and made milestone payments amount®@jrt000, of which $9,000 was paid in cash and $#Bwas paid through the issuance of
our common stock to the former lenders at our &lectn March 2012, in connection with the privatacement financing, we agreed not to
any shares of common stock, including to Aspirei@ipntil the earlier of the 180 day after thesihg date or the 30 day after the resale
registration statement covering the resale of kiages sold in the financing is declared effective.

In February 2011, we completed a registered doffeting of 4,366,667 shares of common stock ane-fiear warrants to purchase 1,310,000
shares of common stock with an exercise price d%Ber share, generating net proceeds of $11l1Bmilhe securities were sold in multip

of a fixed combination of one share of common stac# a warrant to purchase 0.3 of a share of constomk at an offering price of $3.00 per
fixed combination.
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In connection with this offering, our former lendavere entitled to a milestone payment in the arhofi§i810,000, of which 75% was settled
through the issuance of our common stock to theaéodenders at our election.

During 2011, we were awarded grants aggregatingoappately $800,000 for projects spanning overrthgt few years, including our alliance
with Fast Forward, LLC, or Fast Forward. In eardi2, we were awarded grant funding aggregating $@lén to further advance our
MultiStem programs and cell therapy platform, imthg further development of MultiStem for the treant of TBI and further development of
our cell therapy formulations and manufacturingatalities. The sources of funding including fedesthte, European and private organizat
and are generally aimed at the advancement of reatipical MultiStem programs and MultiStem procdsselopment.

Results of Operations

Since our inception, our revenues have consistedmfact revenues and milestone payments froncallaborators, and grant proceeds
primarily from federal and state grants. We havévee no revenue from therapeutic products to daésearch and development expenses
consist primarily of external clinical and prectial study fees, manufacturing costs, salaries eladed personnel costs, legal expenses res
from intellectual property prosecution processasility costs, and laboratory supply and reagestdNe expense research and development
costs as they are incurred. We expect to contioueake significant investments in research andldpugent to enhance our technologies,
advance clinical trials of our product candidateggand our regulatory affairs and product develagroapabilities, conduct preclinical studies
of our product and manufacture our product cand&labeneral and administrative expenses consiagply of salaries and related personnel
costs, professional fees and other corporate ergeMge expect to continue to incur substantiakdesrough at least the next several years.

The following table sets forth our revenues andeeses for the periods indicated. The followingealdre stated in thousands.

Revenues
Year ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Contract revenu $ 9,01t $ 6,688 $ 1,07¢
Grant revenu 1,32¢ 2,25¢ 1,08(

$ 10,34« $ 893 $ 2,15¢
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Research and development expenses

Year ended December 31

Type of expense¢ 2011 2010 2009

Personnel costs $ 4,641 $ 4,12 $ 3,607
Research supplie 1,31¢ 1,21¢ 907
Facilities 944 87C 82€
Clinical and preclinical development co 7,498 4,39¢ 1,90¢
Sponsored researt 1,40¢ 1,14¢ 87¢&
Patent legal fee 1,70z 1,477 1,351
Other 1,21¢ 1,00z 1,151
Stoclk-based compensatic 20E 54k 1,29¢

$ 18,93( $ 14,77¢  $ 11,92(

General and administrative expenses

Year ended December 31,

Type of expense 2011 2010 2009

Personnel costs $ 1927 $ 1897 $ 1,97¢
Facilities 27C 27¢ 29¢
Legal and professional fe 1,00¢ 1,007 91¢€
Other 1,36¢ 1,28: 91¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 347 921 1,512

$ 491¢ $ 5387 § 5,621

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2010

RevenuesRevenues increased to $10.3 million for the yededrDecember 31, 2011 from $8.9 million for 2010r Gontract revenues reflect
the amortization of Pfizer payments, including a0$®@illion non-refundable up-front license fee,gasch and development funding, and
payments for manufacturing services over the estichperformance period, as well as the amortizaifan$3.0 million guaranteed license fee
from the RTI collaboration over the estimated perfance period. Our contract revenues may alsodedlicense fees, milestone payments and
royalties on compounds developed by Bristol-MyegsiBb using one of our technologies. Contract reedncreased $2.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011 compared to the year édelsember 31, 2010 primarily as a result of ourrageanents with Pfizer and RTI. The
estimated performance period under the Pfizer ganarent ends mid-2012 and the RTI performance pevassicompleted in 2011. Therefore,
we expect our contract revenues to decline in ¢étersd half of 2012, absent any new collaboratiand, will be comprised primarily of
manufacturing service revenue under the Pfizengament and potential RTI milestone payments. Gergnue decreased $0.9 million for
year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the pdadedecember 31, 2010 primarily due to the tinthgxpenditures that are reimburs
with grant proceeds and a grant received in Octab&6 from the Internal Revenue Service undersed8D of the Internal Revenue Code
aggregating $733,000 for qualifying therapeuticdigry investments. Our grant revenues may fluetfram period to period based on the
timing of grant-related activities and the awardefv grants.

Research and Development Exper. Research and development expenses increase8.®$ilion for the year ended December 31, 2011
from $14.8 million in 2010. The increase of approately $4.1 million related primarily to an increas clinical and preclinical development
costs of $3.1 million, an increase in personnetco6$517,000, an increase in sponsored reseasth of $259,000, an increase in patent legal
fees of $226,000, an increase in other costs 08920, and an increase in research supply andtieeitosts of $172,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2011 compared to 2010. These increagespartially offset by a decrease in stock-basedpensation expense of $340,000,
which declined as a result of a significant numidfesptions becoming fully vested in 2010. The ims® in clinical and preclinical developm:
costs for the year ended December 31, 2011 repatedhrily to costs associated with our MultiStermidal trials, including increased
manufacturing and process development costs. nicall costs for the year ended December 31, 20812810 are reflected net of
Angiotech’s cost-sharing amount of $312,000 andB#B20, respectively. The Angiotech collaboratiorswerminated late in 2011. The
increase in personnel costs related to the addiien the past twelve months of personnel supppdinr preclinical and clinical programs, and
annual merit increases in salaries. Sponsoredneseasts increased primarily due to an increaggant-funded programs that require
collaboration with certain academic research instins. Patent legal fees increased related tonat@nal patent prosecution activities. We
expect our research and development expenses tirreetatively consistent in 2012, but would be ected to increase if we receive proceeds
from additional financing or business developmentitvities. Other than external expenses for ouricdil and preclinical programs, we do not
track our research expenses by project; rathetraek such expenses by the type of cost incurred.
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General and Administrative Expens€&general and administrative expenses decreased3aridion in 2011 from $5.4 million in 2010. The
$471,000 decrease in 2011 compared to 2010 waprduarily to a decrease in stock-based compensatipense of $574,000 from a
significant number of options becoming fully veste®010, partially offset by an increase in otbepenses of $81,000. We expect our general
and administrative expenses to continue at sirelzls in 2012.

Depreciation.Depreciation expense remained fairly consiste®2&@8,000 in 2011 and $284,000 in 2010.

Interest Income Interest income represents interest earned onaslr and available-for-sale securities. Interesirime decreased to $85,000 in
2011 from $203,000 in 2010 due to the decline iniovestment balances as they are used to fundpenations. We expect our 2012 interest
income to reflect the impact of declining cash beks resulting from our ongoing and planned clirécal preclinical development, and intel
earned on proceeds from any new financings or basitransactions.

Other Expense, neOther expense, net, includes foreign currencyggaid losses related to our activities in Europkamy realized gains and
losses on the sale of our assets. Also includedhier expense in 2011 are milestone payments aaingds910,000 to our former lenders that
was paid in connection with our February 2011 tegéd direct offering and our Aspire Capital equitychase agreement, 75% of which was
settled in shares of common stock. Also includedanother income is $812,000 recorded in 2011ecthg a decrease in the warrant liability
that resulted from our February 2011 registeredatlioffering, with changes in market value refldcs either other income or expense.

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2009

RevenuesRevenues increased to $8.9 million for the yeaedridecember 31, 2010 from $2.2 million for 2009nact revenue increased
$5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 20dfgared to the year ended December 31, 2009 phnaaria result of our collaboration
with Pfizer that we entered into in December 2008 aur collaboration with RTI that we entered iintd&September 2010. Contract revenues
the year ended December 31, 2010 primarily con$igte recognition of revenue from these multi-edetnarrangements. Grant revenue
increased $1.2 million for the year ended Decer8tie2010 compared to the year ended December 89, @@marily due a grant received in
October 2010 from the Internal Revenue Service useetion 48D of the Internal Revenue Code aggireg&733,000 for qualifying
therapeutic discovery investments, as well as exhdit new grants that began late in 2009 and ir0201

Research and Development Exper. Research and development expenses increased.®éillion for the year ended December 31, 2010
from $11.9 million in 2009. The increase of approately $2.9 million related primarily to an increas clinical and preclinical development
costs of $2.5 million, an increase in personnetco§$517,000, an increase in research supply ads311,000 and an increase in sponsored
research costs of $271,000 for the year ended Ds=e81, 2010 compared to 2009. These increasespaetially offset by a decrease in
stock-based compensation expense of $751,000, wleidined as a result of a significant number dfams becoming fully vested mid-2010.
The increase in clinical and preclinical developimagsts for the year ended December 31, 2010 cefatenarily to increased manufacturing
and process development costs, and costs assowidgibeaiur MultiStem clinical trials. Our clinicalosts for the year ended December 31, 2010
and 2009 are reflected net of Angiotech’s costisgaamount of $628,000 and $847,000, respectivigdg. increase in personnel costs and
research supplies related to the addition of pemsloin support of our preclinical and clinical prams and regulatory affairs. Sponsored
research costs increased primarily due to giamted programs that require collaboration withtaieracademic research institutions. Other
external expenses for our clinical and preclinpralgrams, we do not track our research expensesdjgct; rather, we track such expenses by
the type of cost incurred.
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General and Administrative Expens€&general and administrative expenses decreased4arilion in 2010 from $5.6 million in 2009. The
$234,000 decrease was due primarily to a decreastedk-based compensation expense of $591,00ljyaoffset by an increase in other
expenses of $364,000 in 2010 compared to 2009d&brease in stock-based compensation expensedrédadesignificant number of options
becoming fully vested mid-2010. The increase ireottxpenses for 2010 was primarily a result oféased investor and public relations costs
and travel costs.

Depreciation.Depreciation expense increased to $284,000 in 2010 $233,000 in 2009. The increase in depreciatixpense was due to
depreciation on capital purchases made in 2010.

Other Expense, nencluded in other expense are impairment loss&6f000 and $115,000 in 2010 and 2009, respectivigted to an
investment in a privately-held company.

Interest Incomelnterest income decreased to $203,000 in 2010 $8%5,000 in 2009. The change in interest incomeduasto the decline in
cash and investment balances during the periodeXgect our 2011 interest income to continue atlaimevels in 2011, taking into
consideration the expected increase in our clirdezkelopment costs in 2011 and the investmenteopthceeds from the February 2011
registered direct offering.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our sources of liquidity include our cash balarmed available-for-sale securities. At December281.,1, we had $8.8 million in cash and cash
equivalents and $4.0 million in available-for-sa&urities. We have primarily financed our operatithrough business collaborations, grant
funding and equity financings. We conduct all of operations through our subsidiary, ABT Holdingn@any. Consequently, our ability to
fund our operations depends on ABT Holding Compsaffiipancial condition and its ability to make digitd payments or other cash
distributions to us. There are no restrictions saglgovernment regulations or material contracua@ngements that restrict the ability of ABT
Holding Company to make dividend and other paymentss.

In March 2012, we completed a private placemenegiing net proceeds of approximately $8.0 milliorough the issuance of 4,347,827
shares of common stock and five-year warrants tohase 4,347,827 shares of common stock with artisgeprice of $2.07 per share. The
securities were sold in multiples of a fixed congtion of one share of common stock and a warraptitohase one share of common stock at
an offering price of $2.07 per fixed combinatiom.connection with this offering, our former lendersre entitled to a milestone payment in the
amount of $0.9 million, of which 75% was settledotigh the issuance of our common stock at $1.94lpere to the former lenders at our
election.

In November 2011, we entered into a purchase agreewith Aspire Capital, which provides that AspBapital is committed to purchase up
to an aggregate of $20.0 million of shares of @mmmon stock over a two-year term, subject to oectedn to sell any such shares, and the
terms and conditions set forth therein. Under tineipase agreement, we have the right to sell shsubgect to certain volume limitations and a
minimum floor price, at a modest discount to thevailing market price. As part of the agreemenpifesCapital made an initial investment of
$1.0 million in us through the purchase of 666,86@res of our common stock at $1.50 per sharereaived 266,667 additional shares as
compensation for its commitment. In connection wfitis initial investment, our former lenders wenditded to a milestone payment in the
amount of $100,000, of which $25,000 was paid shaand $75,000 was paid through the issuance af@mumon stock to the former lenders
at our election at $1.50 per share in November 2012012, we sold an additional 200,000 sharessmire Capital at an average price of $:
per share and made milestone payments amount®gjt@00, of which 75% was settled through the isseaf our common stock to the
former lenders at our election. In March 2012,dnmection with the private placement financing,ageeed not to sell any shares of common
stock, including to Aspire Capital, until the earlof the 180" day after the closing date or thé 88y after the resale registration statement
covering the resale of the shares sold in the Gimanis declared effective.

In February 2011, we completed a registered doffeting generating net proceeds of $11.8 millibrotigh the issuance of 4,366,667 share
common stock and five-year warrants to purchase0l0®0 shares of common stock with an exercisemi&3.55 per share. The securities
were sold in multiples of a fixed combination ofeasshare of common stock and a warrant to purch&sef@ share of common stock at an
offering price of $3.00 per fixed combination. lonmection with this offering, our former lendersreventitled to a milestone payment in the
amount of $810,000, of which 75% was settled thhotlng issuance of our common stock to the formeddes at our election.
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Our former lenders retain a right to receive a stdae payment of $1.3 million as of December 31,12@fter taking into account the payment
of $810,000 in conjunction with our February 20&distered direct offering, and $100,000 in conjiorctvith the initial Aspire Capital
investment. After the completion of the March 2@t®ate placement and two additional sales of comstock to Aspire Capital in the first
quarter of 2012, the milestone balance was redtec#0.4 million. No amounts were recorded for thiestone in 2010 or 2009. Further
payments will be made upon the occurrence of ceeaents as follows: (1) the entire amount upornif@)merger with or into another entity
where our stockholders do not hold at least a ritgjof the voting power of the surviving entity,)(the sale of all or substantially all of our
assets, or (c) our liquidation or dissolution; 2y & portion of the amount from proceeds of edfiitgncings not tied to specific research and
development activities that are part of a researafevelopment collaboration, in which case, tmelégs will receive an amount equal to 10%
of proceeds above $5.0 million in cumulative grnossceeds until the milestone amount is paid in flile milestone payment is payable in
cash, except that if the milestone event is (2abwe may elect to pay 75% of the milestone ireshaf common stock at the per-share
offering price. The senior lenders also receivedsgear warrants to purchase 149,026 shares of constoeck with an exercise price of $5.
upon the closing of our equity offering in June 20The exercise of such warrants could provide itls @ash proceeds. No warrants were
exercised at December 31, 2011.

Under the terms of our agreement with Pfizer, veeiree research funding and support, and we aresdifsible to receive milestone payments
of up to $105 million upon the successful achieveinoé certain development, regulatory and commémitestones, though there can be no
assurance that we will achieve any milestones.ibtuficant milestone payments have been receivenf &ecember 31, 2011. Pfizer pays us
for manufacturing product for clinical developmamnid commercialization purposes. Pfizer has respiitgifor development, regulatory and
commercialization and will pay us tiered royalt@sworldwide commercial sales of MultiStem IBD puatk. Alternatively, in lieu of royalties
and certain commercialization milestones, we maygtdb co-develop with Pfizer and the parties slilire development and commercialization
expenses and profits/losses on an agreed basisniegiat Phase Il clinical development.

In November 2011, we reached an agreement withdkegh to terminate the collaboration agreementliardse between the parties, reflec
a change in Angiotech’s business and financiateggsa As a result of the termination, we regaineshership of all rights for developing our
stem cell technologies and products for cardioviasalisease indications, including AMI, congestigart failure, chronic ischemia, and
peripheral vascular disease, and Angiotech no lohgg any license rights or options with respectuntechnologies and products. Angiotech
made its final cost-sharing payment in 2011 in emtion with collaboration activities and has nalfier obligations to us. Though the
termination will affect our future costs of devetopnt for ongoing cardiovascular programs, suchl$ A significantly improves our ability

to explore cardiovascular and more comprehensillabmrative development and commercialization ageaments with other pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and medical products companies. érctise of a new AMI collaboration, Angiotech will entitled to a future payment from us
equal to a percentage of cash license fee paymentsceive within the first six months from a thjpdrty related to such AMI collaboration,
and is not entitled to other downstream paymentsh ss milestone payments, royalties or any pstfaring payments. The future payment, if
any, will be either (i) 25% of thirgrarty license fees if an AMI collaboration is editgtied prior to the initiation of enrollment in &d&se 1| AMI
clinical trial and within 12 months of the termiitat agreement, (ii) 15% of third-party license féfean AMI collaboration is established after
the initiation of enrollment in a Phase Il AMI dloal trial, but before we have spent $5.0 milliantbe clinical trial, and within 24 months of
the termination agreement, or (iii) 10% of thirdiydicense fees up to a maximum of $5.0 milliorAtagiotech if an AMI collaboration is
established after the initiation of enroliment iRlaase Il AMI clinical trial, and after we have sp85.0 million on the clinical trial, and within
36 months of the termination agreement.

Under the terms of our RTI agreement, we recei&@ #illion of guaranteed license fee paymentsaedentitled to an additional $2.0 milli
of license fee payments contingent on future evélitsare also eligible to receive an additional.$38illion in cash payments upon the
successful achievement of certain development armdrercial milestones, though there can be no asseithat we will achieve any
milestones. None of these milestone payments heee teceived as of December 31, 2011. In additvenyill receive tiered royalties on
worldwide commercial sales of implants using oght®logies.
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We will remain entitled to receive license feestlimgets that were delivered to Bristol-Myers Squilmder our completed 2001 collaboration,
as well as milestone payments and royalties on coimgls developed by Bristol-Myers Squibb using eshhology, though there can be no
assurance that we will achieve any such milestonesyalties. As of December 31, 2011, we haveiveckan aggregate amount of $1.7
million in milestone payments and $9.1 million iceinse fees since the inception of our collabonatvih Bristol-Myers Squibb.

Our available-for-sale securities typically includaited States government obligations and corpatake securities. As of December 31, 2011,
100% of our investments were in United States gavent obligations. We have been investing conserlgitdue to the ongoing economic
conditions and have prioritized liquidity and thregervation of principal in lieu of potentially Inigr returns. As a result, we have experienced
no losses on the principal of our investments amndeheld our investments until maturity. Also, aligh the unfavorable market and economic
conditions have resulted in a decrease to our rhadgtalization, there has been no impairmenhéovalue of our assets. Our fixed assets are
used for internal research and development antkftive, are not impacted by these external factors.

We will require substantial additional funding irder to continue our research and product developpr®grams, including preclinical
evaluation and clinical trials of our product catates. At December 31, 2011, we had available casth, equivalents and investments of $.
million. Taking into account the March 2012 finamgiand assuming no new financings or collaboratésrsbased on our current business and
operational plans, we expect to have available tafind our planned operations into the first ¢eraof 2013. However, we expect to have
access to additional capital through business dewednt opportunities, which we are actively explignvith multiple potential collaborators,
well as grant-funding opportunities. We will contento explore and consider new opportunities fadfag our operations through grants and
business partnerships involving our technologies@oduct candidates. Additionally, we expect igseaapital over the next twelve months
accessing the capital markets through the salguifye including through the purchase agreemert Wipire Capital. In March 2012, in
connection with the private placement financing,ageeed not to sell any shares of common stockydintg to Aspire Capital, until the earlier
of the 180" day after the closing date or the"30 aftar the resale registration statement covetiegésale of the shares sold in the financing
is declared effective. Further, we may considearalitive financing approaches, such as ventureatahtough the issuance of convertible
securities. Although no assurance on the futureesgcof the aforementioned actions can be providedlso manage our cash through
deferring certain discretionary costs and stagiitedevelopment costs to extend our operatiorrahay, if needed. Our capital requirements
over time depend on a number of factors, inclugiragress in our clinical development programs,adimical and preclinical pipeline of
additional opportunities and their stage of develept, additional external costs such as contraetareh organizations and contract
manufacturing organizations, additional personostg; and the costs in filing and prosecuting geapplications and enforcing patent claims.
The availability of funds impacts our ability tovathce multiple clinical programs concurrently, amy shortfall in funding could result in our
having to delay or curtail research and developraéfotts. Further, these requirements may changetime due to technological advances,
business development activity or competition frameo companies. We cannot assure you that adefyrating will be available to us or, if
available, that it will be available on acceptatgiens.

We expect to continue to incur substantial loskBesuigh at least the next several years and may losses in subsequent periods. The amount
and timing of our future losses are highly uncert@ur ability to achieve and thereafter sustaofifability will be dependent upon, among
other things, successfully developing, commerdiadizand obtaining regulatory approval or cleararfoesur technologies and products
resulting from these technologies.

Net cash used in operating activities was $14.5anil$10.6 million and $4.6 million in 2011, 2040d 2009, respectively, and representec
use of cash in funding preclinical and clinical di®pment activities. We expect that net cash usexberating activities will increase in 2012
compared to 2011 in connection with increased rebesnd development expenses of our MultiStemadirtrials and later stage clinical
development.
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Net cash provided by investing activities was $8ilion, $1.5 million and $3.2 million in 2011, 20Jand 2009, respectively. The fluctuatic
from period to period were due to the timing ofghases and maturity dates of investments and ttobhase of equipment. Purchases of
equipment were $590,000, $390,000 and $381,00011,22010 and 2009, respectively. We expect thatapital equipment expenditures v
continue at similar levels in 2012 compared to 2011

Financing activities provided cash of $12.6 millior2011 related to the February 2011 registeregttioffering and the initial Aspire Capital
investment in November 2011, and financing actsitneither used nor provided cash in 2010 and 2009.

Investors in our March 2012 private placement nesxtifive-year warrants to purchase an aggregade3df7,827 shares of common stock with
an exercise price of $2.07 per share. The exeofisach warrants could provide us with cash proseed

Investors in our February 2011 registered direferofg received five-year warrants to purchaseggregate of 1,310,000 shares of common
stock with an exercise price of $3.55 per share. &tercise of such warrants could provide us waghgroceeds. No warrants have been
exercised at December 31, 2011.

Investors in our equity offering in June 2007 reedifive-year warrants to purchase an aggregase2a0,000 shares of common stock with an
exercise price of $6.00 per share. The lead invéstihe June offering received additional five-yaearrants to purchase an aggregate of
500,000 shares of common stock with a cash or essléxercise price of $6.00 per share. The pladesgents for the June 2007 offering
received five-year warrants to purchase an aggeegfat,093,525 shares of common stock with a casilaghless exercise price of $6.00 per
share. Also, investors that participated in a k@ifigancing in 2006 received in the June 2007 oftefive-year warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 132,945 shares of common stock wigtxarcise price of $6.00 per share. The exerciseicti warrants could provide us with
cash proceeds. No warrants have been exerciseeceniber 31, 2011.

In February 2012, we were awarded grant fundingeggging $3.6 million to further advance our Mulé® product programs and cell therapy
platform. Specifically, we were awarded a SmalliBass Innovation Research Fasack grant of up to $1.9 million from the Nationastitute

of Neurological Disorders and Stroke to develop tMitém for the treatment of traumatic brain injuryaddition, our subsidiary based in
Belgium was awarded a $1.2 million (€0.9 milliomagt from Belgium’s Agency for Innovation by Scienand Technology to further develop
cell therapy formulations and manufacturing captds, as well as funding from a local grant to kor other areas, such as using MultiStel
treat chronic cardiovascular disease.

In October 2011, we entered into an alliance wabtfForward, a nonprofit subsidiary of the Natiaalltiple Sclerosis Society, pursuant to
which Fast Forward will fund the development of Mbilem for the treatment of multiple sclerosis tigb the filing of an IND. Fast Forward
will commit up to $640,000 to fund the advancenrthe program to clinical development stage. lnng upon successful achievement of
certain development and commercialization milesspme would remit certain milestone payments td Fasward.

Our contractual payment obligations as of Decer8tie2011 are as follows:
Payment due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total Less than 1 Yea 1-3Years 3-5 Years More than 5 Years
Operating leases for facilities and equipment Ig $ 456,000 $ 384,000 $ 72,000 $ —  $ —
Research fundin 135,00( 135,00( — — —
Total $ 591,000 $ 519,000 $ 72,000 $ — 3 —

We lease office and laboratory space under an tipgiaase. The lease began in 2000 and currerpliyess in March 2013, and we expect to
extend the lease option periods. Our rent is $2®7p@r year and our rental rate has not changeé #iie lease inception in 2000. Also, we
lease office and laboratory space for our Belgigmsgliary that includes options to renew annuditptigh December 2014 and the annual rent
is subject to adjustments based on an inflatioiredgx. We executed an option to renew this leasaitih December 31, 2012. Our annual rent
in Belgium was $93,000 in 2011.

The research funding in the table above represemtsurrent funding commitment for a research paogthat began in 2007 and ends in
August 2012.
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In connection with our private placement in Mar€i 2, we intend to promptly file a resale registmatstatement with the SEC for 8,695,654
shares of common stock, which includes all shafesmmon stock issued in the equity offering in BfaR012 and shares of common stock
issuable upon exercise of the warrants issuedeioffering. If the registration statement is nately filed, is not declared effective within the
requisite time period or, once effective, ceasaenoain effective, a 1% cash penalty will be assgsgpon a default under the registration rit
agreement and for each 30-day period until theulteicured during the first year after the clgsof the private placement, capped at 10% the
aggregate gross proceeds we received from thetpnlacement. Because the penalty is based oruthber of unregistered shares of comr
stock held by investors in the offering, our maximpenalty exposure will decline over time as ingessell their shares of common stock that
are required to be included in the registratiotesteent.

In connection with our private financing in 2007 ¥filed a resale registration statement with th€ $& 18,508,251 shares of common stock,
which includes all shares of common stock issuetiénequity offering in June 2007 and shares ofroomstock issuable upon exercise of the
warrants issued in the offering (as well as the, B31 shares of common stock issued to the bridggstors and the 132,945 shares underlying
their warrants). The resale registration statemast declared effective by the SEC on October 18720nder the registration rights agreen
entered into in connection with the offering, sabj@ certain exceptions, if the resale registratatement ceases to remain effective, a 1%
cash penalty will be assessed for each 30-daygentl the registration statement becomes effectigain, capped at 10% of the aggregate
gross proceeds we received from the equity offefiegause the penalty is based on the number efjistered shares of common stock held
by investors in the offering, our maximum penabtp@sure will decline over time as investors sditishares of common stock that were
included in the registration statement.

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.
Critical Accounting Policies and Management Estimags

The SEC defines critical accounting policies aséhthat are, in management’s view, important tqpthrérayal of our financial condition and
results of operation and demanding of managemgmitgment. Our discussion and analysis of finanoieddition and results of operations are
based on our consolidated financial statements;iwiiéve been prepared in accordance with Uniteg@<sStgenerally accepted accounting
principles. The preparation of these financialestegnts requires us to make estimates on experérten various assumptions that we believe
are reasonable under the circumstances, the regwitsich form the basis for making judgments altbetcarrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from atheurces. Actual results may differ from thosénestes.

A discussion of the material implications of uneérties associated with the methods, assumptiotiestimates underlying our critical
accounting polices is as follows:

Revenue Recognitio

Our license and collaboration agreements may aontaitiple elements, including license and techgglaccess fees, research and
development funding, manufacturing revenue, coatisf, milestones and royalties. The deliverableden such an arrangement are evaluated
under Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC5-@8, Multiple-Element ArrangementEffective January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2009-
13, Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements, &A2009-13, which amended the guidance in ASC &brthe accounting for
arrangements involving the delivery of more thae efement. Pursuant to the new standard, eactreelqiéliverable is evaluated to determine
whether it qualifies as a separate unit of accogritased on whether the deliverable has “standealalue” to the customer. The
arrangement’s consideration that is fixed or deteaivie is then allocated to each separate unitodunting based on the relative selling price
of each deliverable. In general, the consideragitotated to each unit of accounting is recognaethe related goods or services are delivered
limited to the consideration that is not contingepon future deliverables.

We adopted this new accounting standard on a petispéasis for agreements containing multiple eets entered into on or after January 1,
2011, and for any agreements entered into pridatwary 1, 2011, but materially modified on or refteat date.
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The primary impact of adopting the new standamkgected to be the earlier recognition of revemuarfultiple element arrangements. The
adoption of ASU 2009-13 did not have a materialactpn our consolidated results of operationsHentear ended December 31, 2011, or on
our financial position as of December 31, 2011. ifingact of adopting this new accounting standarkjsendent on the terms and conditions
of any future arrangements that we may enter mwinclude multiple elements and arrangementgesiato prior to January 1, 2011 that are
materially modified. Depending on the terms of aogh arrangements, the adoption of this accoustagdard may have a material impact on
our consolidated results of operations or finang@ition as it may have the potential effect skleevenue deferral for new collaborations than
we have historically experienced. We recognizeémere of $7.9 million for the year ended Decembe2B11 and deferred revenue of $3.0
million as of December 31, 2011 pertaining to dodleations which were entered into prior to our aawpof ASU 2009-13 and which were not
modified on or after January 1, 2011. The perforcegmeriod for our multiple elements arrangementisonclude by mid-2012.

For agreements entered into prior to January 11 20@ not materially modified thereafter, we comirio apply our prior accounting policy
with respect to such arrangements. Under this pdiie deliverables under the arrangement are ateduo assess whether they have
standalone value and objective and reliable evideridair value, and if so, are accounted for aggle unit. We then recognize revenue for
each unit based on the culmination of the earngmgsess under ASC 605-S25, issued as Staff AcauyiBtillletin, or SAB, Topic 13, and our
estimated performance period for the single urfisscgounting based on the specific terms of eatlhlmarative agreement. We subsequently
adjust the estimated performance periods, if appats on a prospective basis based upon avaifabte and circumstances. Future changes in
estimates of the performance period may materialpact the timing of future revenue recognized. Aimis received prior to satisfying the
revenue recognition criteria for contract revenaiesrecorded as deferred revenue in the accomppabglance sheets. Reimbursement amc
(other than those accounted for using collaboradimrounting) paid to us are recorded on a grods athe statements of operations as
contract revenues.

Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2010,-ReE¥enue Recognition — Milestone Methdtie adoption of the new standard did not
have a material impact on our consolidated resdltperations for the year ended December 31, 20bh our financial position as of
December 31, 2011 as we had been recognizing revieom at-risk, performance milestones that arestsuttive in the period that the
milestone is achieved, as defined in the respectiviracts.

We entered into collaboration agreements with Pfrel RTI that contain multiple elements and detées. For a description of the
collaboration agreement and the determination nfrect revenues, see Note E to our consolidateshéiial statements included elsewhere in
this annual report on Form 10-K.

Also included in contract revenue are license feesived from Bristol-Myers Squibb, which are sfieaily set forth in the license and
collaboration agreement as amounts due to us lmasedr completion of certain tasks (e.g., deliveng acceptance of a cell line) and
development milestones (e.g., clinical trial Phsasd as such, are not based on estimates thatisceptible to change. Such amounts are
invoiced and recorded as revenue as tasks are etad@nd as milestones are achieved.

Similarly, grant revenue consists of funding unclest reimbursement programs primarily from fedaral state sources for qualified research
and development activities performed by us, ansliak, are not based on estimates that are sudedptithange. Such amounts are invoiced
(unless prepaid) and recorded as revenue as tesksm@pleted.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost aureiprofit sharing are reviewed to determine theimesof the arrangement and the nature of
the collaborative parties’ businesses. The arraegésrare also reviewed to determine if one parsydade or primary responsibility for an
activity, or whether the parties have shared resipdity for the activity. If responsibility for aactivity is shared and there is no principal pz
then the related costs of that activity are recogphiby us on a net basis in the statement of apesate.g., total cost less reimbursement from
collaborator). If we are deemed to be the princigaaty for an activity, then the costs and reverassociated with that activity are recognized
on a gross basis in the statement of operatiores.athounting may be susceptible to change if thea@af a collaborator’s business changes.
Currently, our only collaboration accounted foranet basis is our cost-sharing collaboration Witigiotech, which was terminated in 2011.
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Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgrered by outside contractors, who manage and pertfioe trials. We obtain initial estimates
of total costs based on enrollment of subjectgeptananagement estimates and other activitiesighcosts are typically charged to us and
recognized as the tasks are completed by the a@otrand if we are invoiced based on progress paysnas opposed to actual costs, we
develop estimates of work completed to date. Aatrlmical trial costs may be subject to revisiassclinical trials progress, and any revisions
are recorded in the period in which the facts gia rise to the revisions become known.

Investments in Availabl-for-Sale Securities

We determine the appropriate classification of gtreent securities at the time of purchase and atiate such designation as of each balance
sheet date. Our investments typically consist prilgnaf United States government obligations ancbooate debt securities, which are
classified as available-for-sale and are value@dbas quoted prices in active markets for identisslets (Level 1). Available-faale securitie
are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gaind losses, net of tax, reported as a compof@stamulated other comprehensive income.
The amortized cost of debt securities is adjuste@dinortization of premiums and accretion of distsuo maturity. Such amortization or
accretion is included in interest income. Realigaths and losses on available-for-sale securitesnaluded in interest income. The cost of
securities sold is based on the specific identificemethod. Interest earned on securities clasb#is available-for-sale is included in interest
income. Since the elements related to accountinthése investments are reflected on monthly staésnthe amounts are not based on
estimates that are susceptible to change. Nonardfrancial assets are in markets that are notect

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expense=atrtight-line method and use a Black-Schole®pgtricing model to estimate the
grant-date fair value of share-based awards. Thea®d term of options granted represent the peffitiche that option grants are expected to
be outstanding. We use the “simplified” method atcalate the expected life of option grants givenlonited history and beginning in 2010,
determine volatility by using our historical stoe#latility. Prior to 2010, we determined volatiliby using the historical stock volatility of ott
companies with similar characteristics since wergitthave meaningful historical volatility of ouwn stock at that time. Estimates of fair ve
are not intended to predict actual future eventhewalue ultimately realized by persons who ngeeiquity awards.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantranibed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifehéorfeitures differ from those estimates and
if our expectations on forfeitures changes. If atfarfeitures vary from the estimate, we will rgoize the difference in compensation expense
in the period the actual forfeitures occur or whetions vest.

All of the aforementioned estimates and assumptwesvaluated on a quarterly basis and may chasiégcts and circumstances warrant.
Changes in these assumptions can materially dffeatstimate of the fair value of our share-basganents and the related amount recognized
in our financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopteat December 31, 2011

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting StandardsrBpar FASB, issued changes to fair value measunéridis change clarifies the concepts
related to highest and best use and valuation gesrblockage factors and other premiums and digsptire fair value measurement of
financial instruments held in a portfolio and obsle instruments classified as a component of shllets’ equity. The guidance includes
enhanced disclosure requirements about recurringlLl®fair value measurements, the use of nonfilmshiassets, and the level in the fair value
hierarchy of assets and liabilities not recordefhatvalue. The provisions are effective prospeati for interim and annual periods beginning
on or after December 15, 2011. Early applicatiopréhibited. This requires changes in presentaiidp and we do not expect it will have a
material impact on its consolidated financial staats.
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In June 2011, the FASB issued changes to the pegganof comprehensive income. These changesagiventity the option to present the t
of comprehensive income, the components of neniec@nd the components of other comprehensive ie@ther in a single continuous
statement of comprehensive income or in two sepdratt consecutive statements; the option to presenponents of other comprehensive
income as part of the statement of changes in Bhlters’ equity was eliminated. The items that niesteported in other comprehensive
income or when an item of other comprehensive ireamst be reclassified to net income were not obéingdditionally, no changes were
made to the calculation and presentation of easngey share. These changes become effective f@dhpany on January 1, 2012.
Management is currently evaluating these changdstermine which option will be chosen for the preation of comprehensive income.
Other than the change in presentation, managenasrdétermined these changes will not have an inguattte consolidated financial
statements.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forwardking statements within the meaning of the Priggeurities Litigation Reform Act of
1995 that involve risks and uncertainties. Thesdod-looking statements relate to, among othergthi the expected timetable for
development of our product candidates, our growtteyy, and our future financial performance, udahg our operations, economic
performance, financial condition, prospects, afgpfuture events. We have attempted to identifwéod-looking statements by using such
words as “anticipates,” “believes,” “can,” “contiag “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “nyg’ “plans,” “potential,” “should,”
“suggest,” “will,” or other similar expressions. &se forward-looking statements are only predictems are largely based on our current
expectations. These forward-looking statementsapipea number of places in this annual report.

In addition, a number of known and unknown risks;ertainties, and other factors could affect theueacy of these statements. Some of the
more significant known risks that we face are teksrand uncertainties inherent in the processsaiogtering, developing, and commercializ
products that are safe and effective for use asahuirerapeutics, including the uncertainty regayaivarket acceptance of our product
candidates and our ability to generate revenues fallowing risks and uncertainties may cause atuma results, levels of activity,
performance, or achievements to differ materiaibnf any future results, levels of activity, perfamee, or achievements expressed or implied
by these forward-looking statements:

. uncertainty regarding market acceptance of oodypct candidates and our ability to generate resgniacluding MultiStem for the
treatment of IBD, AMI, stroke and other diseasddations, and the prevention of GvH

. our ability to raise capital to fund our operatip

. final results from our MultiStem clinical trial

. the possibility of delays in, adverse results af] axcessive costs of the development proc
. our ability to successfully initiate and complelimical trials;

. changes in external market factc

. changes in our indust's overall performance

. changes in our business strate

. our ability to protect our intellectual propertyrgfolio;

. our possible inability to realize commercially vahle discoveries in our collaborations with pharendical and other biotechnolo
companies

. our ability to meet milestones under our collabioraagreements

. our collaborator ability to continue to fulfill their obligations wer the terms of our collaboration agreem
. our possible inability to execute our strategy thuehanges in our industry or the economy gener

. changes in productivity and reliability of suppfie

. the success of our competitors and the emergencevotompetitors; an

. the risks mentioned elsewhere in this annual remoForm 1-K under Item 1A“Risk Factor¢”

Although we currently believe that the expectaticefiected in the forward-looking statements agsomable, we cannot guarantee our future
results, levels of activity or performance. We utialee no obligation to publicly update forward-lamd statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, excepbtiierwise required by law. You are advised, howeteeconsult any further disclosures we
make on related subjects in our reports on Form®,18-K and 10-K furnished to the SEC. You shoutderstand that it is not possible to
predict or identify all risk factors. Consequentpu should not consider any such list to be a detagset of all potential risks or uncertainties.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to interest rate risk is related toilmeestment portfolio and our borrowings. Fixeteravestments and borrowings may have
their fair market value adversely impacted fromrdes in interest rates. Due in part to these factarr future investment income may fall
short of expectations. Further, we may suffer Isssénvestment principal if we are forced to selturities that have declined in market value
due to changes in interest rates. We invest owrssxcash primarily in debt instruments of the Whi#¢éates government and its agencies and
corporate debt securities. As of December 31, 28l bf our investments were in United States gorent obligations. We have been
investing conservatively due to the current ecomotonditions and have prioritized liquidity and reservation of principal in lieu of
potentially higher returns. As a result, we havpegienced no losses on the principal of our investis

We enter into loan arrangements with financialitngbns when needed and when available to us. &tdinber 31, 2011, we had no such
arrangements and therefor, no borrowings outstgndin

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Athersys, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Athersys, Inc. as of December 31, 2012010, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldgrsty and cash flows for each of the three yéatbe period ended December 31, 2011.
These financial statements are the responsibilitied Company’s management. Our responsibility isxpress an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBlgUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether the finestatements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ait afuitie Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigboeting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrafinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesrémiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting thewems and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarst significant estimates made by managementeaaldating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaerferred to above present fairly, in all materégpects, the consolidated financial position
of Athersys, Inc. at December 31, 2011 and 2010 the consolidated results of its operations amdash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2011, in conformitly W. S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 27, 2012
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

December 31

2011 2010
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 8,78t $ 2,10¢
Available-for-sale securitie 3,99¢ 13,07¢
Accounts receivabl 68¢ 2,32¢
Receivable from Angiotec — 10¢€
Prepaid clinical trial cost 62¢ —
Prepaid expenses and ot 304 32¢
Total current asse 14,40¢ 17,94+
Equipment, ne 1,26 95t
Other asset 28 207
Total asset $ 15,707 $  19,10¢
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 2,301 $ 1,49¢
Accrued compensation and related ben: 444 58C
Accrued clinical trial cost 872 207
Accrued expense 663 1,012
Deferred revenu 3,14( 5,541
Total current liabilities 7,42( 8,83¢
Deferred revenu — 1,262
Warrant liability 98¢ —
Stockholder’ equity:
Preferred stock, at stated value; 10,000,000 slartd®rized, and no shares issued and outstant
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 steargmrized, 24,487,260 and 18,930,678 shares i
and outstanding at December 31, 2011 and Decendh@030, respectivel 24 19
Additional paic-in capital 226,20t 214,17:
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 28 26
Accumulated defici (218,96() (205,219
Total stockholder equity 7,29¢ 9,00¢
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 15,707 $  19,10¢

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Revenues
Contract revenu
Grant revenu

Total revenue

Costs and expense

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009

$ 9,01t $ 6,68t $ 1,07¢

Research and development (including stock compiemsakpense of $205, $545 and $1,29

2011, 2010 and 2009, respective

General and administrative (including stock comptina expense of $347, $921 and $1,512

2011, 2010 and 2009, respective
Depreciatior

Total costs and expens

Loss from operation
Other expense, n
Interest incom:

Net loss

Basic and diluted net loss per common shal

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and dikd

See accompanying notes.

1,32¢ 2,25¢ 1,08(
10,34« 8,93¢ 2,15¢
18,93( 14,77¢ 11,92(

4,91¢ 5,387 5,621

27¢ 284 232
24,12 20,45( 17,77+
(13,780) (11,517 (15,61%)
(51) (69) (126)

85 20z 37E

$ (13,740 $  (11,37) $ (15,360

$ (0.59 $ (0.60 $ (0.81)

23,239,01 18,929,74  18,928,37
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Balance at January 1, 2009
Stock based compensati
Issuance of common stor
Comprehensive los
Net loss
Unrealized loss on availal-for-sale securitie
Total comprehensive lo:
Balance at December 31, 20C
Stock based compensati
Issuance of common sto
Comprehensive los
Net loss
Unrealized loss on availal-for-sale securitie
Total comprehensive lo:
Balance at December 31, 201
Stock based compensati
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance «
Comprehensive los
Net loss
Unrealized gain on availat-for-sale securitie
Total comprehensive lo:
Balance at December 31, 2011

See accompanying notes.

Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(In Thousands, Except Share Amounts)

Accumulated

Preferred Stock Common Stock  Additional Other Total
Statec Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Number Number Par Paid-in
of Share: Value of Shares Value Capital Income Deficit Equity
— $ — 1892798 $ 18 $ 209,89 $ 12C $ (178,47) $ 31,56¢
— — — — 2,80¢ — — 2,80¢
— — 1,34t — 1 — — 1
— — — — — — (15,36€) (15,36¢)
— — — — — (49) — 49)
(15,41%)
— — 18,929,33 18 212,70: 71 (193,83) 18,95]
— — — — 1,46¢ — — 1,46¢
— — 1,34¢ — 4 — — 4
— — — — — — (11,379 (11,377)
— — — — — (45) — (45)
(11,42))
— — 18,930,67 18 214,17: 26 (205,21, 9,00t
— — — — 552 — — 552
— — 5,556,58: 5 11,48( — — 11,48t
— — — — — — (13,746 (13,74¢)
— — — — — 2 — 2
(13,749
— $ — 2448726 $ 24 $ 226,20t $ 28 (218,96() $ 7,29¢
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Operating activities
Net loss $ (13,746 $ (11,37) $ (15,366
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciatior 27¢ 284 238
Gain on sale of equipme — — (22)
Realized gain on availat-for-sale securitie (55 — —
Stoclk-based compensatic 552 1,46¢ 2,80¢
Issuance of common stock to former lenc 682 — —
Change in fair value of warrant liabili (812 — —
Amortization of premium on availal-for-sale securities and oth 58 22k 30t
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 1,63¢ (1,976 (92
Receivable from Angiotec 10€ 128 5
Prepaid expenses and other as (511) (63) 44¢
Accounts payable and accrued expel 983 562 47¢
Deferred revenu (3,664 165 6,581
Net cash used in operating activit (14,489 (10,59) (4,619
Investing activities
Purchase of availat-for-sale securitie (12,509 (8,839 (11,692
Proceeds from maturities of availa-for-sale securitie 21,67: 10,75: 15,30(
Investment in private-held compan — — (14)
Proceeds from sale of equipmi — — 21
Purchases of equipme (590 (390 (387)
Net cash provided by investing activiti 8,57¢ 1,52¢ 3,23¢
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warnaei 12,59¢ — —
Net cash provided by financing activiti 12,59t — —
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiv: 6,68( (9,062 (1,385
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 2,10t 11,167 12,55:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of- $ 8,78t $ 2,10t $ 11,167

See accompanying notes.

58



Table of Contents

Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A. Background

We are an international biopharmaceutical comphayis focused in the field of regenerative medicWe have established a portfolio of
therapeutic product development programs to addigs#ficant unmet medical needs in multiple ar&s: current clinical development
programs are focused on treating cardiovasculaadis, neurological conditions, inflammatory & imrautisorders, and other conditions.
Operations consist primarily of research and prodegelopment activities in one business segment.

B. Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include capants and results of operations and those oivboily-owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have beamated in consolidation. Investments in joint ttges are accounted for using the equity
method when we do not control the investee, buetibg ability to exercise significant influence otlee investee’s operations and financial
policies.

Revenue Recognition

Our license and collaboration agreements may aontailtiple elements, including license and techgglaccess fees, research and
development funding, manufacturing revenue, coatisf, milestones and royalties. The deliverableden such an arrangement are evaluated
under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 625, Multiple-Element Arrangement&ffective January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2009-
13, Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme@&SU 2009-13"), which amended the guidance in AS¥5-25 on the accounting for
arrangements involving the delivery of more thae element. Pursuant to the new standard, eachreelqueliverable is evaluated to determine
whether it qualifies as a separate unit of accogritiased on whether the deliverable has “standealalue” to the customer. The
arrangement’s consideration that is fixed or deteaivie is then allocated to each separate unitadanting based on the relative selling price
of each deliverable. In general, the consideraditotated to each unit of accounting is recognaethe related goods or services are delivered
limited to the consideration that is not contingepon future deliverables.

We adopted this new accounting standard on a petispéasis for agreements containing multiple epts entered into on or after January 1,
2011, and for any agreements entered into pridatmary 1, 2011, but materially modified on or rafitat date.

The primary impact of adopting the new standamekigected to be the earlier recognition of revemmerfultiple element arrangements. The
adoption of ASU 2009-13 did not have a materialactpn our consolidated results of operationstenytear ended December 31, 2011, or on
our financial position as of December 31, 2011. ifingact of adopting this new accounting standaidejgzendent on the terms and conditions
of any future arrangements that we may enter v include multiple elements and arrangementgeshiato prior to January 1, 2011 that are
materially modified. Depending on the terms of aogh arrangements, the adoption of this accoustamgdard may have a material impact on
our consolidated results of operations or finanggaition as it may have the potential effect gkleevenue deferral for new collaborations than
we have historically experienced. We recognizeémere of $7.9 million for the year ended December2B11 and deferred revenue of $3.0
million as of December 31, 2011 pertaining to dadieations which were entered into prior to our agwpof ASU 2009-13 and which were not
modified on or after January 1, 2011. The perforoegmeriod for our multiple elements arrangementisconclude by mid-2012.

For agreements entered into prior to January 11 20 not materially modified thereafter, we coméirio apply our prior accounting policy
with respect to such arrangements. Under this pdiiee deliverables under the arrangement are ateduo assess whether they have
standalone value and objective and reliable eviel@fdair value, and if so, are accounted for amgle unit. We then recognize revenue for
each unit based on the culmination of the earnmgsess under ASC 605-S25, issued as Staff AcauyiBtillletin (“SAB”) Topic 13, and our
estimated performance period for the single urfiscoounting based on the specific terms of eadlalmarative agreement. We subsequently
adjust the estimated performance periods, if apgatg on a prospective basis based upon avaifabte and circumstances. Future changes in
estimates of the performance period may materialpact the timing of future revenue recognized. Aimis received prior to satisfying the
revenue recognition criteria for contract revenaiesrecorded as deferred revenue in the accompgabglance sheets. Reimbursement amc
(other than those accounted for using collaboraimounting) paid to us are recorded on a gross bathe statements of operations as
contract revenues.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contitl)

Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2010,-RE¥enue Recognition — Milestone Methdtie adoption of the new standard did not
have a material impact on our consolidated resdltperations for the year ended December 31, 20bh our financial position as of
December 31, 2011 as we had been recognizing revieom at-risk, performance milestones that arestsuttive in the period that the
milestone is achieved, as defined in the respectiviracts.

Also included in contract revenue are license feesived from Bristol-Myers Squibb, which are sfieaily set forth in the license and
collaboration agreement as amounts due to us lmasedr completion of certain tasks (e.g., deliveng acceptance of a cell line) and
development milestones (e.g., clinical trial physasd as such, are not based on estimates thatiseceptible to change. Such amounts are
invoiced and recorded as revenue as tasks are etad@nd as milestones are achieved.

Similarly, grant revenue consists of funding unctest reimbursement programs primarily from fedaral state sources for qualified research
and development activities performed by us, ansliak, are not based on estimates that are sudedptithange. Such amounts are invoiced
(unless prepaid) and recorded as revenue as tesksm@pleted. Included in 2010 grant revenueggisaat of $733,000 received from the
Internal Revenue Service under section 48D of titerhal Revenue Code for qualifying therapeuticali®ery investments that have been
incurred.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with atoréty of three months or less when purchased todsé equivalents. Cash equivalents are
primarily invested in money market funds and conuiatipaper. The carrying amount of our cash egeival approximates fair value due to
the short maturity of the investments.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contitl)
B. Accounting Policies, continued
Research and Development

Research and development expenditures, which ¢qrgisarily of costs associated with external daliand preclinical study fees,
manufacturing costs, salaries and related persausés, legal expenses resulting from intelleghwaperty application processes, and
laboratory supply and reagent costs, includingatisad allocated overhead expenses, are chargegémse as incurred.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost anreiprofit sharing are reviewed to determine thieinegeof the arrangement and the nature of
the collaborative parties’ businesses. The arramgésrare also reviewed to determine if one parsysade or primary responsibility for an
activity, or whether the parties have shared resipdity for the activity. If responsibility for aactivity is shared and there is no principal pz
then the related costs of that activity are recogphiby us on a net basis in the statement of dpesate.g., total cost less reimbursement from
collaborator). If we are deemed to be the princjgzaty for an activity, then the costs and reverassociated with that activity are recognized
on a gross basis in the statement of operatioress.athounting may be susceptible to change if thea@af a collaborator’s business changes.
Our only collaboration accounted for on a net bagis our cost-sharing collaboration with Angiot&ttarmaceuticals, Inc. (“Angiotech”),
which was terminated in 2011.

Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgrered by outside contractors, who manage and perfioe trials. We obtain initial estimates
of total costs based on enrollment of subjectgeptananagement estimates and other activitiesugcists are typically charged to us and
recognized as the tasks are completed by the atotrand if we are invoiced based on progress paysmas opposed to actual costs, we
develop estimates of work completed to date. Aatrlimical trial costs may be subject to revisiassclinical trials progress, and any revisions
are recorded in the period in which the facts it rise to the revisions become known.

Royalties

We may be required to make future royalty paymemtsertain parties based on product sales undmmnde agreements. We did not pay any
royalties during the three-year period ended Deeerth, 2011.

Investments in Available-for-Sale Securities

We determine the appropriate classification of gteent securities at the time of purchase and atiate such designation as of each balance
sheet date. Our investments typically consist atédhStates government obligations and corporabé skcurities, which are classified as
available-for-sale and are valued based on quaiedspin active markets for identical assets (LédyeAvailable-for-sale securities are carried
at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losees of applicable tax, reported as a componeatofimulated other comprehensive income.
The amortized cost of debt securities is adjuste@iortization of premiums and accretion of diggeuo maturity. Such amortization or
accretion is included in interest income. Realigaths and losses on available-for-sale securitieénaluded in interest income. The cost of
securities sold is based on the specific identificamethod. Interest earned on securities class#is available-for-sale is included in interest
income. None of our financial assets are in marktetsare not active.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contitl)
Long-Lived Assets

Equipment is stated at acquired cost less accuetltigpreciation. Laboratory and office equipmeatdepreciated on the straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives (three to ten yedeasehold improvements are amortized over tbetashof the lease term or estimated useful
life.

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment wdheamts or changes in circumstances indicate tileatdrrying amount of the asset or related
group of assets may not be recoverable. If the @egduture undiscounted cash flows are less thararrying amount of the asset, an
impairment loss is recognized at that time. Measerd of impairment may be based upon appraisakehaalue of similar assets or
discounted cash flows.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contitl)
B. Accounting Policies, continued
Patent Costs and Rights

Costs of prosecuting and maintaining patents atehpaights are expensed as incurred. As of DeceBhe?011, we have filed for broad
intellectual property protection on our proprietégghnologies. We currently have numerous UnitedeStpatent applications and
corresponding international patent applicationatesl to our technologies, as well as many issuatbtStates and international patents.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Unrealized gains and losses on our available-fta-securities are the only components of accumdilatiker comprehensive income. Total
comprehensive income or loss is disclosed in tms@ladated statement of stockholders’ equity.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable are subject to concentratioeredit risk due to the absence of a large numbeustomers. At December 31, 2011, one
customer accounted for 68% of accounts receivadeedo not require collateral from our customers.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethie United States requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the @soeported in the financial statements and acemryipg notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseeatrtight-line method and use a Black-Schole®ogtricing model to estimate the fair
value of option awards. The expected term of ogtigranted represent the period of time that opgli@mts are expected to be outstanding. We
use the “simplified” method to calculate the expédife of option grants given our limited histarfyexercise activity and beginning in 2010,
determine volatility by using our historical stoe#ilatility. Prior to 2010, we determined volatiliby using the historical stock volatility of ott
companies with similar characteristics since werdithave meaningful historical volatility of ouwwn stock at that time. The fair value of our
restricted stock units are equal to the closingegpaf our common stock on the date of grant amkpensed over the vesting period on a
straight-line basis. Estimates of fair value areintended to predict actual future events or thlele ultimately realized by persons who receive
equity awards.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantrendsed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifshdbrfeitures differ from those estimates. If
actual forfeitures vary from the estimate, we retpg the difference in compensation expense ipérmod the actual forfeitures occur or when
options vest.

All of the aforementioned estimates and assump@oa®valuated on a quarterly basis and may chasfgcts and circumstances warrant.
Changes in these assumptions can materially dffeatstimate of the fair value of our share-bassanents and the related amount recognized
in our financial statements.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contitl)
B. Accounting Policies, continued

The following weighted-average input assumptionsawsesed in determining the fair value of the Conymetockbased compensation awar

December 31

2011 2010 2009
Volatility 125.7% 119.5% 89.5%
Risk-free interest rat 1.5% 1.C% 2.4%
Expected life of optiol 5.96 year: 4.09 year 5.01 year
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

Income Taxes

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determbeskd on the differences between the financialrtieygoand tax basis of assets and liabilities
and are measured using the tax rate and laws tiyriereffect. We evaluate our deferred income sateedetermine if a valuation allowance
should be established against the deferred taxsass# the valuation allowance should be redusasked on consideration of all available
evidence, both positive and negative, using a “nlikedy than not” standard.

We had no liability for uncertain income tax pamits as of December 31, 2011 and 2010. Our politty iscognize potential accrued interest
and penalties related to the liability for uncertaix benefits, if applicable, in income tax experidet operating loss and credit carryforwards
since inception remain open to examination by tgueinthorities, and will for a period post utilizati

Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share has been dechpsing the weighted-average number of sharesrafmon stock outstanding during the
period. We have outstanding options and warraratisate not used in the calculation of diluted pstlper share because to do so would be ant
dilutive. The following instruments were excludedr the calculation of diluted net loss per shareanse their effects would be anti-dilutive:

. Outstanding stock options and restricted stocksunipurchase 4,538,901, 4,308,013 and 4,001,1&@slof common stock for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 ctesgyg; and

. Warrants to purchase 6,435,496, 5,125,496, and 2@ shares of common stock for the years endedrleer 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009, respectivel

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiedhform with current year presentations.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopteat December 31, 2011

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting StandardsrBd&FASB) issued changes to fair value measureniéns change clarifies the concepts
related to highest and best use and valuation gesrblockage factors and other premiums and digsptire fair value measurement of
financial instruments held in a portfolio and obsle instruments classified as a component of shltets’ equity. The guidance includes
enhanced disclosure requirements about recurringll3:fair value measurements, the use of nonfilshassets, and the level in the fair value
hierarchy of assets and liabilities not recordefhiatvalue. The provisions are effective prospedti for interim and annual periods beginning
on or after December 15, 2011. Early applicatioprahibited. This requires changes in presentatidp and we do not expect it will have a
material impact on its consolidated financial staats.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contitl)

In June 2011, the FASB issued changes to the pegganof comprehensive income. These changesagiventity the option to present the ti
of comprehensive income, the components of neniec@nd the components of other comprehensive iaather in a single continuous
statement of comprehensive income or in two sepdratt consecutive statements; the option to presenponents of other comprehensive
income as part of the statement of changes in Bhlters’ equity was eliminated. The items that niesteported in other comprehensive
income or when an item of other comprehensive ireamst be reclassified to net income were not obéingdditionally, no changes were
made to the calculation and presentation of easniey share. These changes become effective f@dhpany on January 1, 2012.
Management is currently evaluating these changdstermine which option will be chosen for the preation of comprehensive income.
Other than the change in presentation, managenasrdédtermined these changes will not have an ingrattte consolidated financial
statements.

C. Equipment
December 31
2011 2010
Equipment consists of (in thousanc
Laboratory equipmer $ 6,43C $ 5,91t
Office equipment and leasehold improveme 3,80¢ 3,731
10,23¢ 9,64¢
Accumulated depreciatic (8,969 (8,697
$ 1,267 $ 95t

D. Financial Instruments
Investments in Availak-for-Sale Securities

Our available-for-sale securities typically includaited States government obligations and corpatabe securities. As of December 31, 2011,
all of our investments were in United States goregnt obligations, including government-backed agenc

The following is a summary of available-for-salewgties (in thousands) at December 31, 2011 add 2@spectively:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Losses Gains Value
December 31, 201:
United States government obligations, includingegomen-backed agencie $ 3,99¢ $ —  $ —  $ 3,99¢
December 31, 201(
United States government obligations, includingegomen-backed agencie $ 11,03 $ — 23 % 11,053
Corporate debt securitir 2,01¢ — 3 2,01¢
$ 13,05 $ —  $ 26 $ 13,07¢

We had $55,000 in realized gains during the yededrbDecember 31, 2011 and no realized losses csatb®f available-for-sale securities for
any of the periods presented. Unrealized gainda@ssds on our available-for-sale securities ardudrd from earnings and are reported as a
separate component of stockholders’ equity witlticuanulated other comprehensive income until redli¥éhen available-for-sale securities
are sold in the future, the cost of the securitidsbe specifically identified and used to detenmiany realized gain or loss. The net unrealized
gain on available-for-sale securities was $0 argl® as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respegtivel

The amortized cost of and estimated fair valuevailable-forsale securities at December 31, 2011 by contraotagdrity are shown below (
thousands). Actual maturities may differ from cawtual maturities because the issuers of the disumay have the right to repay the
obligations without prepayment penalties.
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December 31, 201.

Amortized Estimated Fair
Cost Value
Due in one year or le: $ 3,99¢ $ 3,99¢
Fair Value Measuremen
We classify the inputs used to measure fair vaite the following hierarchy:
Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fortidahassets or liabilitie:
Level Z Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets forlgsingissets or liabilities, or unadjusted quotedesifor identical or similar assets

or liabilities in markets that are not active, oputs other than quoted prices that are obserfabtbe asset or liability
Level & Unobservable inputs for the asset or liabil
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The following table provides a summary of the ficiahassets and liabilities measured at fair value recurring basis as follows: (in
thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2011 Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Other
Active
Markets for Observable Significant
Balance as o Identical Inputs Unobservable
Description December 31, 201 Assets (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)
Available-for-sale securitie $ 3,99¢ $ 3,99¢ $ — 3 =
Warrant liability $ 98z $ — 3 — 3 982
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2010 Usil
Quoted Prices ir Significant Other
Active
Markets for Observable Significant
Balance as o Identical Inputs Unobservable
Description December 31, 201 Assets (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)
Available-for-sale securitie $ 13,07¢ $ 13,07¢ $ — 3 =

We review and reassess the fair value hierarchssifieations on a quarterly basis. Changes fromauraeter to the next related to the
observability of inputs in a fair value measuremmaly result in a reclassification between fair eahierarchy levels. There were no
reclassifications for all periods presented.

Fair value is based upon quoted market pricestimeamarkets for our level 1 investments. The eated fair value of warrants accounted fc
liabilities, representing a level 3 fair value ma&s was determined on the issuance date and sudrgbgadjusted to its fair value at each
financial reporting date with a corresponding eméryhe statement of operations. The fair valuthefwarrants is estimated using the expected
volatility based on the historical volatilities ocdmparable companies from a representative peepgelected based on industry and market
capitalization, using a Black-Scholes valuation elatith the following inputs at December 31, 2011:

Exercise price $ 3.5
Market value of stock at end of peri $ 1.7¢
Expected volatility 79.€%
Risk-free interest rat 0.8%%
Expected life (in years 4.0¢

A roll-forward of fair value measurements usingngiigant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the veaits is as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31, 201
Balance January 1, 20: $ 0
Issuance of warrants February 2( 1,79
Gain included in other expense, net for the pe (812
Balance December 31, 20 $ 98¢
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Financing Arrangement

We lease office and laboratory space under an tipgiaase. The lease began in 2000 and currerpliyess in March 2013, and we expect to
extend the lease option periods. Our rent is $287p&r year and our rental rate has not changeed #iie lease inception in 2000. Also, we
lease office and laboratory space for our Belgigmsgliary, which includes options to renew annutiilpugh December 2014, subject to
adjustments based on an inflationary index, andese included an option to expand that was esexidn 2009. We executed an option to
renew this lease through December 31, 2012. Owramant in Belgium was $93,000 in 2011.

Aggregate rent expense was approximately $397 F8®7,000 and $337,000 in 2011, 2010 and 2009, c&sply. The future annual minimu
lease commitments at December 31, 2011 are appabeiyrb384,000 for 2012 and $72,000 for 2013.

Our former lenders retain a right to receive rerimgimmilestone payments up to $1.3 million as of &aber 31, 2011 (from an original amount
of $2.25 million) upon the occurrence of certaie®s as follows: (1) the entire amount upon (a)ttleeger with or into another entity where
our stockholders do not hold at least a majorityhefvoting power of the surviving entity, (b) tbale of all or substantially all of our assets, or
(c) our liquidation or dissolution; or (2) a portiof the amount from proceeds of equity financingstied to specific research and developn
activities that are part of a research or develagroellaboration, in which case, the lenders valigive an amount equal to 10% of proceeds
above $5.0 million in cumulative gross proceedsl tim¢ milestone amount is paid in full. The miles¢ payment is payable in cash, except

if the milestone event is (2) above, we may elegdy 75% of the milestone in shares of commorksadthe per-share offering price. In 2011,
$910,000 of milestone payments were paid to thédesy 75% of which was paid in stock, and expenldecamounts were recorded for the
milestone in December 31, 2010 or 2009. We paithtezest during the three years ended Decembe2(1l,.

E. Collaborations and Revenue Recognition
Pfizer

In December 2009, we entered into a collaboratigh Rfizer Inc. (“Pfizer”) to develop and commeida MultiStem to treat inflammatory
bowel disease (“IBD”) for the worldwide market. Usrdhe terms of the agreement, we received a riomdable up-front license and
technology access payment of $6.0 million from &fiand receive research funding and support. litiaddwe are also eligible to receive
milestone payments upon the successful achieveofieettain development, regulatory and commercidstones, for which we evaluated 1
nature of the events triggering these contingepingets and concluded that these events constisutestantive milestones that will be
recognized as revenue in the period in which thaedging triggering event occurs. In concludingtteach milestone is substantive, we
considered factors such as whether the associatesideration fairly represents either the levedfbdrt required to reach the milestone or the
value added to the product based on the achievemfienth milestone. No significant revenue for stidmes was recognized in 2011, 2010 or
20009.

Pfizer pays us for manufacturing product for clatidevelopment and commercialization purposesePfias responsibility for development,
regulatory and commercialization and will pay @seid royalties on worldwide commercial sales of titiém IBD products. Alternatively, in
lieu of royalties and certain commercializationestones, we may elect to co-develop with Pfizertaegarties will share development and
commercialization expenses and profits/losses cagaged basis beginning at Phase 11l clinical dgwalent.

We evaluated the facts and circumstances of treeaggnt and determined the Pfizer agreement haglagibins constituting deliverables and
concluded that it had multiple deliverables, indghgddeliverables relating to the grant of a liceasd access to our technology, performance of
research and development services, and perforntdroegtain manufacturing services, and concludettthese deliverables should be
combined into a single unit of accounting, andHartconcluded that our participation on a joinesteg committee was primarily for
governance—type activities and did not represequttstantive obligation or deliverable. We are reizigg the license and technology access
fee and research and development funding ratably siraightine basis over the estimated performance periticiwbegan in December 2C
and is estimated to be completed in 2012, and weemognizing manufacturing revenue beginning uperculmination of the earnings proc
and amortizing it over the remainder of the perfance period of the bundled unit of accounting. ptepaid license and technology access fee
and the prepaid research and development fundengeaorded as deferred revenue and amortized traighg-line basis over the performance
period.
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Angiotech

In November 2011, we reached an agreement withdkegh Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Angiotech”) to teraienthe collaboration agreement and
license between the parties, reflecting a chandegiotech’s business and financial strategy. Assallt of the termination, we regained
ownership of all rights for developing our steml ¢ethnologies and products for cardiovascularatisandications such as acute myocardial
infarction (“AMI"), and Angiotech no longer has atigense rights with respect to our technologiesgidtech made its final cost-sharing
payment in 2011 in connection with collaboratiotivattes and has no further obligations to us.

In the case of a new AMI collaboration, Angiotecitl tve entitled to a future payment from us equehtpercentage of cash license fee
payments we receive within the first six monthsiira third-party related to such AMI collaboratiamd is not entitled to other downstream
payments. The future payment, if any, will be aitip25% of third-party license fees if an AMI tatboration is established prior to the
initiation of enrollment in a Phase Il AMI clinicédial and within 12 months of the termination agreent, or (ii) 15% of third-party license fees
if an AMI collaboration is established after thdiation of enrollment in a Phase Il AMI clinicaial, but before we have spent $5.0 million on
the clinical trial, and within 24 months of therténation agreement, or (iii) 10% of third-partyditse fees up to a maximum of $5.0 million to
Angiotech if an AMI collaboration is establishedeafthe initiation of enroliment in a Phase Il ABlinical trial, and after we have spent $5.0
million on the clinical trial, and within 36 montla$ the termination agreement.

Prior to the termination of the collaboration, alinical costs were recorded net of Angiotech’stesigare reimbursements, which amounted to
$312,000, $628,000 and $847,000 in 2011, 2010 a0é,zespectively. The amount due from Angioteck $@and $106,000 at December 31,
2011 and 2010, respectively, and is disclosed aggdgron the balance sheet.

RTI Biologics, Inc

In September 2010, we entered into an agreemehtRiiit Biologics, Inc. (“RTI”), a provider of orthaalic and other biologic implants, under
which we provided RTI a license to our Multipotéult Progenitor Cell (“MAPC”) technologies to eraliRTI to develop and commercialize
MAPC technology-based biologic implants exclusivigly certain orthopedic applications in the bonafigsubstitutes market. Under the terms
of the agreement, we will receive a $5.0 milliacelse fee in installments, of which $3.0 milliomisaranteed and $2.0 million is contingeni
future milestone events. The $3.0 million in guéead fees were received in 2010 and 2011. We acesdigjible to receive milestone payme
upon the successful achievement of certain devedopiend commercial milestones, in addition to ta@$nillion contingent license fee
payments. We evaluated the nature of the evegtgetring these contingent payments and concludedibse events are substantive and that
revenue will be recognized in the period in whielcle underlying triggering event occurs. In additive will receive tiered royalties on
worldwide commercial sales, if any, of implantsngsour technologies. No milestone or royalty revewas recognized in 2011 or 2010.

We evaluated the facts and circumstances and detirthe RTI agreement had obligations constitutiativerables and concluded that it has
multiple deliverables, including deliverables reigtto the grant of a license to our technology pedormance of research and development
services, and concluded that these deliverablagdibe combined into a single unit of accountinge k¥¥cognized the $3.0 million guaranteed
license fee ratably on a straight-line basis okerdstimated performance period, which began ineBdger 2010 and was completed in the
fourth quarter of 2011.

F. Capitalization and Warrant Liability
Capitalization

At December 31, 2011, we had 100.0 million shafesommmon stock and 10.0 million shares of undegiphareferred stock authorized. No
shares of preferred stock have been issued asaanileer 31, 2011.
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The following shares of common stock were resefeeduture issuance (in thousands):

December 31
2011 2010
Stock-based compensation plans 5,50( 4,50(
Warrants to purchase common st— 2007 offering 4,97¢ 4,97¢
Warrants to purchase common st— Lenders 14¢ 14¢
Warrants to purchase common st— 2011 offering 1,31( —
11,93t 9,62t

In March 2012, we completed a private placemermtrfaing generating net proceeds of approximatel§ 88lion through the issuance of
4,347,827 shares of common stock and five-yearamgsrto purchase 4,347,827 shares of common stitkclaw exercise price of $2.07 per
share. The securities were sold in multiples akedf combination of one share of common stock amaiant to purchase one share of
common stock at an offering price of $2.07 perdixembination. We intend to promptly file a resadgistration statement with the SEC for
8,695,654 shares of common stock, which includeshalres of common stock issued in the equity offeand shares of common stock
issuable upon exercise of the warrants issuedeioffering. In connection with this offering, owrfmer lenders were entitled to a milestone
payment in the amount of $0.9 million, of which 75¢as settled through the issuance of our commak £tb$1.94 per share to the former
lenders at our election.

In November 2011, we entered into an equity purelzgeement, which provides that Aspire Capitald-uwh C (“Aspire Capital”) is
committed to purchase up to an aggregate of $20li@mof shares of our common stock over a two+yteam, subject to our election to sell
any such shares, and the terms and conditionsikttherein. Under the agreement, we have the tigsell shares, subject to certain volume
limitations and a minimum floor price, at a modeistount to the prevailing market price. As parthaf agreement, Aspire Capital made an
initial investment of $1.0 million in us throughetipurchase of 666,667 shares of our common stakk.80 per share, and received 266,667
additional shares as compensation for its commitmerconnection with this initial investment, diarmer lenders were entitled to a milestone
payment in the amount of $100,000, of which $25,@@8 paid in cash and $75,000 was paid througkssiuance of our common stock to the
former lenders at our election at $1.50 per shaidvember 2011. In 2012, we sold an additional @00 shares to Aspire Capital at an
average price of $1.85 per share and made mileg@yraents to our former lenders amounting to $3%,,060which $9,000 was paid in cash
and $28,000 was paid through the issuance of aantmn stock to the former lenders at our electiarMbrch 2012, in connection with the
private placement financing, we agreed not toa®}l shares of common stock, including to Aspirei@puntil the earlier of the 180 day
after the closing date or the 80 day after theleasyistration statement covering the resale eftiares sold in the financing is declared
effective.

In February 2011, we completed a registered do#eting with net proceeds of $11.8 million throutie issuance of 4,366,667 shares of
common stock and five-year warrants to purchase0l0®0 shares of common stock with an exercisemi&3.55 per share. The securities
were sold in multiples of a fixed combination ofeashare of common stock and a warrant to purch&sef@ share of common stock at an
offering price of $3.00 per fixed combination. lonmection with this offering, our former lendersreventitled to a milestone payment under
this obligation in the amount of $810,000, of wh#&202,500 was paid in cash and $607,500 was pedddh the issuance of our common s
to the former lenders at $2.96 per share.

Warrant Liability

We account for common stock warrants as eitheilili@s or as equity instruments depending on thecfic terms of the warrant agreement.
Registered common stock warrants that could reqash settlement are accounted for as liabiliés.classify these warrant liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet as a hon-current tigbithich is revalued at fair value at each balastoget date subsequent to the initial issuance.
We use the Black-Scholes valuation model to vateenarrant liability at its fair value. Changestie fair market value of the warrant are
reflected in the consolidated statement of opematas other income (expense).

The warrants we issued in the February 2011 regidtairect offering contain a provision for netleagttiement in the event that there is a

fundamental transaction (e.g., merger, sale oftanbially all assets, tender offer, or share exgeanlf a fundamental transaction occurs in

which the consideration issued consists of all @asstock in a nompublic company, then the warrant holder has th@®ob receive cash eqt
to a Black Scholes value of the remaining unexettgortion of the warrant. As the warrant hold@iis option to settle in cash is not within
our control in all circumstances, these warranpsagent liabilities.
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The warrants issued in February 2011 have beesifitasas liabilities, as opposed to equity, duéh@potential cash settlement upon the
occurrence of certain events as described abodeam@recorded at their fair values at the daiesafance of $1,795,000 and $983,000 at
December 31, 2011.

G. Stock-Based Compensation

We have two incentive plans that authorized aneggge of 5,500,000 shares of common stock for amtarémployees, directors and
consultants. These equity incentive plans authdheessuance of equity-based compensation inditme 6f stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, restricted stock uniexfgrmance shares and units, and other stock-lzasarts to qualified employees, directors and
consultants.

As of December 31, 2011, a total of 962,174 shaeye available for issuance under our equity corsgion plans and options to purchase
4,538,901 shares of common stock were outstandhofufling 39,300 of restricted stock units and @erassumed options from 2007 covering
1,075 shares). We recognized $552,000, $1,466 002,808,000 of stock-based compensation exper@lil, 2010 and 2009, respectively,
which included approximately $264,000 in 2009 mdatio a change in estimate of our forfeiture rate.

Stock Options

The weighted average fair value of options graime2D11, 2010 and 2009 was $2.30, $2.22 and $204hare, respectively. The total fair
value of options vested during 2011, 2010 and 2089 $570,000, $1,835,000 and $2,257,000, respéctideDecember 31, 2011, total
unrecognized estimated compensation cost relatadviested stock options was approximately $701,80;h is expected to be recognizec
the end of 2015 using the straight-line method. Wheghted average contractual life of unvestedamgstiat December 31, 2011 was 6.94 years.
There is no aggregate intrinsic value of fully eesbption shares and option shares expected t@asaedtDecember 31, 2011 since the market
value was less than the exercise price of the gt the end of the year.

A summary of our stock option activity and relabefbrmation is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Number Exercise
of Options Price
Outstanding January 1, 20 3,738,47. $ 5.07
Granted 272,00( 3.17
Exercisec — —
Forfeited / Terminated / Expire (9,329 8.2¢€
Outstanding December 31, 20 4,001,14! 4.94
Granted 390,43° 2.9¢
Exercisec — —
Forfeited / Expirec (83,579 6.3¢
Outstanding December 31, 20 4,308,01: 4.7:
Granted 213,58t 2.61
Exercisec — —
Forfeited / Expirec (22,000 3.4€
Outstanding December 31, 20 4,499,60. $ 4.6%
Vested during 201 269,90¢ $ 2.87
Vested and exercisable at December 31, : 4,182,011 $ 4.7¢
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December 31, 201.

Options Outstanding

Options Vested and Exercisabl

Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Average Weighted
Number Remaining Average Number Remaining Average
of Contractual Exercise of Contractual Exercise
Exercise Price Options Life Price Options Life Price
$1.23-2.96 632,52¢ 6.06 $ 2.4¢€ 384,49! 49t $ 2.41
$3.10-5.00 3,671,001 46C $ 4.9C 3,601,441 461 $ 4.9
$5.28-7.80 195,00( 517 $ 6.2 195,00( 517 $ 6.2
$90.66 1,07¢ 13¢ $ 90.6¢ 1,07¢ 13¢ $ 90.6¢
4,499,60:. 4,182,01!
Restricted Stock Uni
A summary of our restricted stock unit activity arethted information is as follows:
Number
of Weighted
Restricted Average
Stock Units Fair Value
Outstanding December 31, 20 — % —
Granted 39,30( 2.6¢
Exercisec — —
Forfeited / Expirec — —
Outstanding December 31, 20 39,30C $ 2.6
Vested during 201 — 3 —
Vested and exercisable at December 31, : — 3 —

The weighted average fair value of restricted stauks granted in 2011 was $2.69 per share. Noice=d stock units vested during 2011. At
December 31, 2011, total unrecognized estimategeosation cost related to unvested restricted stoitk was approximately $90,000, wh
is expected to be recognized by the end of 20Ifgubie straight-line method.

H. Income Taxes

We had net operating loss and research and develdpax credit carryforwards of approximately $38®00 and $4,176,000, respectively
December 31, 2011, and approximately $40,526,00052r990,000, respectively at December 31, 2016h &sses and credits may be use
reduce future taxable income and tax liabilitied ®aill expire at various dates between 2027 andL203

We have net operating loss carryforwards of appnakély $7,162,000 (“Pre-Merger NOL”") that are liedtfor use under Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code to an annual net operatsgdarryforward of $464,000. The Pre-Merger NOL maywsed to reduce future taxable

income and tax liabilities and will expire at vargodates between 2012 and 2027.

Significant components of our deferred tax assetsa follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2011 2010
Net operating loss carryforwar: $ 18,67: $  13,77¢
Net operating loss carryforwar— Pre-Merger NOL 2,43¢ 2,59¢
Research and development credit carryforw. 4,17¢ 2,99(
License fee 684 1,292
Compensation expen 2,82¢ 2,71¢
Other 477 53¢
Total deferred tax asse 29,27 23,90¢
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass (29,279) (23,909
Net deferred tax asse $ — 3 =
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Because of our cumulative losses, the deferreddagts have been fully offset by a valuation alloyea We have not paid income taxes for the
three-year period ended December 31, 2011.

I. Profit Sharing Plan and 401(k) Plan

We have a profit sharing and 401(k) plan that ceweibstantially all employees and allows for disorary contributions by us. We began
making employer contributions to this plan in 2@@dwhich the expense was approximately $88,0@0ihl, and zero in 2010 and 2009.

J. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table presents quarterly data forykars ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, in thdasarcept per share data:

2011
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year
Revenue: $ 299 $ 243t $ 2,35¢ $ 2,56 $ 10,34«
Net loss $ (3930 $ (3229 % (234) $ (425 $ (13,749
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ (0.1¢) $ (0.149 $ (0.10 $ (0.1¢) $ (0.59)
2010
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year
Revenue: $ 1,74C % 1,871 $ 1,99 $ 3,332 $ 8,93¢
Net loss $ (256) $ (3,07) % (368) % (205) $ (11,37)
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ (0.19 $ (0.1¢) $ (0.19 $ (0.11) $ (0.60)

Due to the effect of quarterly changes to outstagpndhares of common stock and weightings, the dhosmper share will not necessarily ec
the sum of the respective quarters.

73



Table of Contents

ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and proceduresAn evaluation was carried out under the supervisiot with the participation of our
management, including our principal executive @ffiand our principal financial officer, of the affereness of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period coverediibyahnual report on Form 10-K. Based on that etadn, these officers have concluded that
as of December 31, 2011, our disclosure contradspaiacedures are effective.

Management’s report on internal control over finandal reporting: Management is responsible for establishing and tai@img adequate
internal control over financial reporting, as stetm is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Elntthe supervision and with the
participation of management, including our printipeecutive officer and principal financial officawve conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting based on the framework in Internal Corntrelntegrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread®ommission. Based on this evaluation underrgmaéwork in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework, management concluded thaintennal control over financial reporting was efiee as of December 31, 2011.

Changes in internal control: During the fourth quarter of 2011, there has beeohange in our internal control over financialogmg that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially affect, our internal control over fir@al reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On February 24, 2012, the Board of Directors of@oepany, upon the recommendation of the Compems&dmmittee of the Board of
Directors of the Company, approved a cash bonwenine plan, or the Plan, for the year ended Deegr@h, 2012 for the named executive
officers of the Company. The Plan provides thahgsarticipant is eligible to earn a bonus during élward term of January 1, 2012 through
December 31, 2012. The Plan provides for the fdhowarget bonus percentages of the named exeaufficer’s salary during the award ter
weighted as set forth below on the achievemenpetified corporate goals, with the remainder basethdividual/functional performance. T
corporate goals include advancing the Companyfsaal programs for MultiStem, executing againstékeblished operating plan and capital
acquisition objectives, and advancement of stratpgitnership and program activities. There isarmally adopted plan document for the
Plan.

Weighting on
Target Corporate

Title Bonus Goals

Chief Executive Office 40% 10C%
President & Chief Operating Offic 33% 80%
Executive Vice President & Chief Scientific Offic 33% 80%
Executive Vice President, Regenerative Medi 3% 60%
Vice President of Financ 25% 60%

A summary of the plan is attached to this annuyabreon Form 10-K as Exhibit 10.36 and is herelmpmporated herein by reference thereto.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information regarding Athersys’ directors, imtihg the identification of the audit committee ahd audit committee financial expert, is
incorporated by reference to the information corediin Athersys’ Proxy Statement with respect #2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
or the 2012 Proxy Statement, under the headingsctieh of Directors” and “The Board of Directorsdats Committees”. Information
concerning executive officers is contained in I@&fMof Part | of this annual report on Form 10-K enthe heading “Executive Officers of the
Registrant”.

The information regarding Section 16(a) benefioighership reporting compliance is incorporateddfgmrence to the material under the
heading “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership RepgriCompliance” in the 2012 Proxy Statement.

Athersys has adopted a code of ethics that apipligs principal executive officer, principal finaial officer and principal accounting officer.
Athersys’ code of ethics is posted under the Irorsdiab of its website at www.athersys.com. Athemsill post any amendments to, or waivers
of, its code of ethics that apply to its principakcutive officer, principal financial officer apdincipal accounting officer on its website.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information regarding executive officer ancedior compensation is incorporated by referend¢kednformation contained in the 2012
Proxy Statement under the heading “Executive Corsgigm”.

The compensation committee report is incorporateceference to the information contained in the2Btoxy Statement under the heading
“Compensation Committee Report”.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The information regarding security ownership oftaier beneficial owners and management is incorpdrby reference to the information
contained in the 2012 Proxy Statement under thdihgdBeneficial Ownership of Common Stock”.

The information regarding compensation plans umdech equity securities we authorized for issuaisdacorporated by reference to the
information contained in the 2012 Proxy Statemerteu the heading “Equity Compensation Plan Inforomét

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information regarding certain relationships egldted transactions and director independenicedporated by reference to the
information contained in the 2012 Proxy Statemertau the heading “The Board of Directors and iten@uttees”.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding fees paid to and servicewigexl by our independent registered public accogrfirm during the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the pre-approviaigmbnd procedures of the audit committee isripoated by reference to the
information contained in the 2012 Proxy Statememtan the heading “Ratification of the Appointmehtrdependent Auditors”.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) Financial Statements:

The following consolidated financial statementg\tfersys, Inc. are included in Item 8:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,204 2010

Consolidated Statements of Operations for eacheoféars ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityefch of the years ended December 31, 2011, 2@lLaG0H9
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow for eacheféars ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

All schedules for which provision is made in th@lgable accounting regulation of the SEC are equired under the related instructions or
are not applicable and, therefore, omitted.

(a)(3) Exhibits.

Exhibit No. Exhibit Description

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,amended as of August 31, 2007 (incorporated héneireference to Exhibit
3.1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement om¥S-3/A (Registration No. 333-144433) filed witle Commission on
October 10, 2007

3.2 Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct80e2007 (incorporated herein by reference to BkBili to the registra’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on October 31, 2(

4.1 Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registre’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commissior
No. 001-33876) filed with the Commission on January 28,1(

10.1* Research Collaboration and License Agreement, deged December 8, 2000, by and between Athersgsand Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeeeo Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’'s Current 8&g¢pn Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

10.2* Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, dats of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd.Bristo-Myers
Squibb Company (incorporated herein by referendextabit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207

10.3* Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersgsalmd Bristol-Myers

Squibb Company (incorporated herein by referendextdbit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current Reportfaorm 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207
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Exhibit No.

Exhibit Description

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10t

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14%

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abgt between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (incortgaraerein by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Current RepmrtForm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed wikle tCommission on
June 14, 2007

Sublicense Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2@96and between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (incrafed herein b
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s CntiiReport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108dfiwith the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdatgd as of April 28, 2000, by and among AtherbBys,and the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretoqiporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 ®régistrant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as ofagrz9, 2002, by an
among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholders, thestars, Biotech and the Stockholders (each asetkfinthe Amended and
Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated ai 26 2000, by and among Athersys, Inc. and tbeldolders of Athersys,
Inc. parties thereto) (incorporated herein by mfiee to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s Currenp&¢€on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RegtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of Nier 19, 2002, by
and among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholders|rthestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (eacteéisetl in the Amended
and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, datpal 28, 2000, as amended, by and among Athetsgsand the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretoddipporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.&®registrant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, loyaanong Athersys,
Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (as defineddimr(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibiflto the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Athersys, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensation Plandrporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10d the registrar’'s Current
Report on Form -K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Loan and Security Agreement, and Supplement, degext November 2, 2004, by and among Athersys, Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending & Leasing INC., and Costella Kirsch 1V, L.P. (incorporategtein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Repantform 10-Q (Commission No. 000-52108) filed witle Commission on
November 14, 2007

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemetgddss of October 30, 2007, by and among ABT Haldllompany
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending kedsing IV, Inc., and Costella Kirsch IV, L.P.¢orporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s QerdytReport on Form 10-Q (Commission No. 000-521f0&)l with the
Commission on November 14, 20(

Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dateaf &eptember 29, 2006, by and among Athersys, Adancec
Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending & Leasing INc., and Costella Kirsch 1V, L.P. (incorporategtein by reference to
Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with tBemmission on June
14, 2007,

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 298, by and betwee
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorpawherein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to thestegnt’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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10.15%

10.16%

10.17t

10.18%t

10.19t

10.20t

10.21%t

10.22t

10.23t

10.24%

10.25%

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employiegrgement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betwekmanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Van Bokkelen (incaiqted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to #gistrant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datesbBBecember 1, 1998, by and between Athersysand.Dr. Gil Var
Bokkelen (incorporated herein by reference to EixHiB.16 to the registrant’s Current Report on F&#d (Commission No.
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiascember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 298, by and betwee
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incogted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to thggsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employmegrdement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betwekancec
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and John Harrington (incogped herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to thgsteant’s Current Report ¢
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datsdb&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. John J.
Harrington (incorporated herein by reference toiBixti0.19 to the registrant’'s Current Report omR@-K (Commission No.
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&rix/between Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Camphatiofiporated herei
by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the registrantisr@nt Report on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-5210&d with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherdpgunc. and
Laura Campbell (incorporated herein by referendéxioibit 10.21 to the registrant’s Current Repartrmrm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 26P&nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. astieR Deans, Ph.D.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@%he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@aission No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherpgunc. anc
Robert Deans (incorporated herein by referencextolit 10.26 to the registrant’s Current Reportrmrm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, dateb&October 3, 2003, by and among Athersys, hdvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpdratrein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the regig’s Current Report on
Form ¢-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. aillia¥i Lehmann
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@&he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@aission No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20
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10.26%

10.27t

10.28t

10.29t

10.30

10.31*

10.32*

10.33

10.34

10.35t

10.36%
10.37*

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherpgunc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by referenm&xhibit 10.29 to the registrant’s Current ReportForm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datedfSeptember 10, 2001, by and among Athersys, Aavancec
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incomed herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to thgsteant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancethBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officerd,axknowledged by
Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, LLC (incorporate@ihdrsy reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the registsa@urrent Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by laeilveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and nameduwgive officers
and acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGenedyS,(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit3P0to the registrant’s
Current Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of JU2@08, by and among Athersys, BTHC VI, Inc. and btoes (as defined
therein) (incorporated herein by reference to EixHi0.33 to the registrant’s Current Report on F@&4d (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 10220y and between Regents of the University ofridsota and MCI
LLC, assumed by ReGenesys, LLC through operationerfjer on November 4, 2003 (incorporated hereirefgrence to
Exhibit 10.34 to the registrant’s Current ReportFammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with tBemmission on June
14, 2007,

Strategic Alliance Agreement, by and between Ayeric. and Angiotech, dated as of May 5, 2006d(iporated herein k
reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the registrant’s @atrReport on Form 8-K/A (Commission No. 000-521181 with the
Commission on October 9, 20C

Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaboration and laise Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006, byetneeen Athersys,
Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporatedein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the regisfs Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, Offis and Directors and Officers (incorporated helbpgimeference to Exhib
10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form gakdmmission No. 000-52108) filed with the Comnusson August 6,
2007)

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2011 Cash Bonus IncerRiaa (incorporated herein by reference to ExHibi#1 to the registrargt’
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddmem31, 2010 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed wit Commission
on March 25, 2011

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2012 Cash Bonus IncerRiaa

Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as eeBwer 18, 2009, by and between Athersys, Inc., ABIding Company
and Pfizer (incorporated herein by reference toiliikh0.42 to the registrant’'s Annual Report onfAdt0-K for the year ended
December 31, 2009 (Commission No. -33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

79



Table of Contents

Exhibit No.

Exhibit Description

10.38*

10.39

10.40

10.41*

10.42t

10.43t

10.44t

10.45t

10.46

10.47

10.48

Stand-by License Agreement, dated as of Decemhe2QI®, by and between Regents of the Universitfiohesota, ABT
Holding Company and Pfizer (incorporated hereindfgrence to Exhibit 10.43 to the registrant’s Aalnideport on Form 16 for
the year ended December 31, 2009 (Commission Nk-33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Amendment dated as of March 31, 2009 to the Ext@idlaboration and License Agreement, by and betwi&thersys, Inc. an
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company effective January @Q& (incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiLl10 the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0¢-33876) filed with the Commission on April 9, 20(

Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2010,rayaanong Athersys,
Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (as defineddimr(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit5b to the registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decembe3@9 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed with the Goigsion on March
11, 2010}

License and Technical Assistance Agreement, dated September 10, 2010, between ABT Holding Comizard RTI
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10@.1he registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-@r{tthission No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on November 8, 20

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorpiedaherein by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to thestegn’s Annual Report o
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 (Commid¥imn002-33876) filed with the Commission on March 25, 20

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for I-Employee Directors (incorporated herein by refeeetacExhibit 10.48 t
the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for ylear ended December 31, 2010 (Commission No. @8Y4) filed with the
Commission on March 25, 201

Athersys, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Teaantive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective Jin&011)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10@.tefgistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (ComnuedNo. 001-33876) filed
with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Nemployee Directors pursuant to the Athersys, Aroended and Restated
2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Amended and Restafésttive June 16, 2011) (incorporated hereindfgnence to Exhibit
10.49 to the registra’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on May 6, 20:

Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Naaehih 2011, by and between Athersys, Inc. andragpapital Fund, LL¢
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.1he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cdssion No. 00133876) filec
with the Commission on November 14, 20

Termination Agreement, dated as of November 1112B¢ and between Athersys, Inc. and ABT Holdingrpany (f/k/a
Athersys, Inc.) and Angiotech (incorporated by refiee to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s CurreepBrt on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on November 142X

First Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Agreendated as of November 17, 2011, by and betweenrgyhgelnc. ant
Aspire Capital Fund, LLC (incorporated by referetm&xhibit 10.47 to the registrant’'s Registrat®tatement on Form S-1
(Commission No. 3:-178418) filed with the Commission on December 9, 1)(
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Exhibit No. Exhibit Description
10.49t Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedaherein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the ttegig’s Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on August 10, 20

10.50 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of NoverniheP011, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Apapital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cdssion No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on November 14, 20

211 List of Subsidiarie:

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?ablic Accounting Firn

24.1 Power of Attorne

31.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hkExecutive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rules 13aa)ldfd 15d-14(a)

adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Laura K. Campbell, Vice Presidefit-inance, pursuant to SEC Rules-14(a) and 15-14(a) adopted pursua
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hkxecutive Officer, and Laura Campbell, Vice Rtest of Finance
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted putdaa@ection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Documh
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

* Confidential treatment requested as to certainigust which portions have been filed separatelywie SEC

T Indicates management contract or compensatory ptariract or arrangement in which one or more tiimsoor executive officers of tt
registrant may be participar
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduolp authorized, in the city of Cleveland, Stateéddfio, on March 27, 2012.

ATHERSYS, INC.

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Gil Van Bokkelen
Title: Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of 1
registrant and in the capacities and on the dalieated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Gil Van Bokkeler Chief Executive Officer an
Gil Van Bokkeler Chairman of the Board of Directors (Princi

Executive Officer March 27 , 201:
/sl Laura K. Campbe Vice President of Financ
Laura K. Campbell (Principal Financial Officer

and Principal Accounting Office March 27, 201:
* Executive Vice Presider
John J. Harringto Chief Scientific Officer and Directc March 27, 201:
*
Lorin J. Randal Director March 27, 201:
*
George M. Milne, Jr Director March 27, 201:
*
Jack L. Wyszomiersk Director March 27, 201:
*
Lee Babis: Director March 27, 201:
*
Ismail Kola Director March 27, 201:

* Gil Van Bokkelen, by signing his name hereto, doeeby sign this Form -K on behalf of each of the above hamed and degd
directors of the Company pursuant to Powers ofrAttg executed by such persons and filed with trei®ées and Exchange
Commission

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Gil Van Bokkelen
Attorney-in-fact
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.

Exhibit Description

3.1

3.2

4.1

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,a®sended as of August 31, 2007 (incorporated héneieference to Exhibit 3.1
to the registrant’s Registration Statement on F8fBIA (Registration No. 33344433) filed with the Commission on October
2007)

Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct80e2007 (incorporated herein by reference to EkBili to the registra’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on October 31, 2(

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcEsthibit 4.1 to the registre’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission Nc
001-33876) filed with the Commission on January 28,1)(

Research Collaboration and License Agreement, deted December 8, 2000, by and between Atheragsahd Bristol-Myers
Squibb Company (incorporated herein by referendextdbit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, date of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd. Bristo-Myers
Squibb Company (incorporated herein by referendextbit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Reportfamrm 8K/A (Commissior
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207}

Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersgsalmd Bristol-Myers
Squibb Company (incorporated herein by referendextubit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current Reportramrm 8K/A (Commissior
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207}

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abgt between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (incorgatraerein by referenc
to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Current RepmrtForm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed wittetCommission on June
14, 2007,

Sublicense Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2@96nd between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (inctafed herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s CotiiReport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-5210&dfiwith the Commission
on June 14, 200

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdatgd as of April 28, 2000, by and among Atherbys,and the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretodiporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 ®régistrant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as ofalgn29, 2002, by and
among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholders, thestars, Biotech and the Stockholders (each asetkfinthe Amended and
Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated ai 26 2000, by and among Athersys, Inc. and tbeldolders of Athersys,
Inc. parties thereto) (incorporated herein by exfiee to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s Currenp&&on Form & (Commissior
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RegtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of Nier 19, 2002, by
and among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholders|rthestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (eacteéisetl in the Amended
and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, datepal 28, 2000, as amended, by and among Athetsgsand the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretoddipporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.&registrant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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10.9

10.10t

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14%

10.15t

10.16%

10.17t

10.18%t

10.19t

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, loyaanong Athersys,
Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (as defineddim@r(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibiflto the registrant’s
Current Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Athersys, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensation Plandrporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10d the registrar’'s Current
Report on Form -K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Loan and Security Agreement, and Supplement, degtexf November 2, 2004, by and among Athersys, Advancec
Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending & Leasing INc., and Costella Kirsch 1V, L.P. (incorporategtein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Repantorm 10-Q (Commission No. 000-52108) filed witle Commission on
November 14, 2007

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemetgddss of October 30, 2007, by and among ABT Haldllompany
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending kedsing IV, Inc., and Costella Kirsch IV, L.P.¢orporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s QerdytReport on Form 10-Q (Commission No. 000-521f0&)l with the
Commission on November 14, 20(

Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dateaf &eptember 29, 2006, by and among Athersys, Adancec
Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending & Leasing INc., and Costella Kirsch 1V, L.P. (incorporategtein by reference to
Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with tBemmission on June
14, 2007,

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 298, by and betwee
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorp@wherein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to thestegnt’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employiegrdgement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betwekmanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Van Bokkelen (incaigted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to #gistrant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datesbBBecember 1, 1998, by and between Athersysand.Dr. Gil Var
Bokkelen (incorporated herein by reference to EixHiB.16 to the registrant’s Current Report on F&#d (Commission No.
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 29&, by and betwee
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incogted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to thggsteant’s Current Report on
Form ¢-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employmegrdement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betwekancec
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and John Harrington (incogped herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to thgsteant’s Current Report ¢
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datsdb&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. John J.
Harrington (incorporated herein by reference toiBixti0.19 to the registrant’'s Current Report om@-K (Commission No.
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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10.20t

10.21¢t

10.22t

10.23t

10.24t

10.25t

10.26%

10.27t

10.28t

10.29%

10.30

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&rxbetween Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Camphatiofiporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the registrantisr@nt Report on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521f0&d with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherpgunc. anc
Laura Campbell (incorporated herein by referendgxioibit 10.21 to the registrant’'s Current Repartrmrm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 200and between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. astteR Deans, Ph.D.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@aission No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherpgunc. anc
Robert Deans (incorporated herein by referencextolit 10.26 to the registrant’s Current Reportrmrm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, dats&October 3, 2003, by and among Athersys, kdvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpdratrein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the reegig’s Current Report on
Form ¢-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. ailliawd Lehmann
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@&he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@aission No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherdpgunc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by referene&xhibit 10.29 to the registrant’s Current ReportForm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datsb&September 10, 2001, by and among Athersys, Adlvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incomaed herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to thygsteant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancedhBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officerd,axknowledged b
Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, LLC (incorporate@ihdyy reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the registsa@urrent Report on
Form ¢-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by laeidlveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and namedwive officers,
and acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGenedys,(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit3P0to the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of J@08, by and among Athersys, BTHC VI, Inc. and btues (as define
therein) (incorporated herein by reference to EixHiB.33 to the registrant’s Current Report on F&# (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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Exhibit No.

Exhibit Description

10.31*

10.32*

10.33

10.34

10.35t

10.36%
10.37*

10.38*

10.39

10.40

10.41*

10.42t

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 10220y and between Regents of the University ofridBota and MCL
LLC, assumed by ReGenesys, LLC through operatianefyer on November 4, 2003 (incorporated hereirefgrence to
Exhibit 10.34 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with tBemmission on
June 14, 2007

Strategic Alliance Agreement, by and between Ayeriic. and Angiotech, dated as of May 5, 2006diporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the registrant’s @atrReport on Form 8-K/A (Commission No. 000-521f8y with the
Commission on October 9, 20C

Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaboration and lrise Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006, bypetnkeen Athersy:
Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporatedein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the regisfs Current Report on
Form ¢-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, Offis and Directors and Officers (incorporated hebgineference to Exhibit
10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form gadémmission No. 000-52108) filed with the Comnsson August 6,
2007)

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2011 Cash Bonus IncerRie® (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBi#t1 to the registra’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddmem31, 2010 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed wit Commission
on March 25, 2011

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2012 Cash Bonus IncerRiaa

Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as aEBer 18, 2009, by and between Athersys, Inc., ABIding Company,
and Pfizer (incorporated herein by reference toiltikh0.42 to the registrant’s Annual Report oniiRdt0-K for the year ended
December 31, 2009 (Commission No. -33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Stanc-by License Agreement, dated as of December 18,,2808nd between Regents of the University of Mguta, ABT
Holding Company and Pfizer (incorporated hereindfgrence to Exhibit 10.43 to the registrant’s AalnReport on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2009 (CommissiarOBNi-33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Amendment dated as of March 31, 2009 to the Exti@t#laboration and License Agreement, by and betw&thersys, Inc.
and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company effective Janugrg006 (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBil to the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on April 9, 20(

Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2010,ralyaanong Athersy
Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (as defineddim@r(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi45 to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddwmem31, 2009 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed with Commission
on March 11, 201C

License and Technical Assistance Agreement, dated September 10, 2010, between ABT Holding Comizard RTI
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1he registrant’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-@r{thission No. 001-
33876) filed with the Commission on November 8,2

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorgiedaherein by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to théstegnt’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2CHnmission No. 001-33876) filed with the CommisstonMarch 25,
2011)
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Exhibit No. Exhibit Description

10.43t Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for NEmployee Directors (incorporated herein by refeesto Exhibit 10.48 to
the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for ytlear ended December 31, 2010 (Commission No. @86 filed with the
Commission on March 25, 201

10.44% Athersys, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 I-Term Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effectives 16, 2011
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10@.tefgistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (ComnurdNo. 001-33876) filed
with the Commission on June 20, 2(

10.45t Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for NEmployee Directors pursuant to the Athersys, Inteaded and Restat
2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Amended and Restaftattive June 16, 2011) (incorporated hereindfgnence to Exhibit
10.49 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on FAGvQ (Commission No. 001-33876) filed with the Coission on May 6,
2011)

10.46 Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Naarehih 2011, by and between Athersys, Inc. andragpapital Fund,
LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit1lt the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8a¢fhmission No. 001-
33876) filed with the Commission on November 141 X

10.47 Termination Agreement, dated as of November 11128¢% and between Athersys, Inc. and ABT Holdingrpany (f/k/a
Athersys, Inc.) and Angiotech (incorporated by refiee to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s CurreepBrt on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on November 141 X

10.48 First Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Agreendered as of November 17, 2011, by and betweenréthelnc. and
Aspire Capital Fund, LLC (incorporated by referetm&xhibit 10.47 to the registrant’s Registratitatement on Form S-1
(Commission No. 3:-178418) filed with the Commission on December 9,19(

10.49% Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedaherein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the ttege’s Quarterly Report o
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on August 10, 20

10.50 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of NovenibeP011, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Apagital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.2he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cassion No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on November 14, 20

211 List of Subsidiarie:

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registdtablic Accounting Firn

24.1 Power of Attorney

31.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hkExecutive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rules-14(a) and 15-14(a)
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Laura K. Campbell, Vice Presideft-inance, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a-14(a) andl#%al) adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hkxecutive Officer, and Laura Campbell, Vice Rtest of Finance,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted putdaa@ection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

* Confidential treatment requested as to certainigust which portions have been filed separatelywie SEC

1) Indicates management contract or compensatory ptatract or arrangement in which one or moreatiars or executive officers of the
registrant may be participar
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EXHIBIT 10.36

SUMMARY OF ATHERSYS, INC.
2012 CASH BONUS INCENTIVE PLAN

On February 27, 2012, the Board of Directors ofekdlys, Inc. (the “Company”), upon the recommendatibthe Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors of the Company, approvedshdonus incentive plan (the “Plan”) for the yeraded December 31, 2012 for the named
executive officers of the Company. The Plan progitteat each participant is eligible to earn a baturing the award term of January 1, 2012
through December 31, 2012. The Plan provides ®fdlowing target bonus percentages of the namedwdive officer’s salary during the
award term, weighted as set forth below on theeagment of specified corporate goals, with the iade based on individual/functional
performance. The corporate goals include advarttiegcompany’s clinical programs for MultiStem, extéeg against the established
operating plan and capital acquisition objectis®] advancement of strategic partnership and progddivities. There is no formally adopted
plan document for the Plan.

Weighting on
Target Corporate
Title Bonus Goals
Chief Executive Office 40% 10C%
President & Chief Operating Offic 33% 80%
Executive Vice President & Chief Scientific Offic 33% 80%
Executive Vice President, Regenerative Medi 3% 60%

Vice President of Financ 25% 60%



SUBSIDIARIES OF ATHERSYS, INC.

Name of Subsidiary

ABT Holding Company (formerly Athersys, Inc

(€3]

Advanced Biotherapeutics, In

Athersys Limitec

ReGenesys LL(

ReGenesys BVB/

Oculus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (50% owners®

Liquidation of Oculus approved by its stockholderdanuary 2012. Asset distribution was insignifitc.

EXHIBIT 21.1

Jurisdiction

Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
Delaware
Belgium
Delaware



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ifoHewing Registration Statements:

1)
(2)
3)

(4)

(5)

Registration Statement (Forn-8, No. 33-175023) dated June 20, 2011 pertaining to the Ajfseinc. Lon-Term Incentive Plar
Registration Statement (Forn-3, No. 33-164336) dated January 14, 20

Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-1478Aated November 14, 2007 pertaining to the Aferc. Equity Incentive
Compensation Plal

Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-10]8&ted November 14, 2007 pertaining to the Aygeriic. Long-Term Incentive
Plan, anc

Registration Statement (Forn-3/A, No. 33:-144433) dated October 10, 20(

of our report dated March 27, 2012, with respe¢h&oconsolidated financial statements of Atherbys, included in this Annual Report
(Form 10-K) of Athersys, Inc. for the year endecc®mber 31, 2011.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 27, 2012



EXHIBIT 24.1
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of thedensigned officers and directors of Athersys, lad)elaware corporation,
hereby constitutes and appoints of Gil Van BokkeWiiliam Lehmann, Jr., and Laura K. Campbell, @&aah of them, as his true and lawful
attorney or attorneys-ifact, with full power of substitution and revocatjdor each of the undersigned and in the namegplknd stead of ea
of the undersigned, to sign on behalf of each efuthdersigned an Annual Report on Form 10-K forfigwml year ended December 31, 2011
pursuant to Section 13 of the Securities ExchanggeoA1934 and to sign any and all amendments¢b sunnual Report, and to file the same,
with all exhibits thereto, and other documentsanrection therewith including, without limitatioa,Form 12b-25 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting to said attorneyttorreeys-in-fact, and each of them, full power amthority to do so and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary tmhe th and about the premises, as fully to allntd@nd purposes as the undersigned might or
could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirmaigthat said attorney or attorneys-in-fact or afithem or their substitute or substitutes may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

This power of attorney may be executed in multg@eanterparts, each of which shall be deemed amatig/ith respect to the person
executing it.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereuetoheir hands as of the 13th day of March 2012.

Signature Title

/s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Gil Van Bokkeler Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Boafdoectors

/s/ Laura K. Campbe
Laura K. Campbel Vice President of Financ

/s/ John J. Harringto
John J. Harringto Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific Offiaard Directol

/s/ Lorin J. Randal
Lorin J. Randal Director

/sl Jack L. Wyszomiersl|
Jack L. Wyszomiersk Director

/s! George M. Milne, Ji
George M. Milne, Jr Director

/s/ Ismail Kola
Ismail Kola Director

/s/ Lee Babis:
Lee Babiss Director




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Gil Van Bokkelen, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forn-K of Athersys, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgittde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operet and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) ainare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduies tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, paftidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentiusi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougrehis report based on
such evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any change in the regi’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during tht
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@yspersons performing the equivalent

functions):

(@)

(b)

March 27, 2012

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectribgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaad report financial
information; anc

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmmagement or other employees who have a significdain the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen

Gil Van Bokkelen
Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors



EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Laura K. Campbell, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forn-K of Athersys, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgittde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operet and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) ainare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduies tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, paftidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentiusi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougrehis report based on
such evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any change in the regi’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during tht
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@yspersons performing the equivalent

functions):

(@)

(b)

March 27, 2012

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectribgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaad report financial
information; anc

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmmagement or other employees who have a significdain the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

/s/ Laura K. Campbell

Laura K. Campbell
Vice President of Finance



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Athersys;.I(the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year en@etember 31, 2011, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dat@h@he “Report”), each of the undersigned officefshe Company certifies, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant tadBe2®6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thasuoh officer’'s knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exguléasthe Repor

Date: March 27, 2012

s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Name: Gil Van Bokkelel
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

/sl Laura K. Campbell
Name: Laura K. Campbe
Title: Vice President of Financ

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is notghled as part of the Report or as a
separate disclosure docume



